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BBC Worldwide is a fast-growing media and entertainment company.
Owned by the BBC, our mission is to maximise profits on behalf of the
BBC by investing in great brands and content, and exploiting them
around the world.
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BBC Worldwide at a glance

Operating business

Description

Headline sales*

Headline profit/{loss)*

Offers a globa! showcase for the best of British television via 2
Channels portfolio of 31 international, BBC-branded TV channels, and 10 £31 2 . om £40 1 m
further channels are operated through a joint venture with "
V:l;glnfMengac—vldKJ;/NAlso manages advertising and affilate +18 8% +2 3%
sales for ond News £262 6m 2009/10 £39 2m 2009/10
Prowides TV producers with investment and expertise in return
Conte nt_& for nghts Also develops its own TV formats and runs a global £1 02 . 8 m £7 . 9 m
Production network of production studios
+9 1% -55.1%
£94 2m 2009/10 £17 6m 2009/10
Dig ital Compnises BBC com and the investments we have made into
. two start-up digital businesses — the global BBC IPlayer and a £27 1 m £(6 8 ) m
Entertainment  Games unt ° -
+86 9% +60.0%
£14 5m 2009/10 £(17 0)m 2009/10
Digital activities are also embedded in other businesses and,
on a memorandum basis, the total revenue from digital £81 gm
(predomunantly online and mobile) was +31 5%
£62 3m 2009/10
Bran dS, Maximises the vatue of our major brands, including Top Gear

Consumers &
New Ventures

and Doctor Who, across all of BBC Worldwade's businesses
Manages Lonely Planet, Live Events, hicensed products and
book pubhishing partnerships

£86.0m

+4 2%

£82 5m 2009/10

Memo reporting for all of BBC Worldwide's key brands’

£308.1m
+12 6%

£273 Trm 2009/10

£(10.3)m

14 4%

£(9 0)m 200910

Sales &
Distribution

Sells TV programmes to customers around the world on behalf
of nghts owners the BBC and independent production
companies BBC Worldwde i1s the largest distnbutor of fimished
TV programmes outside the major US studios

£230.5m

+3 3%

£223 2m 2008/10

£58.8m

+14.0%

£51 6m 200910

Consumer
Products

Creates products that complement programming and expand
consumers’ enjoyment of media brands It compnses 2
entertain (our global DVD and dewnload-to own business),
music hcensing and publishing

£234.8m

+12%

£232 1m 2005/10

£48.9m

+13 7%

£43 0m 2008/10

Magazines

Extends viewers’ enjoyment of BBC programming i the UK
through a portfolio of high-quality consumer magazines and
exhibitions Through 56 international hcences, joint ventures n
Austraha and India, and extensive content syndication, readers
around the world can also access Magazines’ content The
majonty of this business has been held for sale dunng the
year

£164.5m

-0 4%

£165 1m 2009110

£21.6m

+9 1%

£19 8m 2009/10

* Percentages refer to year-on-year change

! Memo reporting inciudas brands such as Top Gear Dancing with the Stars and BBC Earth See page 13
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Chairman’s statement

BBC Worldwide 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of the BBC With headline sales of well over £1billion in 2010711, it returned over £180m to its parent body,
assisting the BBC in meeting the tighter financial settlement recently agreed with Her Majesty’s Government for the remaining Charter penod BBC
Worldwide especially promotes the BBC's fifth public purpose, which 1s to bring the UK to the world and the world to the UK

As well as supporting the BBC itself, BBC Worldwide operates as one of the engines of the whole UK creative economy Programmes and formats
produced, not only by the BBC itself but also by more than 300 UK independent producers, were distnbuted by BBC Worldwide in 2010/11 By way of
example, more than 540 buyers attended BBC Showcase, our international sales faw, in Bnghton in 2011 Even more are expected in 2012 when the

event shifts north to Liverpool, helping to make BBC Worldwide the largest programme distnbutor in the world outside the mighty US majors, wath whom,

of course, we compete n the marketplace

The BBC Worldwide strategy was approved by the BBC Executive Board in February 2011 and subsequently by the BBC Trust It will see BBC
Worldwide increasing its international actmty {especially 1n the USA and in Austraha), making more content and increasing the penetration of our
channels around the world At the same tme it 1s intended to develop the digital aspect of the business to a target of 10% of sales by 2012 This target
seems achievable including, as 1t does, new Games and apps businesses and piloting the global BBC i1Player

These strategic objectives will continue to be pursued according tc the hughest standards of corporate governance All the activities of BEC Worldwde
wll, as they must, comply with the specific Four Commercial Criterta governing our operations that s, they must fit and be consistent with the BBC's
public purposes, be commercially efficient, not harm the BBC brand, and, of course, comply with the extensve lefter and spint of the rutes on Farr
Trading, as well as with the law of every land where we broadcast or distnbute

BBC Worldwide operates without any subsidy from the BBC So should it, but nonetheless we stnve to, and succeed in, being imbued wath the same
value sense as that of our public service and UK-based parent

In the past year we have appointed Charlotte Hogg and Tim Weller to the Board as Non-executive Directors and sand fareweli to Sharon Baylay, Simon
CIft and Thomas Gertner who leave with our sincere thanks for ther service

Our Chief Finanaial Officer, Nell Chugani, resigned on 17 June 2010 His successor, Phiip Vincent, was appointed on 1 Decemnber 2010 We are
grateful for the contribution Neil made and welcome Philip whose pnor expenence in a number of our businesses wll be valuable

The final element of thus introduction s to thank our customers for their loyalty, our staff for their hard work and resilience, and our parent, for tts patient
understanding of and confidence in us

BBC Worldwide 1s a company of which the BBC and its staff are immensely proud We hope to build on our current success in the year to come

Robert Webb QC
Chairman, BBC Worldwide
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Chief Executive’s review

It has been quite a year for our industry We are seeing an explosion of apps, the nse of social gaming and a new generation of tablets and e-readers
Advertising returned to growth in many markets, and pay-TV is generally in excellent health Challenges exist too — not least the nsks to economic
growth in the major westemn economies and the gradual downward trend in physical media products in developed markets

Agamnst this backdrop, BBC Worldwide achieved another record performance

« Headline sales were up 7 8% to a record £1157 7m (£1074 2m 2009/10), and headhne profit saw double-digit growth — up 10 3% to £160 2m
(£145 2m 2009/10) — evidence that our growth strategy remains nght for the times

« Headline operating margin increased to 13 8% (13 5% 2008/10), despite continumng investment in new businesses, owing to the continued success
of established high-margin businesses and newer ventures moving towards profitability

« Profit before tax, inclusive of the results of discontinued operations, grew 59 2% to £201 2m, including the gain on disposal from investments in
Animal Planet and People&Arts

« Total returns to the BBC, our parent and scle shareholder, increased by 8 6% to £181 9m (£167 5m 2009/10), supporting its development of world-
class content This includes dividends of £76 4m in relation to 2010/11 performance and investments in BBC-commissioned programming of £78 Sm

Progress agamst our five strategic objectives s laud out In detail from pages 5 to 9, and the performance of each business from page 12 to 14
Investment in creativity

Our investment in great content continued In addition to the direct investments we made in programming commissioned by the BBC and other UK
broadcasters, we also commissioned twice as much programming for our intermational channels and made local versions of our formats for customers
These included Dancing with the Stars (the international version of Stnctly Come Dancing) in France for the first ime, for TF1, and Top Gear for
HISTORY™ in the USA Both have already been recommissioned

Several of the UK independents in which we have stakes garnered awards, such as Best Independent Production Company for Left Bank Pictures at the
Broadcast Awards 2011, and new commussions in the year included senes two of Rev (Big Talk Produchons) and Stephen Fry's Planet Word (Sprout
Pictures)

Exports

| am particularly proud of our role in taking so much UK content to the world via our sales and distnbution network, our portfolio of BBC-branded
channels and our websites In this respect we are uniquely placed to help our sectors of the UK creative industnes to expand through exports

In 2010/11 our international sales increased by 9 6% to £642 9m (£586 8m 2009/10) Thus figure represents 55 5% of headline sales, marginally ahead
of 54 6% last year While sales growth outside the UK has been strong, so too has UK performance, so we expect it to take us an extra year (to 2013) to
hit our target of two-thirds

In 2010/11 we sold around 74,000 hours of high-quality UK prograrmming to over 690 customers from the USA to Indonhesia

Digtal sates, predominantly online and mobile, increased to 8 1% of net sales' (7 0% 2009/10), on course toward our target of 10% by 2012 Impartial
news and information was distnbuted to a monthly average of 58m users by BBC com The monthly average user base for all our websites 1s now 68m

What's more, our expertise in further extending enjoyment of content by developing apps, merchandise, games, DVDs, publications and live events
continued apace Downloads of our apps In the year were over 12m, we have 11 8m fans of our Top Gear and Deoctor Who pages on Facebook, and we
have a number of digital games titles 1n the market

People and Values

| have noted how proud we are of the role we play in buillding the BBC’s reputation around the world and taking UK media brands and content to every
habitable continent The responsibility that comes with that role 1s something those who work for the company take very senously, whether based in the
UK or In cur many intemational offices

Our Values (see p17) are what differentate BBC Worldwide in the marketplace They reflect the qualities that all cur customers have come 1o expect
from us To that end we have taken steps in the past year to embed these Values more formally into our people processes and systems in order to
ensure they remain at the heart of our business We have also completed a substantial programme of staff traiming, including relevant peopie from our
joint ventures and partnerships, in all aspects of our editonal policies and commercial practices

The Values also underpin the way we work with suppliers and manage sustainabiity Products heensed or comrussioned by BBC Worldwide are
produced all around the world, and our ethical sourcing team operates an exacting programme to check conditiens at manufacturing sites

Our headquarters in London, New York and Sydney are environmentally efficient and, supported by our ISO 14001 environment management system
We are continually looking at ways to further reduce the impact of our operations Our long-term commitment to sustainable paper for our publishing
businesses was recognised this year with an FSC Global Partner award Rapid international expansion means that we will need to work hard to control
our travel footpnnt

Despite the high-pressure environment in which we work, staff still take time to volunteer i the local community, and | have been personally detighted to
see our fledgling, London-based staff choir develop over the year, both in repertoire and outreach

This year we have laid out all our work across these areas in a Corporate Responsibility report on pages 17 to 20 | hope you will read it and contact me
should you have any questions or feedback for us As ever, ! would like to offer my heartfelt thanks to all the people in our own operations and joint
ventures, and to those who produce the excellent and inspiring content we market, for ther outstanding efforts

Future plans

Our vision I1s 1o be a leading global entertainment company, rooted in BBC Values, offering word-class content that resonates with local audiences Our
growth strategy 15 designed to deliver that vision by building on the assets that set us apart - the BBC brand and our portfolio of distinctive high-quality
consumer brands and content In the year ahead, we will continue to invest in these and in the infrastructure via which to explait them

John Smith
Chief Executive, BBC Worldwide

! Net salas refers to headine sales excluding the Group s share of revenue from joint ventures Pror year figures have been restated to conform fo currant year basis
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Our strategic objectives

1 Drive digital growth

We have now embedded digital capability within every area of our business

Our objective is to drive enline and mobile growth across all opportunities — websites, content syndication, moblile, apps and games -
responding to consumer and customer needs as they develop At the same time, we are reducing our reliance on physical products

Our target is to increase the percentage of our sales derived from digital to 10% by 2012 In 2010/11 we achieved 8 1%

The target we set in 2006/07 of generating 10% of our sales from digital activity by 2012 seemed challenging at the time, but progress since then has
been good and we are on track to reach our goal next year

In order to reduce our reliance on physical products, we sold a majonty stake in our audiobooks husiness in July 2010, and are currently in exclusive
discussions regarding a possible partnership to help develop our well established magazines business towards a digital future

Onling

BBC com is our flagship property online This website offers BBC news and lifestyle content in an advertising-supported environment for international
audrences and helps extend the reach of the BBC brand around the world Our objective in 2010/11 was to bulld advertising revenue, aided by the
intreduction of localsed editions to increase relevance to wvisitors A US edition was Introduced during the year, contributing to BBC com revenues
increasing 113% Close to year end, an Asian business edition was launched and we will continue to invest in further localisation in the year ahead We
also introduced a travel section, produced in conjunction with Lonely Planet, and will look to ennich the site wath other specralist content

The nse of social media 1s also firmly on our radar It has already provided an interesting opportunity for us to manage fans’ interaction wath the Top
Gear brand on Facebook and to dnve traffic to our own website topgear com and we are applying our learning from this mitiative to other brands in our
portfolio

Digital programme syndication

Ancther major area of our digital activity I1s lcensing TV programmes to third parties that offer download-to-own and download-to-rent services The
former allows the consumer to keep a programme In perpetuity, the latter offers the opporturity to view 1t once or only within a finite time penod |

Given the steady increase in online TV viewing worldwide (Market Context page 10), this business 1s In very good health Our strategy has been to work |
with a wide range of players on non-exclusive terms in order to test the market and grow our understanding of consumer preferences We believe this
remains the best approach given the wealth of new serices and dewices that are continually being launched We wili start pdoting our own global BBC
IPlayer service in summer 2011

Digital sales of programmes wvia our online shop bbeshep com and third-party download sites grew by 45 7% year on year Download-to-own sales are
managed atongside our DVD busminess within 2 entertamn in order to coordinate product releases effectively across all fomats 2 entertan has also
started releasing titles i hybnd formats (a digital copy packaged with DVD and/or Blu-ray disc) which has helped maintain sales in the mature DVD
marketplace

Apps

BEC Worldwide has alsc played its part in the rapid emergence of apps available for smartphones and tablets During the year total downloads
exceeded the 12m mark, of which Sm were Lonely Planet travel apps for smartphones and Apple IPads Other ttles we offer include the BBC
international news app, The Mazes of Time (Doctor Who game) and vanous recipes apps from Good Food Magazine

Games

We have set up a Games Unit based in Los Angeles and London to address a growing digital opporturity  Fuelled by new technologies such as
Microsoft’s Kinect for Xbox 360 and powered by the nise of social and mobile platforms, the market size for games 1 now over $60bn worldwide (DFC
Inteiligence)

The team 15 developing games linked to our major brands across all major platforms including Sony, Microsoft and Nintendo consoles, mobile and tablet
devices, and Facebook Some key inihatives include a massively multiplayer online Doctor Who game, a partnership between Top Gear and Forza, and
Facebook games in development Consumer interest in BBC games worldwide has been strong — so far in 2011 over 250,000 BEC-branded games
have been sold on Apple devices alone

Next steps

¢ Invest n BBC com, particularly by localising the service for selected markets, further expanding our content offenng nto factual and Ifestyle, and
building our user base via more marketing activity

Continue to expand TV distnbution across all digital platforms, including piloting a globat BBC Player

Develop a btgger games portfolio and more mobile services and apps

Enhance our e-commerce capabilities

Manage a gradual transition from physical preducts to digital
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Our strategic objectives (continued)

2. Become more international

In order to ensure long-term growth, especially in the online age where borders are increasingly irrelevant, we need to develop the business
internationally We have initrally focused on the English-speaking markets of the USA and Australia, while also developing strategies for
other key regions Understanding consumer demand region by region, providing localised content and rolling out engaging and relevant
BBC-branded television and online channels are important facets of our approach

Our 21m 15 to Increase the share of headline sales derived from outside the UK to two thirds of the total by 2012 In 2010/11 wo achieved
55 5% (54 6% 2009/10) Given strong growth in the UK too {(up 5 6%), wa expect to take a further year to reach this target.

As noted n last year's Review, focusing on building the scale of all of our business areas In a single key market, as we have done singe 2007 in
Austraha, has been a highly effective tactic in growang intemational revenue Sales and profitin thus temtory continued to improve in 2010/11 In 2010411
we turned our attentions firmly to the USA, the world’s largest media market

We also took the d;c«snon n the year to evolve the onentation of the company gradually to one that is focused on five geggraphic regions outside the UK

Each region 1s being overseen by one of our Executive team Marcus Arthur for Australas:a, Steve Macallister for Asia, Paul Dempsey for EMEA, Jana
Bennett for Latin America and Herb Scannell for North America

We are also In the process of appointing Executive Vice Presidents for each These new roles are designed to maximise revenue growth across all
divisions i each region and to look for many new business development opportunities

TV distribution

At the heart of our internationat expansion 1s our well established TV programme and format sales operation We have sales offices in most major
markets and stage the world's only TV sales fair to be hosted by a single distnbutor -~ BBC Showcase

Qur customer base has expanded alcngside the growth in beth digital and pay-TV seclors, and we are assiduous in following up the nght opportunities
to get our content seen in every market, looking for clients with whom we can build a long-term relationship wherever pessible In addition our sales
teams have been highly successful in using fronthist titles to broaden interest in related areas of gur back catalogue

Formats

One challenge that exercises every TV distnbutor is finding new hit formats for the international market Our jewel In the crown, Dancing with the Stars,
continues to perform very well It was licensed to four new markets in 2010/11 - Armenia, South Korea, Indonesia and Vietnam — affirning its position
as the world's most successful reality TV format in the Guinness Book of Records

We are also working on other unscnpted formats including Junior Doctors, and we have 19 scnpted formats (drama and situaton comedy) in
development

Publishing

Across our publishing businesses we have continued to fallor products for local markets Lonely Planet advanced plans to expand its offenng in
languages other than English releasing the first of its locally produced Chinese-language guides in China’s provinces in May 2010 The team plans to
establish operations in India over the next 12 months to develop pnint and digital products for Indian travellers and has given Globo Livros the exclusive
nght in Brazil to publish Lonely Planet guides in Portuguese

Magazines now has 56 licences for international editions of its titles in place across 60 temiones, as well as joint-venture businesses in India and
Australia Lonely Planet magazine has been a particular success with eight intemational editions 1n pnnt at year end and two more due to launch in 2011

BBC-branded platforms
Our other major vehicles for international expansion are our Channels business and B8C com (page 12)
Noxt steps

. Focus strongly on growing our market share in the USA and Australia
- Dnve sales and new business, on a regional basis, in all other overseas markets, developing specific business plans for each region
. Grow international sales across every operating business
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Our strategic objectives (continued)

3. Grow the scale of our TV channels

Our TV channels provide high-profile platforms around the world for UK-produced content in a BBC-branded environment. They enable us to
showcase a broader range of programmaes than we can through third parties alone and to build a direct relationship with local audiences

The global BBC iPlayer — an online TV service instially to be launched as an iPad app — has the potential to do the same via the web, and a
pilot will start in summer 2011 By building our Channels business, we can raise awareness of the BBC and what it has to offer, and create a
substantlal source of value, both financial and cultural, for the future

Qver the past four years BBC Worldwide has been building a wholly owned and operated intemational TV channel business that carnes extensive BBC
branding This has been a fast-growing area of operation and now delivers the tighest sales of any of our businesses The strategy mnvolved exiting a
number of existing joint venture agreements for international channels, in order to focus on our own portfolio, and we largely completed this 1n 2010711
when we sold our stake in Animal Planet and People&Arts to our partner Discovery Commurucations Inc We are focusing in particular on BBC Amenca
as a springboard for expanding in the US market

New sorvices

We launched nine channels in the year This included CBeebies in South Korea, BBC Knowledge in Italy, a dedicated feed for BBC Entertainment in
India, and BBC HD n a number of markets In New Zealand the Documentary Channe! was relaunched as BBC Knowledge in March 2011 We also
launched two new branded blocks — BBC HD on SKY Brasil and CBeebies cn BBC Entertainment Europe

Platform operators increasingly want us to manage wideo-on-demand (VOD) services atongside our inear channels as this 1s believed to reduce churn,
a development we welcome BBC Amenca, for example, now manages ts VOD service on Comceast

Local relevance and impact

We have worked hard to make our channels relevant tn their individual markets through appropriate scheduling dubbing and subtitles, and building the
profile of talent locally in order to connect wath audiences We will do even more to adapt our international channels to suit local tastes n 2011/12 with
more dubbing 1n local languages and locally made commissions Al year end we had 343m subscnber homes in over 100 countnes including BEC
World News, UKTV in the UK, and the relay of BBC public-service channels

We plan to builld our international subscnber base by marketing key shows as “TV events”, using onhine toels such as social media and onscreen talent
to achieve maximum impact Qur creation of special programme schedules around the theme of Royal Weddings to celebrate the mamage of HRH
Prince William and Catherine Middleton in Apnl 2011 1s one example of this approach

UK

in the UK, our joint venture wath Virgin Media UKTV, now has a 5 0% share of the pay-TV market It achieved its third consecutive year of growth In
July 20101t awarded Channel 4 Sales a 10-year deal to represent s adverising sales across its fult portfollo of services, beginning in January 2011
Overall ad sates were up 15 6% year on year

Next steps

. Continue to invest in our international portfolio of channels to build scale, driving subscnber numbers and average revenue per user
. Launch new channels in selected markets, including HC and VOD services
+  Pilot the global BBC Player in selected markets
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Our strategic objectives (continued)

4 Increase Investment In new content

At our company’s core is the mission to deliver high-quality distinctive content to audiences around the world Promoting tha creation of |
such content is therefore of prime importance to us Given the needs of the different markets we serve, we are increasingly focused on !
providing bespoke local programming, as well as the best that the UK production communuty has to offer Investing in brifliant on- and off- .
screen talent also provides an opportunity to create new British content for export.

We support the creation of new content by

Investing in productions commissioned in the UK market, both BEC- and indle-made

Taking munerity stakes in independents

Striking long-term talent deals to create new intellectual property

Producing verslons of our own formats for foreign broadcasters, which we then distnibute in other markets
Commussioning new content for our own channels and our DVD/ download-to-own business

L T S

Given the competition for content we continue to explore all avenues for feeding our pipeline with new properties to exploit across appropnate formats |
and markets The majonty are produced by the BBC and mdependent companies, but we are also making shows ourselves, partcularly local versions of
our own formats In doing this we are creating new properties to add to our proegramme catalogue for worldwide distnbution

We are proud of our work in setting up and supporting a number of UK indies, which are developing strongly This role — where BBC Worldwide acts as '
a sighificant investor in UK creativity in return for nghts — 15 one we plan to continue

Programme and talent investment
In 2010/11 BBC Worldwde invested £101 Om in new programmes £78 5m (n BBC-commissioned content and £22 5m in non-BBC

We concluded new development deals wath Fresh One Productions and Oxford Film and Television and struck a partnership with Sharp Jack Media As
part of our strategy to develop valuable intellectual property and content with talent we also concluded deals with Kirstie Allsopp and Phil Spencer's
Raise the Roof Productions

BBC Worldwide production

In our production business, a major focus this year was to build our profile in the USA Our Los Angeles-based team now has a number of scnpted and
unscnpted formats in development In addibon it produced a local version of Top Gear for cable channel HISTORY ™ which has been recommissioned,
and another highly successful season of Dancing with the Stars for ABC

An exciting development for the team was making the new senes of sci-fi drama Torchwood for the first tme Co-produced by BBC Worldwide, BBC
Cymru Wales and US cable channel STARZ, this promises to be a major event for fans when 1t airs in the UK and on STARZ later this year

In Austrahia our production partner Freehand produced a new local version of Top Gear for Channel Nine which has also been recommissioned

Elsewhere, all our production bases secured commissions in 2010/11 India had a particulary strong year The team more than doubled the nurmber of
commissions by expanding s cient base and working on new genres of programming A fourth season of Dancing with the Stars (Jhalak Dikhla Jaa}
was secured wath Sony Telewvision and the team landed s first commission with India’s number one channel, Star Plus, for a local version of the BBC
format, The Week the Women Went

Other commussions

Cur international channels commissioned and co-produced 137 hours of programming, and UKTV in the UK broadcast 250 hours of its own
commussioned shows 2 entertain, our DVVD/download -to-own business, also separately funds programme producton designed to premiere on
DVD/Blu-ray Inthe year tis included John Bishop Live and Top Gear Apocalypse

Noxt stops

. Continue to invest in new BBC-preduced programmes to support the creation of distnctive quality content

. Support emerging independent companies through development finance, co-producticn deals and intemational distnbution

. Invest in BBC Worldwide’s own production network to secure local commissions and shows for our own channels and programme catalogue
. Develop more direct relationships with talent
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Our strategic objectives (continued)

8. Develop more direct connections with consumers

BBC Worldwide has both great brands and extensive international distribution platforms But we know our growth will be constrained unless
weo put the consumor at the heart of everything we do We are therefore focusing on

0 Deploying brand management skills on key intellectual properties

. Understanding our consumers better

*  Continuing to build strong relationships between consumers and our major brands, especially via social media

. Growlng consumer loyalty and commercialising It for our major brands though customer relationship management (CRM) systems

Getting closer to consumers, building strong relationstups with them, and using the insight gained from this to develop better products, are all essential
to our growth strategy

Digital

Drgital platforms are hughly important in understanding consumer preferences We can now immediately see if something has caught fans’ interest as
the number of views, hkes or fans climbs

Social media, such as Facebook and Twatter, are particularly key With Top Gear, for example, we had our first hugely successful expenence in buitding
a fanbase online wvia Facebook Based on this learming, we then launched a Facebook page for Doctor Who in December 2010, and in just a few months
it had 800,000 fans Via ttus, we engage daily with fans, give them the most up-to-date news, and prowide a single destination for all things Doctor Who
The page has also proved a vatuable marketing tocl, delivering 12 6% of traffic to the BBC's Doctor Who website to date

The key charactenstics of online are that it s immediate and global But if fans haven't been able to see the latest episode of therr favourte TV senes,
they can't be pan of the global online conversation about it Consequently, they no longer wait for shows to be aired by a local broadcaster (often long
after the inttial transmission in the home terntory) but find them legally or illegally on the internet

For this reason we have been working to bring closer together the transmission times of major senes broadcast in our main English-speaking markets of
the UK, USA and Austraha In Apnl 2011, the latest senes of Doctor Who launched within 24-hours in the UK and USA The ratings results for the
premiere In the USA were our highest ever (1 4m} Doctor Who was also the number three TV senes purchased globally oniTunes in 2010/41 In the
USA this was largely dnven by our highest ever level of marketing investment — including social media engagement

Consumer Insights

We also use our understanding of what consumers want te busld better products for them VWhen Lonely Planet was developing its new Discover and
core guidebook senes, it used focus groups and surveyed its panel of over 3500 intemational travellers to ensure they would appeal to consumer
segments that were currently underserved Since the Discover senes launched in March 2010, Lonely Planet's sales of all its guides to the destinations
covered by the senes have increased by 32 5%

Live Events

Perhaps the richest expenence for TV fans 1s to engage with their favourite show hve To this end, we have further developed our Live Events business
In the year Over two milicn people visited a BBC live show somewhere in the werld in 2010/11

We mounted another intemationat Top Gear Live tour featuring the UK show's presenters Walking with Dinosaurs was rated the most successful world
tour of 2010 (Polistary And In the UK, our team produced a Docter Whe live arena show and our first Experience and Exhibitton Both opened in London
to cntical and pubhic acclaim

Audiences also enjoy seeing natural hustory footage on the big screen and immersing themselves i new worlds through quality 3D preductions
Therefore a new venture was created for our natural history umbrella brand BBC Earth In November 2010 BBC Earth Films announced the
development of three major natural hustery films One Life, Walking with Dinosaurs 3D and Enchanted Kingdom 3D We intend these to be ground-
breaking “event films” that will bnng the natural world's most awe-inspinng stones to cnema screens across the globe

Next Steps

. Rewiew how we gather information about our consumers and major brands in key markets

+  Accelerate our use of social media to help fans interact with our major brands

. Develop our CRM capability throughout the company ncluding CRM plans for each business to dnve customer acquisition ang average revenue
per user

. Build up our existing Live Events business
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Market context

The shift to digital

There can be no doubting the continuing (mpact of digital distnbution methods on traditional media industnes The current decade seems destined to be
the one where consumers make a rea! shift to mobile and connected dewices All kinds of content can now be enjoyed on smartphones, tablets and e-
readers that are powerful, portable and, most importantly, a pleasure to use The industry responded to this opportunity in 2010/11 by offenng a huge
range of applications and other forms of digital packaged media

Mobile

In November 2010, 62m US subscnbers owned smartphones — a full 10% tugher than three months previously (comScore) In Singapore 70% of all
maobile sales in the second half of 2010/11 were smartphones (Enferpnse Innovation) As wireless broadband networks expand and improve, it seems
highly ikely that other countries will see similar rapid uptake [n that context, prowiding engaging matenal for those devices Is a new opporiunity

Games are the most popular mobile actiity in the USA with 23% of users engaging in this activity (comScore) Games may be pre-loaded on to phones,
but now close to half of all apps dewnloaded globally are mobile games (NPD Group}

Apps are also dnving an increase N magazine viewing on tablets since these dewvices lend themselves more to a “lean back™ expenence than a phone
or PC, replicating better the expenence of reading pnnt magazines Zinio™, for example, now offers titles as static-content app downloads, and more
interactive versions are being developed by some publishers, including ourselves In addition new e-readers like Kindle seem to have finally captured
the hearts of bockworms (Amazon)

Importantly, mobtle apps offer consumers not Just recreation, but also a vast range of information to help them manage therr ives better, from travel
planning o price checking Whether paid-for or ad-funded, they are an excating development for our industry

The other key area where better mobile capability 1s driving consumer behaviour 1s 1n wideo viewing In Japan this activity 1s second only to search -
23% of mobile users (comScore) On smartphones, viewing I1s more about personal video or TV clips, but the newer tablets provide a much better full-
programme viewing expenence than earlier generations, which s doubtless helping dnve up online viewing figures The number of US subscnbers
watching wideo on their mobile devices rose more than 40% year on year in both the third and fourth quarters of 2010, ending the year at nearty 25m
people (The Nieisen Company)

Onling = Social meodia
The phenomenal growth in social media remains the biggest trend online and this bnngs both opportunities and concerns

For BBC Worldwide 1t is the populanty of social, or massively multiplayer onfine (MMO), games like Zynga's CityVille that 1s of particular interest One
forecaster estimates there will be 69m social gamers in the USA by 2012 (eMarketer), wath revenue hitting $1 32bn (up from $856m in 2010) This s all
the more remarkable considering that this form of gaming tock off In earnest less than two years ago Another study suggests online and mobile games
will compnse 50% of all games revenue by 2014 (/bis Capital)

As well as responding to this trend, TV brand owners need to ensure fans are getting a great expenence online around their favounte shows on social
media sites and make full use of sites such as Twitter 1o alert people to new developments

The concern about social media for website owners 1s that it 1$ now pulling advertising quite strongly away from other sites, even search engines — the
biggest sector online Global ad spending on social networks looks set to reach almost $6bn this year with Facebook predicted to receive a 68% share
Twatter 1s rapidly expanding its advertising capabilites, and analysts expect it to attract $150m in advertising this year and $250m in 2012 (eMarketer)

Ontine = TV viewing

Viewing programmes online 1s a major focus for the TV industry eMarketer estimates that by 2015 three-quarters of US internet users, or 186m people,
will watch video content onfine each month (eMarketery Overall revenue fram online viewing 1s forecast to grow to well over $3bn across the USA and
Western Europe by 2012 (IHS ScreenDigest)

Thus trend means distnbutors have to find ways of effectively managing the time frame in which content 1s made availabte across all platforms, whether

linear broadcast, on-demand digital service, or physical DVD/Blu-ray No longer can we rely on fans of our shows to wait till a senes 1s shown on a local
TV channel or released on disc Instead the industry needs to provide managed options to suit a1l preferences and purses For really popular senes, this
includes ensunng downloads are available near simultaneously wath the first near TV transmission and also creating well packaged DVD/Blu-ray discs

wath added-value features for those who hke to own a hard copy

It's worth noting that, although the DVD market 1s often perceived to be firmly in the “old media” camp, 2010 revenue remained stable 1n the UK, and felt
only 3 5% in the USA About 60% of the purchases in the UK market are made by collectors or those seeking a gift (Kantar) Another dnver has been
the surge in Blu-ray disc sales, which were up 55% in 2010 (Bnifish Video Association)

Pay-TV

Online and mobile TV viewing may be increasing, but the traditional pay-TV market 1s expanding too BBC Wordwide i1s both a suppher to this market
and an increasingly important player with 31 international channels and 10 in the UK (in a joint venture with Virgin Media)

Across the world, pay-TV subscription revenues were £120bn 1in 2010, a year-on-year increase of close to 12% (/HS ScreenDigest) This was driven
partly by increased household take-up of services, up 7%, and also by increased per-capita spending Advertising revenue on muttichannel TV also
rebounded strongly, outpacing the global TV adverising average by 3% (PwC)
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Market context (continued)

TV distribution

In terms of supplying both online and inear channel platforms, the US studios dominate the global TV sales market, but BBC Worldwde 1s the next
largest distnbutor of fimished television programmes

The TV distnbution market improved i 2010 as global TV advertising recovered, with digital channels and online expenencing the fastest growth A
boem in free digital terrestnal TV (DTT) opened the market to new players, while established broadcasters sought to strengthen their posiion by
launching sister channels, particutarly high definition (HD) and video-on-demand services All of this increased demand for quality programming,
particularly factual and drama

TV content from the UK continues to be popular overseas and figures show exports of finished programmes were up 9% (PACT) Drama 1s the genre
which powers the programme sales market worldwide {EurodataMédiameétne} and the US studios are the main provider However, in recent years both
the BBC and independent producers have been developing faster-paced senes with a more filmic quality that play well domestically, and also capture
the interest of foreign audiences Spooks (Kudos Film and Telewision) and Sherlock (Hartswood Films) are cases in pont In factual, the market is
smaller but the UK fares well, especially in areas such as natural history The BBC's long-standing nvestment in its Natural History Unit has resulted in
a catalogue that 1s regarded by buyers as the best in the world

The UK also currently leads the world in TV format exports, accounting for 39% globally in 2010 (PACT) The interesting trend in recent years has been
the nse in populanty of “factual entertainment” formats These are shows that focus on real people demonstrating a skill, but with the production values
and approach of a ight entertainment seres Production campany Shine TV's reworked approach to Masterchef s a good example

One final development to note Is the continuing consohdation of the UK indie sector The top five supenndies now account for 50% of this sector by

revenue (Tefevisual) What's more, the US majors are seeking to acquire UK production companies in order to add to their own slates —in 2010 Time
Wamner acquired Shed Media and earlier this year NewsCorp/Fox bought Shine Group This means distnbutors must be ever more creative in working
with producers at an early stage to support and lock down new projects or, as in BEC Worldwide's case, in developing their cwn production capability

Summary

Every media player 1s focused on managing the transition from physical products to digital ones, but the pace of change vanes from format to format
and market to market and remains hard to predict What's more, the reduction of per-unit pneing 1s a challenge (Emst & Young)

However, TV viewing is continuing to nse across mobile, tablet, and PC Internet connected TV will be the next nnovation to walch As a result, itis
prudent to invest in new bustnesses for the future whilst still ensunng established contributors to the bottom line are appropnately supported through this
transition penod

Outlook for the media and entertainment industry

Opportunities Challenges and nsks
. Smarter mobile devices have opened up new business areas such . Access to quahty content nghts 1s becoming increasingly difficutt
as apps pubhshing . Consumers hold the reins in terms of how and when they want to
. Cnline, DTT and pay-TV are providing a growing customer base for access content
TV channel and content suppliers . Dnving the same value from digital formats as from physical s
« TV advertising rebounded in 2010 and the outlook 15 good In unhkely
emerging markets . Social meda sites are pulling advertising away from other online
= Online adverhsing conttnues to grow as spend transfers from other sectors
formats
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Performance review

Details of our performance in 2010/11 by cperating business are set out below

Channels

Headline sales (£Em) Headline profit (Em)

Year 2011 2010 Year 2011 2010
EMEA 1927 173 4 EMEA 255 318
Amencas 7T 56 0 Amercas 16 60
Rest of World 416 332 Rest of World 30 14
Channels 3120 2626 Channels 40 1 39 2

Channels was a particularly strong revenue performer, with headline sales up 18 8% Subscniber revenue showed 16 1% growth, notably in the UK,
USA and Scandinavia Revenue from ad sales grew by 26 9% with strong performances from BEC America, UKTV and our channels in South Africa,
Latin Amenca and Austrahia

Headline profit of £40 1m was up 2 3%, the flow through from revenue growth betng partally offset by the loss of our Animal Planet share of profits
(results of which were not recorded as if was held for sale in the year} and investment in nine new channel launches Excluding Ammal Planet share of
profits from the comparative peried’s results, Channels headline profit grew 49 6%

Amenicas Headline sales increased by 38 8% to £77 7m, and headline profits by 93 3% This resulted from a significant iImprovement in BBC America
subscniber revenues and improved ratings, our ad sales team dnving value, and an underlying improvement in the ad market

EMEA This region constilutes over 60% of our Channels revenue base and was up 11 1% year on year A strong ad-sales performance by UKTV was
the main driver, up 15 6% Ratings also improved noticeably across the region Headline profit fell by £6 3m year on year to £25 5m, reflecting the
absence of our Animal Planet share of profits

Rest of World Headline sales increased strongly, by 25 3% Australia maintained market share, consolidating our position as the third largest
international netwerk in the Austrahan subscrnption TV market

Content & Production

Headline sales (Em) Headline profit (Em)
Year 2011 2010 Year 2011 2010
Content & Production 102 8 94 2 Content & Production 79 176

Headline sales from Content & Production rose by 9 1% to £102 8m, mamnly as a result of higher ievels of commissions of BBC Worldwide formats in
France and India Our French production office delivered significant revenue growth and shared success with TF1 earlier this year when Dancing with
the Stars launched to 4 8m viewers

Headline profit of £7 9m was down from £17 6m This was due to increased investment and costs at Dancing with the Stars in the USA, which has just
completed season 12 to record ratings, coupled with investment in our new production facility in Los Angeles, particularly in developing our scripted
production capability This was rewarded with our first scripted commussion — Torchwoed Miracle Day, commissioned by US cable channel STARZ and
BBC Cymru Wales

Digital Entertainment

Headling sales (Em) Headline profit/(loss) (Em)

Year 2011 2010 Year 2011 2010
Digital Entertainment 271 145 Dhgital Entertainment {6 8) {17 0)
Memo reportln of Dlgltal 819 6§23 -

Digital Entertainment encompasses BBC com, the Games Unit and the global BBC IPlayer

Headline sales for Digital Entertainment were £27 1m, which represented year-on-year growth of £12 6m or 86 9% The business reduced headhne
losses significantly to £(6 8)m from £(17 0)m in 2009/10, reflecting the sigrificant move towards profitability of BRC com offset by the investments in our ‘
Games Unit and the global BBC iPlayer

We also have a range of digital activihes embedded across all our businesses The total revenue for these in the year was £54 8m, bringing our total
digital revenues to £81 9m, an increase of 31 5%

BBC com 1s a news and ifestyle site that only cperates outside the UK, where 1t 1s funded by advertising Its headine sales grew significantly year on
year (113%), driven by the launch of a range of new services, and a good performance from our in-house advertising sales teams and improved
mventory management We continued to invest in new products for BBC com, including & customised US edition, a travel section, and Apple iPhone and
IPad apps

Games 15 a fast-growing area of digital media and a key focus for us We are bullding teams in Los Angeles and London who will be developing BBC-
branded games for multiple platforms We are also investing in the global BBC iPlayer — a pilot for the Apple iPad wall start in summer 2011 n selected
markets

From 1 Apnl 2011, the Games Umit will be reported within Brands, Consumers & New Ventures
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Performance review (continued)

Brands, Consumers & New Ventures

Headllne sales (Em) Headline profit/{loss) (Em)

Year 2011 2010 Year 2011 2010
Brands, Consumers Brands, Consumers

& New Ventures 860 825 & New Ventures (10 3) (90)
Memo reportlng_] of koy brands 308 1 2737

Brands, Consumers & New Ventures was established to maximise the revenue from our most valuable brands Lonely Planet, Top Gear, Doctor Who,
Terchwood, BBC Earth and Daneing wath the Stars are all managed, driven and marketed on a Group-wide basis Walking with Dinosaurs 15 the next
brand to be managed in this way The benefits of this brand focus are reported within each business's numbers, but on a memo-reported basis, headiine
sales from these brands were £308 1m, a nse of 12 6% year on year

Headline losses for the year have increased from £(9 O)m to £(10 3)m 1in 2010/11 The staff and marketing costs of the brand focus are included in the
figures above alongside the revenue and profit from Lonely Planet, Licensed Consumer Products, Live Events, our brand-led websites and our book
publishing partnerships

In a difficult market in which guidebook sales were down 24% tn key termtones compared to 2007/08, Lonely Planet maintained revenues year on year
and increased market share in key temtones to achieve a five-year tigh of 21%

Live Events i1s a nascent but high-potential business in which we are investing for growth During 2010/11 we launched Doctor Who Live (a tounng |
arena show), the Doctor Who Expenence (an interactive exhibition), and continued to develop the very popular Top Gear Live international tour

Since 1 Apnl 2011, the Games Unit has been managed wathin this business, whilst Licensed Consumer Products and book publishing partnerships have
transferred to the Consumer Products business

Sales & Distribution

Headline sales (Em) Headline profit (Em)

Year 2011 2010 Year 2011 2010
EMEA 1658 1455 EMEA 444 363
Americas 520 675 Americas 12 48
Asia Pacific 42 8 366 Asia Pacific 18 4 16 8
Sales & Distribution (Gross) 2606 2496 Sales & Distribution (Gross) 640 579
Less internal trading of (30 1) (26 4) Less internal trading of {(52) (6 3)
Sales & Distribution {(Net) 230 5 2232 Sales & Dlstribution (Net) 58 8 516

Sales & Distnbution 1s our biggest profit centre, generating a headline profit of £58 8m on headlines sales of £230 5m in the year

Amaericas Follomng the sale of our stake in Antmal Planet and People&Arts, our co-production arrangements with Discovery in the USA have been
renegotiated, resulting in lower reported revenues for the Amencan business

Excluding this impact, reported revenues increased by 12 0% n total through exploiing the strength of our catalogue, a more focused sales strategy for
key brands and titles, and an uptum In the economic environment in most markets

EMEA and Asia Paclfic Both saw good revenue growth, with EMEA benefiting from good sales on key brands including Top Gear, Docter Who and
BAFTA winner Sherfock

Consumer Products

Headling sales (Em) Headline profit (Em)

Year 2011 2010 Year 2011 2040
Video Physical 1823 1795 Video Physical 433 42 3
Video Digital S1 33 Video Drgital 25 15
Others 34 49 3 Others 31 {0 8)
Consumer Products 2348 2321 Consumer Products 48 9 430

Consumer Products continues to generate strong profits for BBC Worldwide, up 13 7% year on year

Video Physical The business performed extremely well in the UK, despite a challenging domestic DVD market, fiishing 2010 as the UK's fifth-largest
distnbutor In the USA our sales were up 3 8% in a tough market which saw total sales of DVD and Blu-ray down 3 8%

Video Digital £9 1m or 3 9% of the business’s revenue 1s now accounted for by download to own This revenue stream almost tnipled versus last year,
reflecting the growth in the market and the success of key brands including Doctor Who and Top Gear

Others Includes our BBC Audiobooks business, the majonty of which was sold dunng the year, reducing revenue by £18m
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Magazines

Headline sales (Em)

Headline profit (Em)

Year 2011 2010 Year 2011 2010
Continuing 366 358 Continuing 49 50
Discontinued 127 9 1293 Discontinued 167 14 8
Magazines 164 5 1651 Magazines 216 198

In a difficult UK market Magazines performed well Circulation revenue was up by 1%, compared with the overall market decrease of 6%, and
subscnption revenue rose by 10% Cverall, headline sales were marginally down, by £0 6m, reflecting the held-for-sate status of our joint ventures

Dovetail Ltd {(subscnption management) and Worldwmde Media Ltd (Indian publishing business)

Headline profit iIncreased by 9%, or £1 8m, with strong growth from specialist titles such as Good Food and Olive Margins increased from 12 0% to

13 1% as a result of the restructunng completed dunng the previous year designed to reduce the cost base and improve profitabiity

Discontinued As we are in exclusive negotiations with regard to finding a long-term partner for our Magazines business and hope to conclude a deal

over the summer, this part of the business has been disclosed as a discontinued operation Our continuing business relates to the titles Top Gear,

Lonely Planet and Good Food, which we wll retain but publish on a different basis
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Chief Financial Officer’'s review

It's been another excellent year for BBC Worldwide, with record revenues and double-digit profit growth Ve have delivered revenue and profit growth in
our established businesses, and shown ourselves to be well positioned for the recent advertising upturn We have alse managed our digital businesses
towards breakeven, while maintaining investment in thrs key area

In my nine years with the company | have seen remarkable growth and development across all our businesses | was therefore delighted to be
appointed CFO last December and to play a wider role in helping the company to expand further and provide even greater benefit to our shareholder,
the BBC

Headline sales
Headline sales for 2010/11 were £1,157 7m, an increase of 7 8%

Our Channels business was once more a particularly strong revenue performer, up 18 8%, reflecting subscriber revenue growth of 16 1%, and 26 9%
growth in advertising sales

Other key contnibutors fo revenue growth duning the year were Digital Entertainment, up 86 8%, and Content & Production, up © 1% Consumer
Products also performed well and bucked the trend of a flat UK DVD market and a declining US market, as well as the severe UK winter weather which
hit sales in the key pre-Chnstmas penod, to deliver stable revenues

In our 2009/10 review, we talked about the steps we had taken to move the advertising sales teams in-house and the results we expected to achieve by
doing so We're now seeing the benefits of this re-organisation, which has not only improved our performance in its own nght, but has also allowed us to
exploit the recovery in the overall advertising market, which grew 3 4% worldwide In 2010 (Zemth Optimedia) Our digital business has also benefited
from this upturn, with BEBC corn advertising sales growing 113%

Headline profit

Headline profit was £160 2m, up 10 3% from £145 2m, while headline operating margins rose from 13 5% to 138% This reflects the headline sales
growth outlined above and our efforts to mamtain and )mprove efficiency across the business Profit before tax, including the results of discontinued
operations, grew substantiafly from £126 4m to £201 2m, a nse of 59 2% This includes the gain on disposal of our mvestment in Ammal Planet and
People&Arts

Consumer Products benefited from a full year's contnbution from the 2 entertain business and delivered efficiency improvements to increase headline
profits by 13 7% Sales & Distnbution has been successful in exploiting the strong back catalogue more effectively fuelling an improvement in margins

Returns to our shareholdar

The growth achieved in 2010/11 has allowed us to Increase our retumns to the BBC by 8 6% to £181 9m This was in part through a dividend in relation
to 2010/11 performance of £76 4m (£73 6m 2009/10}, of which £34 5m was declared in June 2011 The BBC Group owns 100% of BBC Worldwde, and
recerves returns on that investment in the form of payments for BBC programming, as well as an annual dividend The level of this dvidend ts agreed
each year based on a balance between the BBC's cash requirements and our own need to continue to invest for growth In the past year this investment
has gone both into our existing busmesses, such as our production facility in Los Angeles, and towards exciting new prospects such as the global BBC
IPlayer and our Games Unit

Corporate activity

Corporate activity dunng the year mcluded the sale of our shareholdings in Amimal Planet and People&Arts and BBC Audiobooks and the purchase of
the remaining equity in Lonely Planet Dunng the year we sold our 50% share in Amimal Planet to our partner, Discovery Communications Inc, for
$150m, giving nse to a total gain on disposal of £96 4m This sale reflects a strategic intention to concentrate our efforts and resources on BBC-branded
channels and online platforms, and UKTV We also sold an 85% shareholding 1n BBC Audiobooks, reflecting our ambition to reduce our exposure, over
time, to physical products We recently announced that we are in exclusive discussions on a possible partnership for BBC Magazines recognising that
another company would be better placed to invest in the transition from print to digital product and support its future growth We hope to conclude a deal
in the summer

We purchased the 25% of shares in Lonely Planet we did not already own at the pnce of Aus $67 2m (£41 7m), m accordance with the terms of the put
option, contractually agreed at the time of acquisition of Lonely Planet in 2007 This transaction was completed in February 2011

Investment in programming

During the year we invested £101 Om on acquiring distnbution nghts, compared with £91 7m in 2009/10 The prionty as always, has been to ensure that
everything we acquire can be used across as many platforms as possible We always seek to identify tities that will generate the highest possible sales
and margin, and we have a great track record of doing so

We can see the evidence of this in the success of programmes such as Polar Bear Spy on the Ice, which was the highest-rating natural history film in
the UK in 2010, and Wonders of the Universe, the highest-rated science documentary of the past four years inthe UK These ratings are good
indicators of performance outside the UK Likewise Sherlock, Luther, and Wonders of the Solar System have all won muttiple awards We continue to
invest in established BBC brands such as Doctor Who, Torchwood, Top Gear and Strictly Come Dancing as well as in new tittes such as Upstarrs
Downstairs, The Shadow Line, Dawid Attenborough’s Life Stonies, EarthFlight, Sherlock Senies 2, Death in Paradise and Young Leonardo

We continue to have successful relationships with a whole range of independent producers outside the BBC We also hold minonty equity stakes in a
small number of independents, especially those with expertise in drama, comedy and factual entertainment While Broadcast 2011 data shows that
onginal programming hours for the whole industry were down, these independents delivered more content for us than ever, with 116 hours of exciting
new programming added to our catalogue for intemational distnbution These included Misfits from Clerkenwell Films, Zen, Mad Dogs and DCI Banks
from Left Bank Pictures, and Fnday Night Dinner, Rev and Him & Her from Big Tatk Productions
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Taxation

The tax charge for the year, including our share of jont ventures and associates, 1s £43 5m, an effective tax rate of 20 7% (31 1% 2009/10) This 1s
below the statutory UK rate of corporation tax of 28%, pnmanly because of our disposal of Ammal Planet and People8Arts that did not attract a tax
charge However, this was partly offset by a higher effective tax rate on some of our overseas profits, and the fact that some expenses, including
goodwill wrnite-downs, are not allowable for tax

Goodwill

Last year, we wrote down our investment in Lonely Planet to take account of the appreciation of the Austrahan dollar and our transition to International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) This year the Australian dollar has strengthened further and, as at the end of December 2010, was at a 27-year
high against stering Australian dollars account for over 80% of Lonely Planet's costs, but only around 20% of revenue This, along wth the challenging
market condihons outlined below, has led to a wnte-down of the carrying value of our Lonely Planet investment by £33 8m

Lonely Planet has expernenced significant challenges in its key markets of the UK, USA and Australia Book retailers have faced difficulties, with large
book retailers Borders and Red Group both entenng administration Consumer confidence remains low, with UK residents making 20% fewer overseas
tnps in 2010 compared with 2008 Despite this, Lonely Planet has maintained market share and now halds 21% of the travel gudebook market in key
terntones, a five-year high Post year end, Lonely Planet has advanced a programme of changes to increase efficiencies, invest in technology, and
ensure that Lonely Planet content 1s integrated with, and exploited by, other parts of BBC Worldwade, in particular our production and channels
businesses

Cash and debt

During the year we generated net cash flows from operating activites of £194 1m, compared with £207 9m 1n 2006/10 After taking into account the
purchase of the outstanding shares tn Lonely Planet, the proceeds from the Animal Planet and People8Arts disposal and the payment of dvidends of
£83 4m, we saw a net increase in cash and cash equivalents of £32 2m

Overall, our debt fell dunng the year from £102 6m at 1 Apnl 2010 to £52 3m at 31 March 2011, resulting in a tower net interest charge for the year of
£9 Om, down £1 4m year on year

Qutlook

Next year we aim to continue to grow our business, investing for fulure expanston in ine with our five strategic pnonties This will ensure we continue to
deliver healthy returns to our shareholder, and we will work actively with it to look at better ways of working together and maximising shareholder value
In that vern, significant progress has been made over the year on Futureworks, cur inthative to simplify and improve our business processes and

systems The programme now has well established plans and a number of workstreams focused on delivening improved results and greater profitabiity

As we expand overseas and into new areas of business, we will continue to focus on ensurng we remain agile and able to respond quickly to the ever-
changing markets and demands of our consumers We will ensure we continue to operate efficiently and effectively

Whilst we have seen recovery in some markets, economic uncertainty still exists tn many of our terntones We feel confident that with the foundations
we have bullt, the breadth of our business and the talented indwiduals who work for us, we are well placed to develop the company through this
challenging penod

Philip Vincent
Chief Financiat Officer
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Corporate responsibility

BBC Worldwide 1s uniquely placed to grow the BBC brand around the world, within the framework of the Four Commercial Cntena (see page 25) Along
with this exciting remit, however, come challenging responsibiliies The over-arching prionty across our Corporate Responsibility actiwity 1s to protect
and nurture the public service brand, and all it stands for, in the commerctal arena This includes how we manage editonal standards, work wath
suppliers responsibly and mimimise our impact on the environment In conjunction wath this, we focus on continucus development of our people and
supporting our local commurities Our Values are those of our shareholder the BBC, with the addition of “Enterpnse” which reflects our commercial
purpose

Our values

*  Creatwily Cur creatiwty 1s the fuel for growth

. Quality We go the extra mile for quality

. Trust We say it, do it and deliver on our promises

. Respect By understanding others we maximise potential
= Audences Customers are at the heart of everything we do
. Teamwork Together everyone achieves more

. Enterpnise We're passionate about profit and growth

Each of these Values underpins everything we do and s reflected in the five areas of responsible business practice which we believe are central to our
mission as ambassadors for the BBC - Editonal standards, People Ethical sourcing, Environment and Outreach

Editorial standards

The BBC s trusted as a source of high-quality broadcasting and content, renowned for accuracy, insights and some of the most onginal entertainment in
the world We have set ngerous standards to ensure nothing we do harms this remarkable reputation

All our people and partners are required to work within our editorial framework and follow our guidehnes on editonal integrity and independence from
external interest as well as on advertising and sponsarship

Psople

In order to attract, retain and develop the best people, we stnve to be an organisation that 1s both aspirattonal and inspirational and to be the best
employer in our industry

To ensure that BBC Wordwide 1s an employer of choice we focus on the following key areas

. Prowiding a great place to work, both via a stimulating physical environment and culture, and also by promoting engagement wath, and pnde n, our
business

. Continuous learming, which is inked to career progression, developing new skills and ensunng performance 1s managed to the highest standard

. Prowiding access to exaiting careers where top talent can be identified and nurtured, succession plans are created, and moves across function and
country become a reality

= Working to be an inclusive orgamsation where diversity is reflected in the make-up of our workferce at all levels

+  Offenng a structure for reward which 1s farr, competitive, {inked to performance and aligned wth our Values

Ethical sourcing

Each year BBC Worldwide sources and licenses millions of products that carry the BBC brand We try hard to ensure that appropriate labour standards
and working conditions exist in the factones that make these products We have stnct mimimum standards relating to pay, hours, age, health and safety
and we operate on the basis of continuous improvement

All supphers around the world are required to provide mdependent third-party factory audits for ther factones in higher-nsk terntones, and these are
checked and graded by our ethical team We will only work with factones which are open and honest, have no cntical falures, and are prepared to
engage with us and make changes when improvements are required

Environment

We are passionately committed to reducing our impact on the environment That we achieved 1SO 14001 certification for cur UK Environment
Management System i 2010 1s testament to this commitment and to our philosophy of continuous improvement in the areas where we can make the
most difference

Paper used by cur publishing businesses represents one of our biggest enwironmental impacts and we manage it wvith great care This year our long-
term dedication to credible forest certification was recognised by an FSC Global Partner award We also won the Professional Publishers’ Association’s
Environmentally Sustatnable Business of the Year award

tn order to further minimise our environmental Impact, we have begun to measure the carbon footpnint of each of our businesses in order to understand
how carbon emissions may be reduced Our “Travel Less, Travel Light” policy, mtroduced in 2008, restncts domestic and close-European flights, and
includes measures to imit long-haul travel Qur company headquarters in London and regional headquarters in New York and Sydney have high
environmental building ratings BREEAM Excellent in London, LEED (due August) in New York and 4 5 NABERS energy rating in Sydney

We continue to offset all business travel and premises carbon emissons through Gold Standard offsets in wand-farm projects
Outreach

We are fortunate in attracting highly educated, well motivated and creative people to work for us We never forget that many people do not have the
opportunity to go on to higher education This 1s why in our outreach activity we have decided to focus mamly on mentonng and ennchment
opportunities for secondary school chiidren

Staff are also able to take part in community projects, which benefit our neighbours and also help to foster team spirit and personal development

We actively promote and encourage staff to support BBC chanties such as Comic Relief and BBC Children in Need, while giving to registered chanbties
of their choice 1s made simple via the Payroll Giving scheme Our outreach activity abroad has been largely dnven by our Channels business which 1s
working to promote cur Values internationally

Our actions to further all these five areas of Corporate Responsibility in 2010/11 and our plans to progress them in 2011/12 can be viewed overleaf
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Responsible business practice: progress and plans

Plan for 201011

Continue to ensure the ighest editonal
standards are at the core of the business and
that all staff understand the company’s editonal
framework

Progress

Launched the inspire Trust editonal standards
programme in November 2010, over 2100 staff
members attended Inspire Trust workshops to
update their knowiedge

Plan for 2011/12

Complete the roll-out of Inspire Trust
programme to all staff members, provide more
tailored editonal standards training to specific
business areas

Share best practice by bnnging together sermor
editonal figures from across the business at
regular Editenal Forums (EF) and Editonal
Leaders Group (ELG) meetings

ELG met four times across the year, two EFs
brought together 70 senior editonal figures to
discuss 1ssues, ranging from general election
reporting rssues to the editonal dilemmas of
televising sport

Rewview the activities and composition of the
ELG to ensure editona! standards retain a high
leve! of importance in new business activities

Roll out the new Advertising & Sponsorship
Guidelines, ensuring relevant staff fully
understand them, review, in association wath the
BBC, to ensure they rematn up to date

{REOpIeE B SRl

T T
TERLLE

Workshops held in the majority of our offices
globally, Guidelines translated into Spanish for
Latin Amenca and updated to reflect product
placement following changes in UK
broadcasting regulation

ik S >

Roll out easily accessible online training, provide

training around product placement, ensure we

remain competitive by adapting Guidelines

where necessary, while protecting BBC Values
d

Training and development

Centralise budget and resource in order to focus
on delivering more tratning and development
that 1s aligned efficiently to our strategic
objectives, ensure we deliver maximum benefit
from our investment, develop and launch online
learming management system

Developed a suite of training courses covenng
all core business skills, agreed preferred training
supplher ist and developed in-house courses,
online learming management system launched,
providing access to 250 courses for most staff
globally

Extend systems and training course portfolio to
Lonely Planet and 2 entertain, continue to
develop content to support the delivery of our
company strategy, this will include the further
development of an in-house sales and
marketing academy

Support new and middle managers with
bespoke people management training
programme, establishing core standards and
reinforcing the importance of managing
performance and of our culture and Values

Management Essentials programme introduced
and 40% of all managers completed Module 1

All managers to complete Module 1 and Medule
2 to be introduced

Talent management

Create better talent and succession planning
process, launch a development programme for
high achievers

Talent and succession plans now reviewed
annually, Personal Development Plans in place
to speed indwvidual progress, address skill gaps
and help retain key mndividuals, High Potentials
Development programme Aspire 2010
completed in the UK (candidates complete a 12-
month rapid development programme), Aspire
2011 launched in the US and Europe

Cascade the process for reviewing talent and
creating succession pians further down the
organisation, {aunch Aspire In Australia, Asia
and at Lonely Planet and 2 entertain

Values

Embed the Values formally in all aspects of
employee systems and raise the profile of BBC
Worldwde as an employer of choice

Values embedded into job descnptions,
induction programme, new performance
appraisal system and recruitment processes

Develop BBC Worldwide recruitment tools
inctuding website

Reward

Develop and implement a new Reward strategy
to realign BBC Worldwide with our commercial
competitors whilst taking into account the
interests of our shareholder, the BBC, review
incentives to dnve performance and reward
strong performance, ensure reward s fair and
competitive

Strategy in place, benchmarking survey
completed and new Annual Bonus Scheme and
Long-term Prefit Shanng Plan developed (senior
employee bonuses based on personal
performance as well as operating business
and/or company financial achievement)

From 2012, most staff bonuses to be linked to
personal performance as well as operating
business and/or cocmpany financial
achievement

Consult wath and communicate to staff the
proposed new BBC Pension changes

Consulted with staff on the BBC Defined Benefit
Pension Scheme and introduced a new Defined
Contnbution Penston Scheme

Continue to monutor the pensions situation and
take appropnate achion to address 1ssues

Diversity

Work to achieve a diverse mix of employees
across the Group

Currently the Group employs 20 6% of staff from
black and minonty ethnic backgrounds

Continue to work 1o ensure recruiting processes
actively seek and attract as diverse a range of
candidates as possible

Join the BBC's Extend scheme, which facilitates
recruitment of disabled employment candidates

Joined scheme and ran several placements in
vanous areas of the business

Continue to ensure people with disabilities have
the opportunity to seek and maintain
employment with BBC Worldwide
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Responsible business practice. progress and plans (continued)

Plan for 2010i11

Progress

Plan for 2011/12

Continue targeted ettucal tratning and ethical
workshops for staff, introduce ethical training
module as part of induction programme for all
new managers

New training module developed and launched
March 2011

Hold monthly ethical training for new managers,
extend to joint ventures and evaluate overseas
requirements

Planning and systems

Rewview ethical programme scope

Scope reviewed and extended to include joint
ventures

Achion ethical programme with relevant joint
ventures

Extend comprehensive factory and audit data
capture to include all business areas

Ethical data record implemented agtumn 2010
to include all business areas

Extend data recording to include joint ventures

Factory auditing

Continue to require third party SMETA (Sedex
Members Ethical Trade Audit) audits for all
primary factones producing BBC Worldwide
products in higher-nsk countries

Audrts received for alt pnmary factortes
producing BBC Worldwade products

Extend audit requirement to joint ventures

Continue to conduct control (forensic) audits In
order to build on the effectiveness of the core
programme and gain mncreased understanding
of labour standards 1ssues within our supply
chamn

Extended to lower-nsk countries

Review requirement to control audit in lower-nsk
countries

Introduce tral of record venfication audits where
there 15 evidence of inconsistency in factory
records

Audnts tnalled in Licensed Products and
Children's Publishing

Rewview effectiveness of these audits and extend
use where appropnate

Introduce measures to track and respond to
discrepancies between control and third-party
audits

Discrepancies report launched, initial findings
shared with stakeholders

Further develop strategy for addressing audd
discrepancies

Continue to grade all audits

Increased mn-house review capability

Extend to joint ventures

Continue to address and resolve all Cntical
Fallure Points (CFPs), encourage use of Hours
Action Plans (HAPs) to address extreme hours
CFPs, develop a resolution strategy for lesser
non-compltance

CFPs resolved as routine, take up of HAPs
increased

Establish programme to address lesser non-
comphance 1ssues, extend CFP resolution to
Jont ventures, establish monitoring mechanism
for HAPs

Check ethical programme compliance and
understanding across our businesses

Factory and grade data tracked for all business
areas

Extend to joint ventures

Communication and learning

Develop more inks wath companies wath
comparable programmes, labour standards
organisations and NGOs

Initral dialogue established wath a number of
trade bedies, retailers, compliance mitiators and
NGOs

Extend discussions with a view to collaboration
on key 1ssues, including transparency and audit
rehability

Conduct a tnal capacity-building programme

Tnal commenced in China March 2011

Evaluate mpact of tnal, adapt/extend as
appropnate

Research and conduct tnal social programme in
tugh-risk country

Tral launched in India December 2010

Track progress, evaluate effectiveness,
adaptextend as appropnate
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Responsible business practice. progress and plans (continued)

Plan for 2010/11
FENVIronmentEga,

Management

Plan for 2011/12

Maintain and devetop the 1SO 14001
Environmental Management System (EMS)

1SO 14001 (achieved in London HQ May 2010)
passed first surveilllance audit in November
2010

Develop and use the EMS according to needs
and plans of the company, reviewing targets and
objectives regubarly

Ensure all staff are aware of environmental
impacts and objectives, staff with environmental
responsibilities to receive bespoke traiming

44% of UK staff completed online training,
bespoke traiming provided for key teams, such
as IT, legal and facilities

Promote training module and staff awareness,
extend bespoke training to other areas, develop
training module for international offices

Carbon

Morutor and track trave! carbon emissions
against internal target to reduce carbon
emissions from travel by 10% by 2010 from a
2008 baseline by enforcing the enwironmental
travel policy

Progress proved challenging owing to our rapid
international expansion Travel carbon
emissions Increased by 6% over the target
penod but would have been hugher without the
travel policy

Review strategy to reduce emissions relative to
international growth, reinforce travet policy
throughout company

As part of a “‘measure, reduce, offset” approach,
offset all unavoidable carbon emissions

Unavoidable emissions from energy
consumption In bulldings and trave! offset with
Gold Standard certified credits

Regularly rewiew carbon reduction and offsetting
position

Waste and packaging

Develop and rell out new Enwironmentat
Packaging Guidelines

Packaging Guidelines developed

Assess current packaging used and roll out
Packaging Guidelines to relevant business
areas

Run a bespoke waste audit at our London HQ

Set up for June 2011

Use findings from waste audit to change
behaviour where reguired, introduce binless
offices intemationally (already in place in
London HQ)

Paper

Ensure paper used in manufacture of BBC
products 1s recycled or sourced from credibly
certified, well managed forests

100% of magazines prnted on paper from
controlled sources, including 82% (peak) FSC-
certified paper, 91% of Lonely Planet titles
printed on FSC-certified paper, FSC stock
sourced for all DVD/Blu-ray titles from Apnl
2011

Continue to ncrease percentage from either
recycled or from credibly certified, well managed
forests

Water

Extend water saving inihatives beyond London
HQ's rainwater harvesting system

Fotireac 3 A o
Support not-for-profit Intiatives that help young

peaple develop an understanding of the media

business and raise their career aspirations

Low-volume toilets installed in US offices

& kBt

Continue to monitor water usage

Inhiatives with Hammersmith & Fulham
Education Business Partnership included Take
Two mentonng scheme and running an Explore
Media Day, lessons in law prowvided at a local
school via Lawyers in Schools, pard placements
prowided to students in the Career Academies
UK proegramme

Monitor and assess Take Two mentorng
scheme, hold another Explore Media Day,
recruit Career Academy interns for summer
2011

Provide opportunities for staff to participate in
volunteer activities which benefit local schools
and non-profit organisations, help staff
understand the needs of our local communities

Team Challenges took place at four schools
near our Loandon HQ, for the fourth year,
volunteers supported the Jack Tizard School for
children wath profound special needs

Seek out new opportunities to contnbute to local
communities in the UK and overseas, shanng
London HQ expenences, recruit fresh volunteers
for Jack Tizard scheme

Develop opportunities internationally to support
young talent in media-related professions

BBC Knowledge wvath New Zealand's Screen
Production & Development Association
{SPADA) offered grants to producers under 30
and an opportunity to prermiere ther
documentaries on BBC Knowledge, Young
Whters and Public Speaking awards held in
Holland, Belgium and Hungary

Continue to support young talent internationally

Continue to give support to BBC charities,
provide easy tax-free method for staff to donate
to charity via Payroll Giving

Staff raised funds for BBC charities through a
variety of acthaties and our magazines and
websites widely publicised them to the public,
Payroll Giving dnve held in February 2011

Rewiew our Outreach policy in the UK and with
our international teams, conbinue to promote
chartable gving across all areas
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BBC Worldwide Board of Directors

Name

Role

Date of Appointment

Background

Robert Webb QC

Chairman

1 Cctober 2008

Robert Webb QC was appointed a Non-executive Directer of the BBC in January 2007
and Chairman of BBC Worldwide tn October 2009 He s also Chairman of BBC
Commercial Holdings Ltd He was called to the Bar in 1971 and appointed QC in 1988
Robert was General Counsel at Bntish Airways from 1998 to 2009 He 1s Charman of
Autonomy Corporation plc and Sciemus Ltd and a Non-executive Director of the London
Stock Exchange ple, Hakluyt & Co Lid and Argent Group plc

John Smith

Chief
Executive

18 March 2005

John Smith, CEQ, joined BBC Worldwade 1n July 2004 and was confirmed CEO in March
2005 Before this, John was the BEC’'s Chief Operating Officer, and held other serior
executive roles at the BBC including Finance Director and Director of Finance, Property
& Business Affairs Before joming the BBC, he held posts at BR Engineening Ltd,
Sealink, Seaspeed Hovercraft and other commercial subsidianes owned by the Brntish
Rail Group John was a member of the BBC's Executive Board from 1996 to 2009 He s
a Non-executive Director of Burberry plc, a Director of the Henley Festival and a Vice
President of the Royal Telewision Society

Phiip Vincent

Chief
Financial
Officer

1 December 2010

Philip Vincent became acting Chief Financial Officer in June 2010 and was confirmed in
the post on 1 December 2010 As CFO, Philip 1s responsible for BBC Worldwide's
financial strategy, in particular the development of its five-year plan Previously, he held
a number of pesitions in BBC Worldwide including Deputy CFO, Group Finance Director
(Breadcast & Digital) and Finance Director (Channels) Philip joined the BBC in 1998,
before which he was Financial Controller at Bunzl Disposables Ltd Philip qualified as a
Chartered Accountant at KPMG, working in both Londen and New York

Nicholas Eldred

Non-
executive
Director

31 January 2006

Nichotas Eldred 1s Group General Counsel and Secretary of the BBC He i1s also a
Director of BBC Commercial Holdings Ltd and BBC Studios and Post Production Ltd
Nicholas Joined the BBC in August 2001 from O2 Ltd (previously BT Celinet) where he
had been Director of Legal and Business Affairs and Company Secretary He had joined
BT Celinet from BT plc where he was head of the mergers and acquisitions legal team
Previously he was a corporate lawyer wath city law firm Simmons & Simmons

Charlotte Hogg

Non-
executve
Drrector

24 September 2010

Charlotte Hogg 1s the UK and Ireland Managing Director at Expenan, the global
information services company In Apnl 2011 she was appointed Head of Retail
Distnbution and Intermedianes at Santander and will take up the position later this year
She was previously an SVP of Discover Financal Services (formerly Morgan Stanley)
Charlotte brings extensive financial and international growth management expenence
with her to BBC Worldwide She 1s a member of the Finance Committee of Oxford
University Press, a Trustee of the chanty First Story and Governor of Nottingham Trent
University

Zann Patel

Non-
executive
Director

31 January 2006

Zann Patel joined the BBC in 1998 as Group Financial Controller, becoming Chief
Financial Officer in December 2004 Before joining the BBC, Zarnn traned as a
chartered accountant waith KPMG, where she gained 15 years' expenence working with
multinational corperations across the industnal and commercial sectors Zann s also a
Govemnor of the University of the Arts in London and a Trustee of the BBC Pension
Scheme

Tim Weller

Non-
executive
Director

26 Apnl 2010

Tim Weller is Chief Financial Cfficer of Cable@Wireless Worldwide plc and a member of
its Board of Directors He was Chief Financial Officer for United Utilihes ple from July
2006 and played a key role in strategically realigning the group prior to the £1 8bn sale
of Umited Utiihes Electnoity Tim's career began at KPMG where he became Partner in
the Infrastructure Audit and Accounting Group in 1987 before Jjoining the Granada Group
plc where he was Director of Financiat Control Tim has been a Non-executive Director
of the Carbon Trust since 2007

Jane Earl

Company
Secretary
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BBC Worldwide Executive

Name

Background

Marcus Arthur

Managing Director,
Brands, Consumers
& New Ventures

Marcus manages the development of our major global brands, our consumer relatonships and some of
our nascent, high-potential businesses He began his career in advertising sales, joiming BBC Worldwide
in 1991 and the BBC Magazines Board in 2001 Appointed Publkshing Director of Radio Times in 2002,
he served on the boards of our magazine joint-venture businesses Fronthne Ltd, BBC Haymarket
Exhibitions Lid and Galleon Cl Ltd He took up his current role in 2008

Jana Bennett

President,
Worldwide Networks
and Global BEC
Player

Jana 1s responsible for BBC Wordwide's portfolio of TV channels, and the development and roll out of
the commercial global BBC iPlayer Until February 2011 she was Director of BBC Vision, in charge of
BBC Television and Vision Productions Her extensive television career alsc includes being EVP and GM
at Discovery Communications in the USA In 2000 she was awarded an OBE for services to science and
broadcasting

Sarah Cooper

Chief Operating
Officer and Deputy
CEQ

Sarah leads a legal team responsible for the negotiahon of all BBC Worldwde's major acquisittons, joint
ventures and partnerships, as well as all regulatory compliance and nghts acquisition by the company
Since 2008 Sarah has led the Technology team of BBC Worldwde, overseeing our IT infrastructure and
development, and 1$ also responsible for Talent Accounting and BBC Advertising

Helen Jackson

Managing Director,

Helen s responsible for BBC Worldwde's content investment strategy with the BEC and independent

Content & producers, our international production network and talent and brand ventures She was appointed to her
Production current role in December 2010, having previously held the post of BBC Worldwide's Director of
Independents Joining BBC Worldwide more than two decades ago, Helen has built up formidable
commercial expenence of the television sector holding various roles across intemational sales and
distnbution, marketing and content investment
Helen Kellie Chief Marketing Helen joined BBC Worldwide in October 2008 with responsibility for marketing across the BBC
Officer Worldwide businesses, buillding the BBC Worldwide brand and priontising its portfolio of sub-brands

around the world She was previously Director of Marketing Communications and Audiences for BBC
Vision and she has also worked around the world for household products company Reckitt Benckiser ple

Steve Macallister

President, Sales &
Distnbution

Steve took up this role in 2007 and 15 responsible for the exploitation around the wortd of our catalogue
of BBC and ndependently produced content He began his career in advertising sales, later moving io
television exports covering Europe, Asia Pacific and the Middle East with the Wait Disney Company
Pnor to joining BEBC Worldwde, he was Senior Vice President and Managing Director of Buena Vista
International Television for the Asia Pacific region

Paul Dempsey

Managing Director,
Consumer Products

Paul 1s Chief Executive of our video business 2 entertain, compnsing DVD and DTO He s also
responsible for our music business, licensed products, book publishing partnerships and direct-to-
consumer retail sales His sales and marketing expenence includes Mars Confectionery and Sales
Drirector of Frontline Ltd He joined BBC Waorldwide in 1998 as UK Sales Director, was appointed Director
of Audio & Music in 2006 and took up his current role in 2008

Charlotte Elston

Director of
Communications

Charlotte tock up her role in January 2010 She began her career with Edelman PR in Londen, and spent
seven years at Brunswick, the international corporate communications agency In 2003 she was
appointed Head of Communications at Pearson plc and was Group Communications Director at Aegis
Group plc from 2005 to 2009

Michelle Emmerson

Group HR Director

Michelle i1s responsible for all aspects of BBC Worldwide's people strategy including reward, culture and
employee relations She also manages business continuity, health and safety, and facilibes
management Micheile joined the BBC in January 2009 from EMI Music where she held a number of
senior posittons including Senior Vice President, Human Resources

David Moody

Director of Strategy

Dawvid 1s responsible for all aspects of the company's direction and objectives, he also leads major deal
negotiations and business reviews From 2005 to 2009 he combined this role with that of Managing
Director of Digital Media, growing our digital activities from a start-up position to the business area it 1s
today He began his career with strategy consultants The LEK Partnership and joined the BBC in 2002
as Commercial Director for BBC Ventures Group, before mowving to BBC Worldwide in 2004

Peter Phippen

Managing Dhrector,
Magazines

As part of us role Peter 1s Chairman of Bnstol Magazines, Chairman of BBC Haymarket Exhibitions, and
Chawrman of Park Publishing and of Worldwde Media, our joint ventures in Australia and Indta
respectively He is a Cirector of Frontline Ltd and of Dovetail Ltd Currently a Director of the intermational
magazine association FIPP and a Director of the Professional Publishers Association (PPA), Peter joined
BBC Worldwide from IPC in 1987 and was President of BBC Worldwide Amenicas from 1898 to 2001

Herb Scannell

President,
BBC Worldwide
America

Appointed in June 2010, Herb 1s responsible for the company’'s US and Canadian business Formerly
Vice Chairman of MTV Networks and President of Nickelodeon Networks, he oversaw all creative and
business operations for a portfolic of brands including number-cne rated Nickelodeon, TV Land, Spike
TV and Noggin Herb was most recently CEQ of Next New Networks, a digital media company he co-
founded n 2006, which was recently acquired by Google
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Directors’ Report

The Cirectors present therr report and the audited consolidated financial statements of BBC Waorldwide Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary
undertakings (together the “Group”) and the Group's interest in assoctated undertakings and joint ventures for the year ended 31 March 2011

Principal activities of the Group

The tracing activittes of the Group focus on the acquisition, development, explotation, licensing and sale of intellectual property Rights are acquired
from the BBC and from independent owners of intellectual property and are exploited through a number of businesses, both wholly-owned and partly-
owned through joint ventures, across multiple formats These businesses are Channels, Content & Production, Digital Entertainment, Brands,
Consumers & New Ventures, Sales & Distnbution, Consumer Products, and Magazines

Performance review

A review of business performance, incfuding hikely fulure developments, i1s given on pages 12 to 14 Further mformation which fulfils the Business
Rewview requirements by reference s set out in the Governance Report on pages 25 {o 32

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the execubion of the Group's strategy are subject to a number of nsks The key business risks and uncertainties
affecting the Group are discussed in the Govermnance Report on pages 25 to 32

Results and dividends
The consolidated profit after taxation for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was £161 7Tm (2010 £87 9m)

Dividends of £83 4m (2010 £32 1m) were paid during the year In addition, the directors propose a further dividend in respect of the year of £34 5m
(2010 £41 5m), resulting in a total dividend of £76 4m (2010 £73 6m) in respect of the financial year The dividend will be paid 1n the year ending
31 March 2012

Acquisitions and disposals

Dunng the financial year the Group purchased the remainder of the shares which it did net already own in Lonely Planet The Group also disposed of iHs
interest n Arimal Planet Full detais of the Group's acquisthions and disposals are included in the Chief Financial Officers Review

Directors
The Directors who served dunng the year are set out in the Governance Report on pages 25 to 32
Payment to creditors ‘

Operating companies are responsible for agreetng the terms and conditions under which business transactions with their suppliers are conducted Itis

Graup policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with these terms, provided that the supplier 1 also complying with all relevant terms |
and condiions Based on the consolidated financial statements creditor days outstanding were 29 days (2010 29 days) at 31 March 2011 Rights

creditors have been excluded for the purposes of this calcutation, as they relate to payments to artists and contnbutors rather than trade creditors

Donations

The Group does not make political donations  Duning the year the Group made donations of £27,000 to vanous chanties (2010 £6,843)
Employee participation

All staff are inwited to meetings which communicate the Group's performance and activities, these events are called "The Bigger Picture”
The Group alsc operates an employee bonus scheme that enables eligible staff to share in the financial performance of the Group

Management holds regular meetings with the recognised trade umions, the Broadcasting Entertainment Cinematography and Theatre Trade Unien
{BECTU) and the Natonal Union of Joumnalists (NUJ)

Diversity

The Group s committed to developing a diverse workforce with opportunities for all, irrespective of race, colour, creed, ethnic or national ongin, gender,
mantal status, sexualty, disability or age

The Group menttors diversity figures and aims to ensure that its workforce reflects the UK’s population Further information on diversity 1s included in the
Governance Report on pages 25 to 32

Disabled people

People with disabilities are fully and fairly considered for vacancies arising within the Group and are given equal opportunities in relation to training,
career development and promotion If an employee becomes disabled while in the employment of the Group and as a result 1s unable to perform his/her
existing job, every effort 1Is made to offer sutable altermnative employment and re-traiming

Development and training

Staff in all areas have opportunities to develop therr skills The Group orgarises comprehensive in-house and extemnal training programmes covering
Jjob-specific skili enhancement, IT software tuttion and management development courses

Going concem

After making enquines, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the business has adequate resources to continue in operational existence far
the foreseeable future, and accordingly the going concermn basis continues to be adopted in the preparation of the accounts Further nformation about
the going concern assumption is given in note 1 to the consoiidated financial statements
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Directors’ interests and indemnities

No Director had any interest in the share capital of the Group at 1 April 2010 or 31 March 2011 No nghts to subscribe for shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other group company were granted to any of the Directors or thewr immediate families, or exercised by them, dunng the financial year

Cirectors’ and Officers’ insurance cover was In place throughout the financial year as appropnate Additionally, an indemnity 1s in place for the Group's
nominated Directors on the board of Australian entities The nominated Directors are held harmless in relation to legal claims aganst them in their
capacity as Directors and Officers, except in the event of fraud, dishonesty or wilful default The indemnity covers all habulity incurred by nominated
Directors and Officers to the fullest extent permitted by Australian law and 1s intended to offer protection to the nominated Cirectors and Officers in
addition to the cover under the Group’s Directors’ & Officars’ insurance policy

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directars’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there 1s no relevant audit
information of which the Group's auditors are unaware and each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to make
themselves aware of any refevant audit information and to establish that the Group's auditors are aware of that information

Auditors

In accordance with Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditors will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP will therefore continue in
office

By order of the Board,
Lf\ﬁL—&—v
Jane Earl Registered office
Company Secretary Media Centre
10 June 2011 201 Wood Lane

London W12 7TQ
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Governance report

Effective govemance is at the heart of everything we do The Board 15 commitied to mamtaming igh standards of accountability, transparency and
probity within the framework of the Four Commercial Critena Protecting the reputation of the BBC end ensunng that we continue to deliver sustainable
retums, while providing the BBC end the wider UK creatve community with an intemabionally recognised export platform, are fundamental to our
purpose

Dunng the year we have made some changes as we confinue our progress towards full comphance with the UK Corporate Governance Code As a
whotly owned subsidiary of a public body there are inevifably some departures from the Code which are explaned within the report, for example, the
requirement to hoid an annual general meeting It 1s also our aim to expiam nof only the extent of our compliance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code, but also our approach to all commercial govemnance activities

Robert Webb QC
Charrman

Relationship with the BBC our shareholder

BBC Worldwide i1s the principal commercial subsidiary of the BBC and has a first-look agreement relating to BBC in-house production This gives BBC
Worldwide the first opportunity to bid for commercial nghts in BBC programmes All negotiations are held on an arm’s-length basis with the BBC's
Commercial Agency which represents the BBC's interests The Commercial Agency 1s free to, and often does, reject BBC Worldwide's purchase offerif
better terms can be secured elsewhere In addition, a proportion of BBC programme nghts do not fall within the first look and are offered on the open
market, providing an external benchmark

Whilst BBC Worldwide operates as a separate company, we follow the principles set out in the BEBC Royal Charter and Agreement and the Trust
Protoco! C4 — Commercial Services (May 2010} and the BBC Trust s Commercial Review (November 2009)

In particular, BBC Worldwide must comply with the Four Commercial Cntena (4CC), which stem from the BBC Royal Charter and Agreement, requinng
all the BBC's commercial activities to

. Be commercially efficient

. Fit with the BBC's Public Purposes

. Not jeopardise the good reputation of the BBC or the value of the BBC brand

+  Comply with BBC Farr Trading Guidelines and the requirement not to distort the market

The BBC Trust's Commercial Review proposed that the current requirement for BEC Worldwide to "fit wath the BBC's public purposes” should be
supplemented with an additional assessment arcund betng “consistent” with them There are a number of formal and informal arrangements that enable
information to be cascaded to both the BBC Trust and BBC Executive

As a wholly owned subsidiary of the BBC, there 1s no requirement for the Directors to seek annual re-efection, nor do we hold a formal annual general
meeting The company s required to present an annuzl review of performance to both the BBC Trust and the BBC Executive

4CC and Falr Trading framework

The 4CC approvals framework embedded within BBC Worldwide's governance structure ensures that key projects and investments are subject to
ngorous evaluation, ensuring compliance with each of the 4CC pnor to completion or launch In addition a 4CC Compliance Report 1s submitted
annually to the BBC Executive Beard and the BBC Trust

BBC Far Trading arrangements have been accredited with the ISO 9001 2008 quality standard In December 2010, the Bnlish Standards Institute
confirmed that these procedures were continuing to operate effectively The BBC Trust commussions independent auditors, currently Deloitte, to
undertake an annual Fair Trading Audit [n its report pubhished in June 2010, Deloitte did not \dentify any specific Fair Trading audit nsks in relation to
B8BC Worldwade for the year ended 31 March 2010 Further details of the audit and cpinion can be found in the BBC Annual Report and Accounts for
201011
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BBC Worldwide's governance framework

1_Leadership
Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic objectives for the company and for monitonng progress against those objectives The Board reviews
both business and financial performance with a view to ensuring that the company has sufficient resources to execute the strategy effectively The
Board 15 accountable to the BBC in terms of delivenng financial performance and pretecting the longer-term financial return in the form of dwidends The
Investment Guidelines (the company’s policies for approving mvestment and expenditure) provide the framework for controlling the governance
processes and providing clearty delegated authonties and robust processes

The Chairman and Chief Executive

There is a clear separation of the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive, which is set out tn waiting and has been adopted by the Board A copy
can be found on the BBC Worldwide website

The Chairman’s pnnapal role is to lead the Board and to ensure that it works effectively and through ds vanous committees The Chairman is also
responsible for setting the Board agenda and promoting a culture of healthy debate and challenge The Chairman is also required to sit on the BBC
Executive Board as a Non-executive Director

Robert Webb, our Chawman, 1s thus a Non-executive Director on the BBC Executive Board The Chairman has a fixed term of appointment untl
31 December 2012 as Charman of BBC Worldwide which may be extended by mutual agreement subject to the consent of the Director-General of the
BBC The terms of the employment contracts for the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer are set out in the Remuneration Report

Non-executive Directors

The independent Non-executive Directors serve initially for a term of two years which may be extended subject to satisfactory performance and
agreement from the shareholder The two Public Service Non-executive Directors, Nicholas Eldred and Zann Patel, are our shareholder's nominees on
the BBC Worldwide Board Neither Nicholas Eldred nor Zann Patel has a fixed term appointment, however, both appointments may be replaced at any
time by the shareholder The Board has not appointed a semor independent Non-executive Director

Independence

The Board considers each of the Non-executive Directors to be independent in character and judgment Charlotte Hogg and Tim Weller do not have any
relationships or circumstances which are hikely to affect or could appear to affect their judgment and are therefore considered to be totally independent
Nicholas Eldred and Zann Pate] are employees of the ultimate parent, and, as previously mentioned, the Chaiman i1s also a Non-executive Director on
the BBC Executive Board

Insurance indemnities

The company maintains hability insurance for its Directors and Officers which 1s renewed on an annual basis The company has also entered into deeds
of indemnity wath its Directors

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary reports directly to the Chairman All Directors have access 10 the advice and services of the Company Secretary who acts as
Secretary to the Board and its committees The Company Secretary 1S accountable to the Board for ensunng that Board processes and corporate
governance practices are followed Directors are also given access to independent professional advice at the company’s expense where they consider
such advice 1s necessary to enable them to fulfil their responsibilities

Tenureg of office

Three Directors have served for over three years, one Director for between one and three years, and three Directors for less than one year
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2 _Effectiveness

Board composition and appointments
Durng the current financial year Simon ClIit and Thomas Geitner retired from the Board having served as independent Non-executive Directors for four

years Sharon Baylay, who was one of the BBC public-service nominated Directors, retired from the BBC on 26 November 2010 Neil Chugan, the CFQO,

resigned on 17 June 2010 to join the Shine Group External headhunters were engaged to undertake searches for replacements for each of these
positions and job descriptions for the new roles were agreed

Charlotte Hogg joined the Board on 24 September 2010 As stated in last year's report, Tim Weller joined the Board on 26 Apnl 2010 In addition, Philip
Vincent was appointed as CFO following a selection exercise Philip was previously Deputy CFO of BBC Worldwmde His appointment commenced on 1
December 2010

On joining the Board, each of the Directors undertook a formal induction programme This 1s designed to grve them an understanding of each of the
strategic objectives and how these will be delivered within the context of the governance structure

The current members of the BBC Worldwade Board are shown on page 21 together wath details of their external commitments
Board attendance

Remuneration Audit

Board Nominations Committee Committee Committee

Robert Webb Fir 22 6/6 -
Sharon Baylay 3/5 - - -
Neil Chugarm 2/2 - - -
Simon Clift 214 B - -
Nicholas Eldred 77 2/2 - 414
Thomas Geitner 3/5 - - -
Charlotte Hogg* 3/4 - - 11
Zann Patel 57 - 6/6 . 23
John Smith 717 2/2 - -
Phihp Vincent 2/2 - - -
Tim Weller* 517 - - 3/3

* The Board calendar had been set before these Directors were appointed and they each notified in advance of their non-avatabiity for meetings

3. How the BBC Worldwide Board operates

The Board has a schedule of matters reserved for its attention and the Company Secretary also maintains a forward agenda of matters requining
discussion and/or approval

Financlal and risk management

The Board receives regular updates on the company s financal posihion, agrees the budget, and monitors nsk management and financial controls One
1ssue that the Board examined in some detail duning the year was the imparrment of the Lonely Planet investment and financial instruments The
implementation of the new Bnbery Act was also discussed at Board level and the Board asked management {o engage auditors to test the adequacy of
the procedures in place The restricted access to the debt market and the limited availability of headroom was also monitored by the Board during the
year and the Board asked for greater wisibility of cash flow and hedging

Corporate transactions

Vanous corporate transactions were presented to the Board including the exercise by Tony and Maureen Wheeler of their put option in respect of the
outstanding equity in Lonely Planet not then owned by BBC Worldwade Following the exercise of the option, Lonely Planet became a wholly owned
subsidiary of BBC Worldwide The dispesal of BBC Worldwade's interest in the Animal Planet and People &Arts joint ventures was successfully
completed The Board also recewed regular updates on the potental partnenng of the Magazines business Special Board meetings are called where
necessary to review the specific detall of major transactions

Business oversight

At each Board meeting the Chief Executive presents his report on all aspects of the company's strategy and performance in the presence of the BBC
Worldwide Executive Commuttee (WEX) Each of the Managing Directors has the opporturuty to attend Board meetings and to comment on their
business performance In addition, the Board receives a report from each of the businesses At regular intervals the businesses make presentations to
the Board on specific Inttiatives

Legal and governance issues

At each Board meeting the chief operating officer presents a report on legal, editonal and far-trading issues The Board approves each quarterly fair-
trading return which 1s then submitted to the BBC Recognising the importance of editonal and reputational 1ssues, the Board members received a
condensed version of our Inspire Trust editonal standards traiming which 1s mandatory for every employee

People and succession

The Board held a hal{-day session on people management and succession planning Three senior executives had resigned dunng the year and the
Board played an active part in supporting the Chief Executive in filling these important business positions Health and safety updates are presented to
the Board and a specific update was prowvided to the Board in March following the earthquake and tsunami in Japan relating to our employees in Tokyo
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Board Committees

The board delegates to its commuittees as set out below
Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee 1s chared by Robert Webb, Nicholas Eldred and John Smith are members The committee 1s responsible for reviewang the
composition of the BBC Worldwide Board and for proposing new Directors to the Board, and to the BBC Executive Board and the BBC Trust No formal
Board evaluation has taken place dunng this year as a consequence of the number of new Directors who have been appointed Dunng the year the
committee recommended changes to the membership of the Audit Committee and was directly involved in the engagement of external headhunters and
the appointment of the new Directors

Under the terms of reference (available on our company website) the appointment of the Charman and the Chief Executive are conditional upon the
specific approval of the Director-General of the BBC |

The Nominations Committee 1s not fully comphant with the UK Corperate Governance Code Given the company's status as a wholly owned subsidiary
of the BBC we believe, at the current ime, the members of the committee are appropriate The Company Secretary supports the activities of the
committee

Remuneration Committee

The UK Corporate Governance Code recommends that the Remuneration Commuittee should compnse three independent Directors Robert Webb
chairs the committee and Charlotte Hogg and Zann Patel are members Given the close relationship with the 8BC we believe the membership of the
committee to be appropnate to the company in its current evolution

The duties of the committee inctude determining the framework for the remuneration of the Chief Executive, CFC and WEX to ensure that members of
the Executive management are provided with appropnate incentives to encourage enhanced performance in a fair and responsiblie manner The
committee regularty reviews the appropnateness and relevance of remuneration pohcies as well as the individual packages of each WEX member

The committee also approves the design of, and determines targets for, performance-related pay schemes and any tong-term incentive programmes |t
1s responsible for estabhshing the criterta for selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference for remuneration consultants who adwise the
committee The commitiee also 1s responsible for ensuring that members have reliable and up-to-date information about remuneration in other
companies, parhcularty in the media environment The terms of reference for the committee are available on our company website

A full report of the remuneration policies and activities of the committee, chared by Raobert Webb, can be found on pages 33 to 39 The Company
Secretary and the Group HR Director support the activities of the committee and attend every meeting by inwitation

Charlette Hogg was appointed to the committee on 1 Apnl 2011
BBC Worldwide Executive Committee

The BBC Worldwide Executive Committee (WEX) meets weekly and 1s chaired by John Smith  John Smith, Philip Vincent (CFQ) and the BBC
Worldwide Executives listed on page 22 compnse the core membership of WEX The Company Secretary also attends and supports the activities of the
committee

WEX takes responsibiity for all aspects of the company's activities as delegated to it by the Board WEX 15 alsc responsible for devising and
implementing the strategy which it proposes to the Board for approval Every week, WEX concentrates on market, competitor and technology
developments and these are supplemented with detalled presentations and workshops on new and future technology innovations such as the Apple
1IPad, connected TV and smartphones which will all impact our businesses n the future The development of the global BBC iPlayer continues to be
reviewed and assessed Business developments and relationships are monitored including our relationships with existing and potential partners - for
example, UKTV and the independent production community Customer refationship management has also been a focus dunng the year

To reflect the investment in the USA, WEX accompanied the Board to New York in January 2011 and received presentations from the BBC Amenica

channels and Los Angeles production teams together with external US medta experts QOur employees are fundamental to our success and WEX

devotes significant time to reviewing the framework for pay and reward, succession planning, training and development, and how our Values are

embedded wathin the culture of the company Following the launch of the Aspire programme (which targets and offers aspirational employees a year- '
long development pregramme with a WEX member as mentor) each successful Aspire candidate presented their business project at a WEX meeting .

WEX delegates to a Content Investment Commuttee, which 1s responsible for approving programme and product investments of between £0 5m and
£2 Om, and to the Investment Review Group, which approves other financial commitments between £1 Om and £2 Om Both these committees are
chared by the CFO Each business has authonty for approving non-content budgeted spend up to £1m
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Accountabtlity and risk
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee 1s chaired by Tim Weiller, Nicholas Eldred and Charlotte Hogg are members The commitiee 1s responsible for monitoning the
integnty of the financial statements including cntical accounting policies and estimates The committee spends time reviewing emerging 1ssues and
understanding the impact of matters such as impaiments and exchange-rate implications The committee also reviewed hedging and treasury policies
together wath tax compliance

The Talent Accounting department at BBC Worldwide 1s responstble for paying royalties to contnbutors, independent producers and third-party profit
participants, from sales of programmes and many other activities such as live events and games The committee receives an annual report detailing the
accuracy and tmeliness of payments to talent and producers

The commiitee also reviews the effectiveness of systems for internal control and reporting, together wath those ensunng adequate procedures are in
place for staff to raise concems |t regularly reviews the nsk profile of the company, focusing on key nsks as appropnate The implementation of the
Bnbery Act 2010 has been considered closely durning the year and, following a review of the Whistle Blowing procedures, a campaign to ncrease
awareness was undertaken both i the UK and overseas The enhanced powers of the Information Commussioner also resuited in the committee asking
the management team to review data protection and information secunty

The committee also undertook a review of the effectiveness of the KPMG extemal audit The committee was satsfied with the performance of the audit
team and welcomed changes in its key members in ine with KPMG's policy of regulary refreshing its teams The policy for non-audit services is
reviewed on an annual basis The committee also reviews the independence of KPMG and receives confirmatien that such independence has not been
compromised in accordance with ISA{UK&!) 260 and the APB's Ethical Standard § Representatives from KPMG attend each of the audit commitiee
meetings and the committee meets regularty with them pnvately without the Chief Executive, CFO and management representatives being present

The committee reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function Internak audit resources are provided 1o BBC Worldwide wia the BBC and the
members of the committee meet pnvately wath the BBC Director of Risk and Assurance without the CEO, CFO and management representatives being
present

The committee 1s supported 1n its activites by the Company Secretary, the BBC Director of Risk and Assurance, and the company's Risk Adwisory team
The committee submits quarterly returns to the BBC Executive Audit committee detailing the key 1ssues discussed by the committee The terms of
reference for the committee can be found on the company's website The committee is not fully compliant with the UK Corporate Governance Code as
not all the members of the committee are independent Given the company's status as wholly owned subsidiary of the BEC we believe at the current
time the members of the committee are appropnate

Zann Patel resigned as a member of the Audit Committee on 22 November 2010
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Risks and uncertainties
Financing/uses of cash

Potential impact

Mitigation

increased challenge of
balancing capital
repatnation to the BBC
agamst investment in
long-term business
growth

BBC Worldwide may not have the resources
or the agility to take full advantage of
emerging market opportunities

Rigorous approach to investment approvals and the allocation of capital to
projects to ensure the maximum value return

Monitoring performance of investments and ensunng underlying trading
performance 15 suffictent to fund any new investment pnor to commitment

Ongoing dialogue with the BBC regarding BBC Worldwide investment
needs and future returns agamnst the BBC’s immediate requirements and
short-term returns

Competitive/market pressure

Increased competitive
pressures ansing from
industry consolidation and
Increased competitor
focus on key markets

Increased competition for key content and
talent

Reduced trade and consumer demand for
products and services, including broadcast
and format nghts, advertising and consumer

Building own-production capabiity, both wholly owned and through
partnerships with selected independent production compantes

Diverse portfolio and global business

Ensure that performance 1s maximised from existing businesses through

Tougher trading products recruitment and retention of specialist staff and ongoing review of strategy
conditions In major and performance against intemnal targets and external benchmarking
markets Reduced access to high-quality content,
affecting sales catalogue and wider Dnving growth from emerging formats and markets to complement
intellectual property (P} explotation established businesses
opporunities, and applying greater
downward pressure on pncing
| Strateglc execution

Execution of business
prionties may not meet
strategic targets

Financial performance below anticipated
levels or not delivenng adequate returns on
investment

Future expansion outside core areas may
Increase company nsk profile

Ownership of strategic nsk held by CEQ, progress on strategic delivery
regularly reviewed by WEX and the Board

Regular review of strategy in the context of the market and prompt
rewision of plans to reflect changing circumstances

Diversified business portfolio, wath a number of partnership agreements in
place, hmiting overall nsk exposure

Technology

Changing technology may
undermine/replace core
businesses

Radtcal shift in consumption habits or
disruptive technology rendenng business
models obsolete

Systems and processes unable to provide
support for changing business

Increased importance of digital rights and
abihity to exploit IP In a vanety of formats

Digital business skills required to manage
business to consumer

Strategic focus on digital services, integration of digital teams into core
business divisions and partnering with technology innovators

Focus of investment in growth businesses, including digital formats and
moving away from more traditional hard formats

Chief Technology Officer and Digital Director now in place to ensure all
digital strands of actiwty are brought together and opportunities are not
missed

. Reputation

Unethical activities
(including those of
supplers and service
providers) that are not
consistent with the BBC
Values in respect of
ettucal standards, may
Jeopardise the value of the
brand

Adverse publicity or damage to BBC
Worldwade's or to the BBC's reputation

Loss of revenue in key terntones or on key
brands

Risk assessment of third parties, including due diligence, training and
contractual obligations Active monitonng of suppliers and vendors by
management, including site visits

Comphance with the Four Commercial Cntena (4CC) reviewed annually
by the BBC and wath the BBC's editonal policies

Commercial Policy provides 4CC and editonal fraining to staff All new or
changed commercial service proposals require a 4CC comphance
assessment to be approved prior to launch or completion

Reputational safeguards built into agreements with joint-venture partners
and equity investments (eg, the appointrnent of an editonal guardian and
prescnbed product approval processes)

Common Values with BBC incorperated into the ethical sourcing
programme, requinng all icensees and vendors to operate to a high
ethical standard

Monitonng of third parties bult into intemal audit planning and execution
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Risks and uncertainties
Comphance

Potential impact

Mitigation

Challenge of complying
with statutory obligations
and regulatory
requirements in all
countrres in which we
operate, including data
protection

Failure to obtain required

Failure to comply wath tax and statutory
accounting requirements could affect the
ability to continue to operate within a
junsdiction

Non-compliance, resulting i fines, htigation
or prosecution

Reputatienal nsks associated with non-
comphance, (ncluding loss of trust from

Compliance and other business nsks monitored in each business area
and regularly revtewed by Risk Management and Intemal Controls

Committee

Respensibility for tax compliance, including transfer pncing negotiations,
taken by the BBC Tax and accounting compliance overseen by BBC

Worldwide Audit Committee

Company Secretanat and the BBC monitor adherence to key statutory and

regulatory filing obligations

approvals
customers when handling personal data
9P Robust approach to data protection and information secunty, including

procedures to ensure comphance, both mtemally and by thurd party
service providers, and mandatory data protection traiming for all staff

Becoming subject to future enquines or
proceedings from regulatory authonties

Currency

Exposure to fluctuations in
major currencies and
interest rates, particularly
against the key currencies
of the euro, and US dollar
and Australian dollar

Adverse impact on cash flows and reported
financial results

Risk-averse approach to the management of foreign-currency trading

Clear hedging policy to minimise volatility in the financial results

Potential to undermine val f key assets
© vallie ol key asse Hedging policy reviewed and challenged by Audit Committee

International expansion

Inherent nsks tnvolved
with intemational
expansicn and gverseas

Complexity of doing business in multiple
terntones and markets, including ongoing
control over overseas activities

Executive Board members grven regional accountability and regional
Executive Vice Presidents to be put in place for each region (dedicated
management already in ptace for USA and Australia)

markets
Potential falure to comply with specific local ~ Market and risk assessments from local experts including due diligence on
legislation third parties
Inability to attract quality staff and ensure Rewview of controls and governance for major acquisitions
staff act in accordance with BBC Worldwide
Values Compulsory training in all areas for editonal and commercial compliance
for nominated roles
Challenge of ensuring BBC Values are
protectegd in face 0f| I(?cal custo; and Implementation of polictes and procedures that underpin BBEC Worldwide's
practice values
Internal audt plan takes into account existing international operatons and
areas of expansion
Paople

Increased focus on management development and traiming, with new
programmes and appraisal system in place

Economuc, regquiatory and
political constraints may
affect our ability to recrut,
retain and motivate
personnel

Reduction in overall competitiveness,
ncludmg loss of key skills, relationstups and

knowd n 1N 10N
owtedge, and business disnuptio Ahgnment of incentives to reward supenor performance

Higher acguisition and retention costs
9 i Succession planning in place for senior managers and WEX plan

Increased competition In reviewed by Board

the market to attract
skilled staff

Business continuity

Exposure of UK and
internattonal offices to
natural disasters,
terronsm and other
unforeseen events

Health and safety nsks to staff Business Contmnuity officer reporting to nominated Executive Sponsor

Disruption to operations, infrastructure and
loss of revenue

Extensive continuity plans encompassing international offices and
business operations

Rolling plan of testing and rehearsal at all levels of the organisation

Fraud and corruption

Increased levels of fraud
seen across busmesses
as result of economic
downturmn

Financial loss and impact on reputation and
attractiveness as a business partner

Anti-bnbery and corruption framework in place supported by zero-
tolerance messages, compulsory trarning and communication programrme

and detection
Increased international scrutiny and joint
prosecutions Framework subject to independent external assessment
Increase in global ant-

corruption legisiation Financial penalties, and monitoring

procedures in event of incident occurning

Assessment procedures to identify key nsk areas

Executive sponsor in ptace and regular reperting to Audit Cormmitiee and
Executive Board

Robust controls framework subject to regular audit review
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Magazines Annual Review

Editonal Adwisory Boards (EABs) work alongside all BBC magazines and websites and play a key role in ensuring that the magazine portfolio reflects
the BBC's public purposes and editonal values The EABs are overseen by an Annual Review Panel (ARP), consisting of external experts and senior
representatives from BBC Magazines, BEC Vision and BBC Audio and Music 1{1s chared by the BBC's Chief Adwiser, Editonal Policy

The ARP conducted its sixth review of BBC magazine output dunng the course of 2010711 {the first was completed in May 2006) and concluded that,
overall, BBC magazines are quality publications, which display onginality and editonal integnty The portfolio 1s strong, with successful, varied titles
which reflect a range of iewpoints and interests The EAB system continues to be a considerable success, with members offenng invaluable adwvice and
insights Connectivity with BBC output remains particutarly strong in the pre-school and pre-teen titles, it 1s good in Gardeners’ World magazine, Good
Food, Lonely Planet, BBC Music, Countryfile magazine, BBC Wildlife and Radio Times Further details on the Editonal Framework can be found on
pages 17 and 18

Brand Protection

BBC Worldwide's brand protection team continues (together, where appropnate, with local inveshgators and enforcement authonties, including customs,
trading standards and police} to investigate nfnngements of the Group's and its partners’ intellectual property nights It undertakes takedowns, seizures
and prosecubions around the world, to help control the market for pirate audiovisual products, counterfert goods and other infringements, with an
increasing emphasis on online infnngements, notably on auction and content-shanng sites BBC Worldwide 1s a member of vanous industry and
enforcement bodies, including the Anti-counterfeiting Group, Telewision Agamnst Piracy and Intemet Enforcermnent Group in the UK, ABAC-BAAN In
Belgium, and SNBREACT in the Netherlands The team also manages trade-mark protection across the BBC Worldwide brands globally, including the
clearance and registration of brands and resolving conflicts with other brands

Respecting the privacy of individuals

BBC Wordwide engages wath millions of ndividuals on a daily basis This wll continue to grow as the company creates more direct relationstups wath
consumers The organisation is committed to respecting and protecting the pnvacy of its customers and audiences as well as that of employees,
contnbutors and talent

BBC Worldwide and its subsidianes are registered with the Infermation Commissioner’s Office as Data Controliers and are regulated (n the UK by the
Data Protection Act 1988 and the ELU Data Protectton Directive As a global organisation with a significant international following, BBC Worldwide also
complies with local data protection requirements in the ternitones in which it operates

BBC Worldwide stnves for the best systems in data protectron and information secunity comphance At the heart of this are the eight prninciples of the
Data Protection Act With brands such as Doctor VWho and CBeebies, the organisation atiracts a youthful audience and BBC Worldwide adopts a stnct
approach when handing any data provided in relation to minors
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Report on Directors' remuneration

This report sets out BBC Worldwide's remuneration pelicy and details the remuneration receivable by the members of the current Board of Directors
in respect of 2010/11 BBC Worldwide has no statutory requirement to prepare a Directors’ Remuneration Report Nevertheless, on a voluntary basts
the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 of the Large- and Medum-sized Companses and Groups {(Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 have been followed, where relevant, in prepanng this report The BBC Worldwide Remuneration Committee (“the Commuttee™ also
used as a benchmark the requirements of the Listing Rules

Letter from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

BBC Worldwade Limited 15 a commercial orgarisation, owned by a public service broadcaster, the BBC Its remit 1s to exploit BBC intellectual property
and other high-qualtity content arcund the world in order to deliver strong returns to its shareholder which supplement the licence fee

The Committee beheves that a remuneratron framework that 1s effective in rewarding the architects of BBC Worldwide's success has a part to play in
secunng strong future financial performance, and is in the best interests of both BBC Worldwide and its shareholder This 1s achieved by providing an
overall package that 1s market competitive, supports the retention of its key staff and incentivises the achievement of stretching growth targets

The pnncipal tenets of BBC Worldwide's remuneration strategy are to

+ Adopt a commercial approach to pay, with emphasis on performance-related pay, without leading the market
» Ensure that overall remuneration 1s affordable and appropriately linked to absolute profit growth
* Balance the public purposes of the BBC with the need to attract and retain key staff in an industry where competition for talent 1s fierce

Dunng the year the Committee made a number of changes to the company's incentrve arrangements to create better aignment between
management and shareholder interests and to dnive growth in line waith the company’s five-year strategic plan Full details of the new schemes are
provided in the main body of the report and the key changes are summansed as follows

+  Toincentivise continuing strong performance, we placed an increased emphasis on vanable pay, which now accounts for up to 67% of an
execulive’s compensation package (excluding penston)

+ Inorder to retain staff, we introduced a new long-term performance plan, which provides value to participants if the sustained profit and growth
targets of the five-year plan are achieved

+ Tofocus on delivering absolute growth in profitability year on year, rather than exceeding a target based on the current year budget, we revised
BBC Worldwide's Annual Bonus targets

*  To reward the management team for delivery of financial results over and above the annual bonus targets, we extended the Annual Bonus
Scheme

The Commuttee 15 confident that these changes will support supenor performance and are well aligned with BBC Worldwde's strategic objectives and
growth in value for our shareholder, the BBC

RobertWebb QC
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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Remuneration Committee

Composition

Dunng the year the BBC Worldwide Remuneration Committee compnsed Raobert Webb (Chairman) and Zann Patel, both of whom are Non-executive
Directors On 1 Apnl 2011 Charlotte Hogg was appotnted to the Committee as a Non-executive Director

Summary terms of reference can be found on page 28 in the Corporate Governance section
Advisors
The Committee abtains advice from vanous sources In order to ensure it makes informed decisions The Committee’s main advisors are

=~ Delorte LLP retained on a consultancy basis to advise on changes fo both the annual and long-term incentive schemes
+  Towers Watson provided comparative benchmark data on executive remuneration

At the invitation of the Committee, the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the Human Resources Director, the Company Secretary and both
the BBC's Director of People and Head of Reward provided assistance to the Commuttee dunng the financial year

No indvidual 1s responsible for setting hus/her own remuneration
Activities 1n 2010/11

The Committee’s activities included

» Determiming individual award levels for the BBC Worldwide Executive Committee based on benchmarking of roles and the market

+ Setting Annual Bonus targets for 2010/11

» Approving performance against targets for the 2010/11 Annual Bonus and long-term incentive schemes, and the resulting payments to
indnvaduals

+ Approving the design and implementation of a new long-term Profit Shanng Plan to replace the existing Long-term incentive Plan

« Oversight of the implications for BBC Worldwide staff of changes to the BBC Pension Plan

Executive Directors

Full details of the composition of the BBC Worldwide Executive Committee are shown on page 22 This report summanses the remuneration of the
relevant BBC Worldwide Board members

Changes to the BBC Worldwide Board, Executive members

On 17 June 2010, Neill Chugani tendered his resignaton following his decision to join Stune Group it was agreed that it was no longer appropnate
that Mr Chugant should continue to fulfil his operational responsibilities and he was placed on a penod of garden leave unttl 31 August 2010

Philip Vincent was appointed acting CFO on 17 June 2010 and was formally appointed to the Board as CFO on 1 December 2010
Full details of both individuals’' remuneration during the year are disclosed on page 38

There were no other changes to the Executive Directors of the BBC Worldwide Board

Our reward strategy has been formulated in the context of the following

= BBC Worldwide's status as a commercial entity with no access to public or guaranteed funding of any description

« The need to balance the pubiic purposes of the BBC with a high-performance culture, by incentivising individuals to optimise performance and
achieve growth in line with the company's strategic priorities

« The requirement for BEC Worldwide to deliver absolute growth and substantal cash retumns to its shareholder, the BBC

« That being a globa! business we therefore compete globally for the best talent, other compettors are often able to offer incentives not available
to BBC Worldwide such as equity-based compensation
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Components of reward

The following table summanses the key fixed and vanable components of reward

Performance

Elernent Objective period Performance conditions

Base Salary Maintain a compehtive package at the median Not Rewviewed annuatly taking into account the industry in which
of the market for all levels recognizing applicable BBC Worldwde operates, performance of the execulive,
indwidual contnbution and the scope of the indnidual responsibilties and affordabiity
role

Annual Incentives Reward achievernent of short-term strategic 1 year Subject to achievement of challenging profit' and mdnadual
goals and profit growth perfomance targets

Bonus Matching Align interest of management with the 3 years Participants are invited to defer up to 50% of their annual bonus

Scheme performance of the company over the longer for three years wath a potential matching award of up to 25% of
term the deferred amount subject to the achievement of a Return on

Capital Employed threshold

Profit-shanng Plan Drve profit performance and retums to BBC 3 years Prowvides participants with a share in profits® above a set of
Worldwide's shareholder over the long term, absolute profit hurdles inked to the five-year strategic plan
whilst promoting the retention of key Annual payments commence after three years of participation
management in the plan, with balancing payments made at the end of the

five-year penod

1 Based on operatng profit before specific tems
2 Based on profit after inferest and tax

The diagram below illustrates the balance between fixed and vanable remuneration (excluding penston) for the Executive Directors of the BBC
Worldwde Board for the curmrent financial year

¢+~ Annual bonus scheme

Q

The graph above shows the annual bonus scheme as a % of total remuneration before any deferral into the bonus matching scheme

Base salary

In determining base pay the Commitiee takes into account the base pay of the other organisations with which BBC Worldwde competes for talent, the
affordability of executive rewards, individual responsibilities and the performance of the Executive

The Committee reviews salanes annually Any change in base salary 1s usually effective from 1 July
Annual base salanes of those Executive Directors currently serving on the BBC Worldwide Board from 1 Apnl 2011

«  John Smih Chief Executive £440,000
»  Phiip Vincent Ctuef Financal Officer £250,000

Annual Incentives

Annual incentives are provided through the BBC Worldwide Annual Bonus Scheme in which all staff participate {other than those on sales schemes)
The Chief Executive 1s eligible to receive a core bonus of up to 55% of base pay and the Chief Financial Officer is eligible for a core bonus of up to
40% of base pay The performance conditions are weighted 25% against individual cbjectives with 75% determined by the performance of BBC
Worldwde against stretching profit targets

Following a review of the company's incentive schemes, the following changes have been made to BBC Wordwde’s Annual Bonus Scheme

» Rewsion of the methodology for setting Annual Bonus targets The scheme now seeks to reward for delivenng absolute growth in profitability
year on year, rather than exceeding a target based on the current year budget

»  Modficatien of the performance conditions so that for semor employees, 75% of the bonus opportunity 1s conditional upon the delivery of profit
performance of BBC Worldwide and the balance 1s dependent upon individual performance against pre-determined objectives

* A new element has been added to the scheme to reward senior managers for delivenng financial performance beyond the already stretching
targets set out in the Annual Bonus Scheme This 1s self funding and achieved by creating a pool, calculated as a percentage of profits achieved
above the annual bonus target 80% of this pool s shared across parteipating members All senior managers (above a defined grade) are
eligible to participate in thus element of the scheme The remaining 20% 1s awarded on a discretionary basis for outstanding performance Both
John Smith and Phihp Vincent are eligible to partictpate in this

+ Tota! ndmdual reward under the Annual Bonus Scheme 1s capped at 100% of salary

The company element of the annual bonus awards to be paid in respect of 2010/11 performance reflects the strong performance of BBC Worldwde
dunng the year, including headiine profit growth of 10 3%
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Long-term incentives

Bonus-matching scheme

In previous years up to 2009/10, Executive Directors could voluntanly invest up to 75% of their annual bonus into the now closed Long-term Incentive
Plan (LTIP} which would be eligible for a matching award based on the subsequent performance of the company Two awards remarn outstanding
under this plan the conditional award relating to the penod 2007/08 to 2010/11 which will be paid out in June 2011 and the final award, made in
2008/09 which wall vest in 2011/12

Although the LTIP has now been replaced, performance of the outstanding deferred bonus awards continues to be determined in accordance with the
onginal LTIP cntena Two measures Profit Growth (76% weighting) and Return on Sales Growth (25% weighting) over a three-year penod will be
used to rank BBC Worldwide performance relative to a comparator group of at least 15 other internationat media companies

The comparator group was selected for their mix of business, industry, size and geographical representation (n the current year the composition of
the Group was updated to ensure it continues to reflect as closely as possible BBC Worldwide's business

The constituent companies of the comparator group

Bntish Sky Broadcasting Group plc ITV plc RTL Group

Cablevision Systems Corporation Mediaset SpA Singapore Press Holdings

Comcast Cerporation M6-Metropole Television SA Special Broadcasting Service Corporation
CKx Inc News Corporation The Walt Disney Corporation
Entertanment One Ltd Pearson plc UBM plc

Fup Television Network Inc ProSiebenSat 1 Meda AG Village Roadshow Ltd

Grupo Televisa Relrance MediaWorks Vivend: Group

Matching will be determined on a straight line basis with the top ranking delivening a 100% match and the bottom ranking resulting in the forfeit of 50%
of the total amount deferred

From 2009/10 a new scheme has been introduced, under which directors can defer up to 50% of their annual bonus for three years The deferred
amount 15 then eligible for a 25% matching award at the end of three years, subject 1o a cumulative return on capital employed (ROCE) threshold of
40% over the penod having been met

Profit Sharing Plan
During the year the company’'s Long-term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was replaced with a new Profit Shanng Plan {PSP)

The new plan was ntroduced to better aign reward to BBC Worldwade's long-term strategy, dnve profit performance and deliver strong returns to the
BBC Participants receive an award of units which entitles them to a share of a profit pool each year over the life of the plan The profit poal 1s
calculated as a percentage of profits achieved above a set of absolute profit hurdles, denved from the company's strategic five-year plan Annual
payments commence after three years of participation and equate to 50% of the accumulated pool A balancing payment is then due at the end of the
five-year penod

Profit after interest and tax 1s used as the profit basis for the plan as it aigns management's interests with a key measure for the shareholder To
enable the scheme to be introduced with immediate effect and to replace the pre-existing LTIP scheme, the new scheme has been backdated to
2008/09 wath its first performance paycut due in June 2011 for the three-year performance penod 2008/09 to 2010/11 Balancing payments are due to
be made at the end of the plan Both current Executive Directors waived their outstanding awards from the pre-existing Long-term Incentive Plan to
participate in this new scheme

The annual cash PSP payout 1s capped at 100% of base pay for each participant
Defined benefit schemes

Executive members of the Board are ehgible to participate in the BBC Pension Scheme, which provides for pension benefits on a defined benefit
basis

For an employee joining the Pension Scheme before 1 November 2006, the accrual rate 1s 1/60th of the final pensionable salary for each year of
service with pensionable salary being base pay, adjusted in line with inflation up to retrement However, with effect from 1 Apnl 2011, all future
increases in pensionable salary will be linuted to a macamum of 1% per annum, reflecting the recent changes to the BBC Pension scheme For
employees in this group the normal pensionable age 1s 60 Pension contnbution rates for these employees were inereased from 1 Apnl 2010te 7 5%
(6 75% at 1 Apn! 2009) with a corresponding reduction in employer contnbutions For an employee who joined on or after 1 November 2008 the
accrual rate 15 1 67% of ther pensionable pay for each year of service, adjusted in ine with inflation up to retirement As before, with effect from 1
Apnl 2011 all future increases in pensionable salary will be capped at 1% Participating employees contnbute 4% of their pensionable salary to the
Pension Scheme For employees in this group the normal pensionable age 1s 65

Members of existing BBC pension schemes have been given the opporturity to transfer to a new Career Average Benefits scheme (CAB2011) for
future pension build up and have their pension built up to date deferred in the scheme This deferred pension would bulld up broadly in ine with
inflation Under CAB2011 there 1s no cap on Increases In pensionable salary and employee contributions to the scheme are 6% Transfers must be
made in the penod between 1 April to 31 December 2011

36




B8BC Worldwide Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2011

Report on Directors' remuneration (continued)

Defined benefit schemes (continued)

John Smith and Philip Vincent both have a normal pensionable age of 80 but may continue in employment to age 65 Philip Vincent's pensionable
earnings are subject to a maximum cap of £123,600 No maxmum annual cap 1s applied to John Smith who joined the BBC before 31 May 1989 The
Pension Scheme prowvides for early rebrement on medical grounds and life assurance of four times pensionable pay up to a prescnbed hrmit

Any participating employee who reaches or exceeds the statutory Lifetime Allowance of £1 80m (2010 £1 75m) may opt out of the Pension Scheme
and instead receive a cash supplement

Other benefits
In addition to pension, the other main contractual benefits are a car allowance and private health insurance
Employment contracts

The notice penod of Board Directors serving duning the year are detailed in the table below These are subject to earlier termunation for cause No
payments are made to Directors on termination other than as contractually required If termination anses through redundancy, Board Directors are
entitled to one month's pay for each year of continuing service, subject to a 24-month cap

Date of appointment to BBC Notice perlod Notice period

Worldwida Board from Company frem Director

John Smith 18 March 2005 12 months 12 months
Philip Vincent 1 December 2010 6 months 6 months
Neil Chugam ’ 3 December 2007 12 months 12 months

1 Neil Chugani resigned from BBC Wordwide on 17 June 2010

Outslde interests

Where there 1 no potential for conflict of interest, and with the prior agreement of the Chairman, Executive members of the Board may hold one paid
external directorship Remuneration which anses from directorships may be retained by the Executive This palicy 1s to encourage the take-up of
external Non-executive appointments as part of the Board Directors’ development as well as bringing broader business skills to BBC Worldwde

Dunng the year, John Smith served as a Non-executive Director of Burberry ple, for which he recewved a fee of £65,000 [t1s recognised that BBC
Worldwide's own Non-executive Directors are likely to have other directorships and the restnction regarding pawd external directorships applying to
Executive Directors does not apply to them

Non-executive directors

The BBC Non-executve Directors, Nicholas Eldred, Zann Patel and Sharon Baylay (who ceased to be a Director in November 2010) do not receive
remuneration from BBC Worldwide for the services provided to BBC Worldwide The other Non-executive Directors recesve a fee, determined by the
BBC Trust, reflecting the complexity of the role and the time required to execute the role effectively The fee levels are set with reference to rates paid
by other UK corporations, but at a level such that the Non-executive Directors would not be financially dependent on BBC Worldwide Details are
provided on page 60 The fee levels are rewewed annually on 1 September, the next review being effective from 1 September 2011

Robert Webb receives a fee of £76,500 for his role as Chairman of the Board of BBC Worldwide This 1s in addition to fees received from the BBC and
from BBC Commercial Holdings in respect of tus Non-executive positions on their respective boards Further details are available in the BBC Annual
Report and Accounts 2010/11

Tim Weller and Charlotte Hogg, who were appointed as Non-executive Directors on 26 Apnil 2010 and 24 September 2010 respectively, each holds a
two-year fixed-term contract

Simon CIift, Sharon Baylay and Thomas Geitner ceased to be Directors on 31 October 2010, 26 November 2010 and 31 December 2010 respectively

Non-executive Directors must mantain a register of all external interests that might be seen to affect their ability to perform their ndependent dubes
This register includes declarations of all positions of employment, directorships and voluntary positions as well as interests of close family members (f
relevant and 1s approved by the BBC Worldwide Board at least annually

Current fees of Non-executive Directors to whom a fee 1s payable from 1 Apnl 2011

* Robert Webb £76,500
« Charlotte Hogg £35,700
- Tim Weller £40,800
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Remuneration earned in the year ended 31 March 2011

Matching
scheme for
bBonuses
deferred from Taxable Pension Total Total
£'000 Fee/base pay Annual bonus PSP prior years ? benefits allowance * 2011 2010
Exaecutive Directors
John Smih ' 2 # 440 138 172 134 14 - 898 823
Philip Vingent ® © 83 38 22 - 3 - 146 -
Nenl Chugam * * 8 130 - - - 4 16 150 521
653 176 194 134 21 16 1,194 1,344
Non-executive Directors
Sharon Baylay " ® - - - - . - - .
Simon Clift * 21 - - - - - 21 35
Nicholas Eldred - R - - - - . .
Thomas Geitner *° 27 - - - - - 27 35
Charlotte Hogg " 18 - . - - . 18 _
Zann Patel 7 - - - - . . . "
Raobert Webb 77 - - - - - 77 45
Tim Weller ' 38 - - - - - ag B,
181 - - - - - 181 115
Total 834 176 194 134 21 16 1,375 1,459

10
11
12

in addition to fus annual bonus, the Chief Executive commutted £138,000 or 50% of tus annual bonus into the new Deferred Bonus Plan which
will vest in March 2014 Annual bonus 15 stated net of any deferral into the matching scheme

The Matching payment shown relates to £88,000 of annual bonus which was invesied into the plan in March 2008 and was matched at 52% in
view of the company’s performance over the 2008-2011 penod

Nei Chugari resigned as a Director on 17 June 2010 following his decision to join Shine Group It was agreed with immediate effect that it was
no longer appropnate Mr Chugan: should continue fo fulfil his operational responsibiiities and he was placed on a penod of garden leave untif 31
August 2010 The disciosure reflects his remuneration up to the 31 August 2010

in the context of Pension contnbutions Neil Chugani's earmings are sulyect to a maximum annual hmit of £123,600 per annum (£123,600 for
2009/10) and in accordance with tus contractual terms he was entitled to a cash supplement of 20% of base pay above the annual imst

Philip Vincent was appainted acting CFO on 17 June 2010 and was formally appointed to the Board as CFO on T December 2010 His
remuneration detatled in the table above reflects his remuneration for the penod since his appomntment to the Board on a pro-rata hasts

The BBC introduced a salary sacrifice arrangement on 1 June 2008 for Old and New Benefits members who joined the Pension Scheme before
1 Novernber 2006 This arrangement is also applicable to all Career Average Benefit members Those Directors indicated in the table above
participated in the arrangement From that date, the terms and conditions of employment were changed for those employees opting for the
salary sacnfice amangement and as a resuit employee pension contnbutions made via the Salary sacnfice have been treated as employer
confnbutions, with a corresponding reduction in salary Base salanes for Executive Directors have not been adusted to reflect the impact of the
salary sacnfice The total salary sacnfice by Executive Directors was £38,150 (2010 £33,000)

The BBC Non-executive Directors, Nicholas Eldred, Zann Patel and Sharon Baylay, do not recetve remuneration from BBC Worldwide for the
services provided to BBC Worldwide

Ceased o be a Director on 26 Novermber 2010

Ceased to be a Durector on 31 October 2010

Ceased to be a Director on 31 December 2010

Appomnted on 24 September 2010

Appointed on 26 Apnl 2010
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Deferred bonus potential vesting of outstanding schemes

The potential vesting in 2012, 2013 and 2014 for Executive Directors

Potential
invested
bonus
matching Total potential
Bonus award payment
End of performance invested {maximum) (maximum)
Participant period £ 000 £ 000
a b ath
John Smith March 2012 69 69 138
John Smith March 2013 141 35 176
John Smith March 2014 138 35 173
Penslon entitlements
Annual values Transter values '
Increase in Transfer value Transfer value Increase in
Total accrued accrued of accrued of accrued transfer value
pension at 31 pension over pension at31 pension at 31 less directors
Age as at 31 March 2011 year March 2011 March 2010 contributions
Executive Directors March 2011 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £'000 £ 000
John Smith 53 201 18 3,19 3,250 69
Phulip Vincent 8 41 25 2 234 189 45
Neil Chugar 2 42 5 1 36 26 10

1 The transfer value of accrued pension benefits represents the estimated cost to the Pension Scheme of providing the pension benefits accrued
to date The value is affected by many factors including age, pensionable salary, pensionable service and investment market conditions at the
date of calculation {in accordance with regulations 7 to 7E of the Occupational Pension Schemes Transfer Values Reguiations 1996) it is nota
sum pawd or due to the indnndual and therefore cannot be meanmngfully added to remuneration The effect of the investment market conditions on
the transfer valve vanes according to the member’s age — for older members the caiculation reflects the ywelds on index-inked giits, whilst for
younger members the dividend yield on the FTSE All-Share Index is the more significant determinant

2 Nei Chugani resigned as a Director on 17 June 2010 and left the scheme on 31 August 2010 The figures have been calculated at 31 March
2011 and include Scheme service up to the leaving date of 31 August 2010 The normal retrement age for Nell Chugant is 65 as he joined the
Pension Scheme after T November 2006

3 Philip Vincent was appointed as a Director on 1 December 2010, atthough he joined the Scheme on 14 December 1998 The figures shown
mclude the penod before he was appointed as a Director

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 10 June 2011 and signed on its behalf by

Robert Webb QC
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financia! year Under that law the Drrectors have elected to prepare the
Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and
Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law)

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of
affars of the Group and Company and of their profit or loss for that pernod

In prepanng the Company financial statements, the Directors are required to

= select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

= state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explamned in the
financial statements, and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basts unless It 1s iInappropnate to presume that the Group and the Company will continue
in business

In prepanng the Group financial statements, IAS 1 and the Companies Act require that Directors

« properly select and apply accounting policies,

= present information including accounting pelicies, in a manner that prowvides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information,

= state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

+ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact

of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and finangal performance, and

+ make an assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that ifs financial statements comply
with the Compares Act 2006 They have general responsibility for taking such sieps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other uregulanties

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's website
Legislation in the UK goverming the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions
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Independent Auditors’ report to the members of BBC Worldwide Limited

We have audited the financial statements of BBC Worldwide Limited for the year ended 31 March 2011 set out on pages 42 to 94 The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparatien of the group financial statements 1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopled by the EU The financal reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements 1s applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report ts made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparies Act 2006 Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for
no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this repert, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Respensibifities Statement set out on page 40, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view QOur responsibility i1s to audtt, and express an opinion on, the financial
statements 1n accordance with apphcable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A descnption of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB's website at www frc org uk/apb/scope/private cfm
Opinion on financial statements

In our opintan

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Company's affairs as at 31 March 2011 and of the Group's
profit for the year then ended,

« the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been properly prepared in accerdance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

+ the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compan:es Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financral statements are prepared 1s consistent with the
financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, In our opimion

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not wisited by us, or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

+ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

fhe

Paul Korolklewicz {Senfor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

KPMG LLP

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

10 June 2011
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Continuing

Duscontinued

Continuing Discontinued

apersions operations Total operations operations Total
211 o 2011 010 w010 10
Note £m Em £m £m £m £m
Gross revenue including joint ventures 2 1,0298 1279 1,187 7 944 9 1293 1,074 2
Less Share of revenue of joint ventures (146 1) (45 (1508) (1747 (112) (1859}
Rovenue B837 1234 1,007 1 7702 1181 888 3
Total operating costs 3 (8125 (1100) (9225 (7032) {(1040) (807 2
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 275 01 276 395 06 40 1
Operating profit 98 7 135 1122 106 5 147 1212
Analysed as
Operating profit before specific iterns 2 1435 167 160 2 130 4 148 1452
Impairment of goodwll 12 (338) - {(338) (17 5) - (17 5}
Share of nterest and tax of joint ventures and associates 4 (10 5) 01 {10 4) 94 ()] (9 5}
Other specific tems 4 0 5) {33) (3 8) 30 - 30
987 135 1122 106 5 147 1212
Gain on disposal of Arimal Planet 29 96 4 - 96 4 - - -
Other gains and losses 8 16 - 16 156 - 1586
Finance income 9 05 02 07 01 - 01
Finance expense 9 (92) {0 5) 97 {10 3) {02) (10 5)
Profit before tax & 1880 132 2012 1119 145 126 4
Tax charge for the year 10 (30 0) (42) (34 2) {30 3) (39) (34 2)
Profit for the year 1580 90 167 0 816 106 92 2
Attnbutable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1617 879
Nen-controlling interests 53 43
Profit for the year 167 0 922
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2011
2011 2010
£m Em
Profit for the year 1670 922
Cther comprehensive income
Recogrution and transfer of cash flow hedges 01 10
Tax on cash flow hedges taken directly to other comprehensive income - 03)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operaticns {51) 43
Other comprehensive income for the year {50) 50
Total comprehensive income for the year 1620 97 2
Attnibutable to
Equity sharehglders of the parent company 156 7 918
Non-controlling interests 53 54
Total comprehensive income for the year 1620 97 2
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 March 2011

— 20m 2010
Note £m £m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 697 1028
Distnibution nghts 13 132 1 106 2
Other intangible assels 14 455 453
Property, plant and equipment 15 284 269
Investments in joint ventures and associates 16 340 555
Deferred tax assets 10 229 163
Trade and other receivables 18 25 67
Denvative financial assets 23 10 03

3361 3600
Current assets
Programme nghts and other inventones 17 754 726
Trade and other recevables 18 2858 2197
Denvative financial assets 23 35 26
Cash and cash equivalents 631 233
Assets classified as held for sale 20 44 4 300

4722 348 2
Total assets 808 3 708 2

Current iabilities

Interest beanng loans and borrowings 22 201 -
Trade and other payables 19 3634 3600
Current tax habilities 87 84
Provisions 21 72 09
Dervative financial lrabihties 23 50 51
Liabilitres refating to assets classified as held for sale 20 365 124

4409 3868
Non-current liabilitles

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 22 953 134 2
Trade and other payables 19 99 58
Prowistons 21 114 14 9
Denvative financial habiities 23 42 82
Deferred tax liabihties 10 15 3 26

1361 1657

Total labilities 5770 552 5
Neot assets 2313 1557
Equity

Share capital 24 02 02
Hedging reserve 25 08 05
Translation reserve 26 330 368
Retained earnings 27 1908 1389
Other reserves 28 - (36 3)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent company 224 8 140 1

Non-controlling interests 6 5 156

Total equity 2313 1557

These consolidated financial statements of BEC Worldwide Limited, registered number 1420028, were approved by the Board of Direclors
on 10 June 2011 an signed on its behalf by

John Smith Philip Vincent
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 March 2011

2011 2010
Note £m Em
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 30 1941 2079
Tax pard {32 8) (32 8)
161 3 1751
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 07 -
Dindends receved from joint ventures and associates 16 438 107
Purchases of distnbution nghts 13 (101 0) (83 4)
Purchases of other intangible assets 14 (11 1) 57
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 15 (10 6) B 5)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 36 417) -
Acquisition of subsidiary - 200
Disposal of subsidiary 29 95 -
Acquisition of investments 0 joint ventures and associates 16 (16) N
Net funding of joint ventures and associates 16 22 13
Disposal of investments In joint ventures and associates 29 97 8 -
{11 9) (64 3)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid 7o [CR)]
Repayment of loans and borrowings (23 8) (897)
Capital element of finance lease payments - (15)
Equity draidends paid (83 4) (321}
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (3 0) (0 8)
(1172) (133 2)
Net increase/{decrease) In cash and cash equivalents 322 (22 4)
Cash and cash equivatents at the beginning of the year e 559
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 07 {19)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 631 316
Amount included within assets held for sale - {83)
Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet 631 233
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2011
Attributable to equity holders of tha parent cormpany
Retained Transiation Hadging Other uonho':ll?:g
Share caprtal eamings reserve reserve reservq Total Interests  Total squity
£m £m £m l'.l_tL Em Im_ £m £m
Balance at 1 Apnl 2009 02 826 255 - (32 3) 76 0 10 87 0
Profit for the year - 879 - - - 879 43 922
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - 07 - 07 03 10
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - (02) - 0 2) G 1) @ 3)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - - 34 - - 34 09 43
Total comprehensive income for the year - 879 34 0s - 98 54 97 2
Adjustment on acquisition of 2 entertain - 05 - - - 05 - 05
Dividends paid - {32 1) - - - 32 1} 0 8) (32 9)
Re-rssue of put option over non-controlling interests - - - - 39 39 - 39
Transfer of foreign exchange movement on put oplion - - 79 - 7 9) - - -
Balance at 31 March 2010 02 1389 368 05 (363} 1401 156 1557
Profit for the year - 1617 - - - 1617 53 167 0
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 01 01
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - - {50) - - (50) {0 1) {(51)
Total comprehensive income for the year - 1617 {50} - - 156 7 53 1620
Dividends pard - (83 4) - - - (83 &) 30) (85 4)
Transfer of foreign exchange movement on put option - - 12 - (12) - - -
Exercise of put option over non-controling interests - (26 4) - 03 375 114 (11 4) -
Balance at 31 March 2011 02 190 8 330 08 - 2248 65 2313

45




BBC Worldwide Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2011

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Principal accounting policies

BBC Worldwide Limited (the “Company”) 18 a company domiciled in the United Kingdom The consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2011 compnse the Company and its subsidiary undertakings (together the “Group”) and the Group's inferest in joint
ventures and associated undertakings

These financial statements are presented in pounds stering because that 1s the currency of the pnmary economic environment in which the Group
operates Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out below

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union {the EU), the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the EU International Accounting Standards Regulations

The financial statements are principally prepared on the histoncal cost basis Areas where alternative bases of accounting are applied are identified in
the accounting policies below

{b) Gomng concern

The Board remains satisfied with the Group’s funding and hquidity position The disclosures on page 23 in the Directors’ Report in respect of going
concern form part of the audited accounts

As at 31 March 2011, the main sources of debt funding were unsecured loan and investment facihbies with BBC Commeraial Holdings Limited
(BBCCHY) expinng in Apn! 2012 and June 2012, and an unsecured loan with the European Investment Bank, due to part-terrminate in December 2011
and the remainder in May 2012 Further information in respect of these facilities 1s included in note 22

As descnbed in note 39, the Group renegotiated its main loan faciity subsequent to the balance sheet date The group's new facility 1s due to expire
in September 2012, subyect to BBCCH secunng ongoing external funding Based on ongoing discussions between BBCCH and potential lenders, the
Directors are confident that BBCCH will be able to procure such faciities

On the basis of its forecasts, both base case and adjusted, and having regard to available and anticipated financing facilities, the Board has con-
cluded that the going concemn basis of preparation continues to be appropnate Further information in respect of lquidity nsk i1s included in note 36

(¢} Basis of consolidation
i Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (and its
subsidianes) made up to 31 March each year Control 1s achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities

The results of subsidianes acquired or disposed of dunng the year are included in the consohdated income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropnate Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidianes
to bning the accounting policies used into kne with those of the Group All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are elminated on
consolidation

Non-controlling interests in subsidianes are identified separately from the Group's equity therein The interests of non-controling shareholders are
initially measured at their proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests 1s Increased or decreased in proportion to the non-controling interests’ share of any subsequent changes in equity

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidianes that do not result In a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions The carrying amounts
of non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect any changes in their, and the Group's, relative interests in the subsidanes Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received Is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (1) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retaned interest and {(u) the prewvious carrying amount of the net assets of the subsidiary
{including attnbutable goodwll) and any non-controlling interests Amounts previously recogrused in other comprehensive income In relation to the
subsidiary are reclassified to the income statement cor transferred directly to retained earnings as appropniate The fair value of any interest retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost i1s regarded as the cost on imitial recognihon of an investment in a joint venture or associate
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

(c) Basis of consolhdation {continued)
#  Joint ventures and associates

A ot venture s an entity over which the Group exercises joint control, established through a contractual arangement An associate 15 an entity
where the Group 1s 1n a position to exercise sigmificant influence over, but not to control, the entity's financial and operating policies

The results and assets and habilittes of joint ventures and associates are incorporated into these financial statements using the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment 1s classified as held for sale, in which case it 1s accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Under the equity method, investments in associates are camed in the conscolidated balance sheet at cost, adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group's share of the net assets of the joint venture or associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments

Where the Group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the joint venture or associate, the carrying amount 1s reduced to ril and
recognition of further losses 1s discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture or associate

Where a group entity transacts with a joint venture or associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated the extent of the Group's interest in the
relevant joint venture or associate

The Group consolidates results from investments in joint ventures and associates using results as of 31 March with the exception of Children’s
Character Books Limited, Woodlands Books Limited, BBC Haymarket Extubitions Limited and JV Programmes LLC which have been included using
information from unaudited accounts drawn up to 31 December The results of certain other ventures jointly controlled by the Group and Discovery
Communications LLC, which were disposed of during the year, were previously also included up to 31 December Since these investments were
classified as held for sale for the duration of the current year up to the date of disposal, no share of results has been included i respect of these
investments (see note 29)

{(d) Adoption of new and revised standards
In the current year, the following revised Standards have been adopted and have been applied to business combinations since Apnl 2010

+ IFRS 3 (2008) Business Combinations
+ |AS 27 (2008) Consofidated and Separate Financial Statements
+ |AS 28 (2008) Investments in Associates

These revised standards have introduced a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations and have introduced additional
disclosure requirements for acquisitions Further infformation can be found in the business combinations policy note, below

At the beginrung of the current penod, the Group adopted the following accounting pronouncements, none of which had a significant impact on its
results or financial position

+ |IFRS 2 (2009) Share-based Payment

* 1AS 31 (2008} interests in Joint Ventures

+ 1AS 32 (2009) Financral Instruments Presentation

« 1AS 39 (2009) Financial Instruments Recogrition and Measurement
= IFRIC 17 Distnbution of Non-Cash Assels to Owners

« IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets From Customers

At the date of authonsatton of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these financial
statements were in 1ssue but not yet effective

* IFRS 1 (2010) First-time Adoption of IFRSs*

= IFRS 7 (2010) Financial instruments Disciosures*

» IFRS 9 (2009) Financial instruments Classification and Measurement™

= IAS 12 (2010) Income Taxes*

+  |AS 24 (2009) Related Party Disciosures

+ IFRIC 14 (2009) IAS 19 — The Limut on a Defined Benefit Asset, Mimmum Funding Requirements and thewr Interaction
* IFRIC 19 Extingwishing Financiaf Liabilittes with Equity Instruments

The adoption of IFRS 8, which the Group plans to adopt for the year beginning on 1 April 2013, will mpact both the measurement and disclosures of
Financial Instruments

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the other standards listed above will have a matenal impact on the financral statements of the Group
in future penods

* Standards marked with an astensk have not yet been endorsed by the EU
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

{e) Non-statutory financial performance measures

The Group believes that ‘Gross revenue including joint ventures’ and ‘Operating profit before specific tems' are additional non-statutory measures of
financial performance that provide additional guidance to help understand the performance of the business on a comparable basis year on year

The Group's iIncome statement separately identifies significant tems affecting operating profit (termed "specific items”) which in the Directors’
judgement are highlighted by virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Group's financial performance

Specific tems are not defined under IFRS and may not be comparable to similarty titted measures used by other companies ltems which have been
highlighted for consideration include the impairment of goodwall, the Group's share of the interest and tax of joint ventures and associates and other
nen-recurnng items which are considered important in understanding the results of the Group

() Business combinations

Acguisitions of subsidianes and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method The cost of each acquisiion 1s measured at the
aggregate of the farr values (at the dale of exchange) of assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed in exchange for control of the acquiree
Acquisition related costs are recogrised in the iIncome statement as incurred

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes contingent consideraticn, measured at its acquisition-date farr value Subsequent
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration are recorded in the income statement

\Where a business combination Is achieved in stages (1 ¢ where the Group acquires an entty which was previously a joint venture, asseciate or held-
for-sale investment) the Group remeasures its pre-existing interest in the entity to fair value at the acquisition date () e the date the Group attains
control) The resulting gain or loss, if any. I1s recogrised in the iIncome statement Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of the entity, prior to the acquisition date, are also reclassified to the income statement where required

The acquired entity’s identifiable assets, iabiites and contingent Labilities that meet the condiions for recogmition under IFRS 3 {2008) Business
Combinations are recognised at ther fair value at the acquisition date, except that deferred tax assets or habilities and habiities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with |AS 12 income Taxes and |AS 19 Employee Benefits .
respectively

{g) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through sale rather than
continuing use, they are available for immediate sale in their present condition and a sale 1s highly probable Management must be committed to the
sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale wathin one year from the date of classification

When the Group I1s committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as
held for sale when the critena described above are met, regardiess of whether the Group will retain a nen-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale

Once classified as held for sale, non-current assets and disposal groups are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell No amorbisation or depreciation 1s charged on non-current assets (including those in disposal groups) classified as held for sale

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill anising on acquisition (except those prior to 1 Apnl 2007) is recognised as an asset at the date that control 1s acquired (the 'acquisition date’)
Goodwill 1s measured as the excess sum of the consideration paid, the fair value of the Group's pre-acquisihon interest in the acquiree (if any) and the
amount of any non-controlling mterest in the acquiree over the net of the acquisitton-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and habiliies
assumed

For acquisitions which occurred prior to 1 Apnt 2007, goodwll 1Is measured at deemed cost less any impairment wnte-downs Deemed cost 1$ the
amount previously recogmised under UK accounting standards pnor to transition to IFRS

Goodwill 1s not amortised but 1s reviewed for impairment at least annually For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination Cash-generating units to which goodwll has been allocated
are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there Is an indication that the unit may be impaired Testing for impairment involves a
comparnison of carrying amount of the cash-generating unit wath its recoverable amount, being the higher of its value in use or fair value less costs to
sell

Where impairment testing incdicates that the carrying amount of a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the unit 1s wntten down to
recoverable amount An impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwll allocated to the unit and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the umt An impairment loss recognised for goodwill i1s not reversed in
a subsequent penod

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwall 1s included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal
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1. Pnncipal accounting policies (continued)

(i) Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration receved or recevable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided
in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes Sales of promotional merchandise and publishing are stated
after deduction of the sales value of actual and estimated returned goods

The Group’s main sources of revenue and its policies for the recognition of such revenue are summansed as follows

« Licence fees from mtemational televiston programme sales - recognised at the later of the start of the licence penod or the delivery of the
programme nghts

« Licence and production fees from content and production - recogrised on delivery of the related programme or on provision of service

«  Distnbution and other sales commission iIncome - recogrised on provision or delivery of service

» Advertising revenue - on transmission of the advertisement

« Subscription fees - recognised over the penod of the subscnption

« Income from publishing sales and the sale of promotional merchandise - recognised at time of delivery or on provision of service

(i) Foreign currencles

The individual results and financial position of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
company operates {ts functicnal currency) For the purpese of the consohdated financtal statements, the resulls and financial position of each group
company are expressed in pounds sterhing, which 1s the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the applicabte functional currency of each entty of the Group at a monthly average exchange
rate Monetary assets and habiities denommated in foreign currencies are translated at the foregn exchange rale rubng on that date Foreign
exchange differences which anse on translation are recognmised in the ncome statement

For the purpose of presenting consohdated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operatiens are translated at exchange
rates prevaiing on the balance sheet date (the 'closing rate’} Income and expense rtems are translated at the weighted average rates for the year
Exchange differences ansing on the retranslation of the opening net assets and income and expense for the year to the closing rate are recognised in
other comprehensive Income and accumulated in equity {attnbuted to non-controlling interests as appropnate)

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences i respect of that operation recognised n equity are reclassified to the
mcome statement and included in the calculation of the gam or loss on sale

Goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and labilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate, as described above

(k) Retiroment benefit costs
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are charged to the iIncome statement as they fall due

Employees of the Group also participate in defined benefit schemes operated by the Group’s ultimate parent, the Bntish Broadcasting Corporation
(the “BBC") The defined benefit schemes prowvide benefits based on pensionable pay The assets of the BBC's main pension scheme, the BBC
Pension Scheme to which the majonty of employees belong, are held separately from those of the BBC Group

The BBC Pensicn Scheme 1s a group-wide scheme and there 1$ no contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined benefit cost to
scheme participants The contnbution rates are set by the pension scheme trustees based on valuations which take a longer-term view of the assets
required to fund the scheme’s habilihes Valuations of the scheme are performed by Towers Watson, consulting actuaries, with formal valuations
undertaken at least every three years Accordingly, the Group accounts for contributions payable to the scheme as if the schemes were defined
contribution schemes, as 1s required by 1AS 19 Employee Benefits

{I} Other employee benefits

The Group operates a number of incentive schemes, including a long term incentive scheme whereby senior executives receive a proportion of therwr
remuneration in the form of a share of the Group's profits, which vests over a number of years Where settlement of such amounts is contingent on
continued service to the Group, the cost of the arrangement s expensed on a straight-ine basis over the service penod Where no service conditions
exist, the cost of the scheme Is incurred over the penod n wiich it s eamed
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

(m} Taxation

The Group's habihty for current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year, and 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of ncome or
expenditure which are not taxable or deductible or which are taxable or deductible in other years

Ceferred tax i1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable in future penods and Is recognised using the balance sheet hability method This
metheod provides for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilities in the balance sheet and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit Temporary differences ansing from goodwll and the initial recognition of assets or Labilittes that affect
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit are not provided for

Deferred tax labilities are recogrised for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidianes, joint ventures and associates except
where the Group 1s able to contro! the reversal of the temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future

The carrying value of deferred tax assets 15 reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 18 no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the manner in which tax 1s expected to anse and using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the ncome statement, except where it relates to items
recorded within other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax 1s also recorded within other comprehensive income

Deferred tax assets and habibties are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable nght to such offset, when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authonty and the Group intends to settle on a net basis

{n) Distnbution rights

Distnbution rights represent nghts to programmes and associated intellectual property acquired wath the prmary intention of exploiting the rnghts
commercially as part of the Group’s long-term operations Distnbution nghts are intially recognised at acquisition cost or production cost, when the
Group controls the respective assets and the nsks and rewards attached to them The canying amount is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and prowision for impairment

Amortisation of distribution nghts s charged to the income statement to match the average revenue profile of the programme genre over its estimated
average marketable Iife The expected lives of distnbution rights range from 1 to 10 years

{c) Other intangible assets
i Acquired intangibles

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business acquisition are capitalised at fair value at the date of acquisibon The far value of such intangible
assets 1s valued by reference to external market values or income based methods Income based methods estimate the future economic benefits to
be denved from ownership of the asset by identifying, quantifying and separating cash flows attnbutable to the asset and capitalising their present
value Purchased intangible assets acquired separately are capitahsed at cost After imitial recogrution, all intangible fixed assets are measured at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses

# Intematly-generated intangible assets development expenditure

An intemnally-generated intangible assel ansing from the Group’s development including software and website development, 1s recognised when the
asset s technically and commercially feasible, sufficient resources exist to complete the development and it 1s probable that the asset will generate
future econormic benefits Any expenditure on research or development activiies that does not meet the aforementioned cntena, 1s recognised as an
expense In the penod m which it 1s incurred

w  Amortisation

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful lives using the straight-line method Amortisation expense 1s recorded within total
operating costs in the ncome statement The useful hives used for intangible assets are as follows

+ Mastheads 20 years

= Camer agreements Unexpired term of agreement
+  Software 5 years

+ Other 3-8 years

Useful ives are examuned every year and adjustments are made, where applicable, on a prospective basis
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{p) Property, plant and equlpment (PPE)

Owned PPE 15 stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, other than those items that are classified as
held for sale

Freehold land 1 not depreciated Depreciation s charged on other PPE s¢ as to wnte off the cost of assets to their residual value, over their expected
useful ives using the straight-ine method When an item of PPE compnses major components having different useful economic lives the
components are accounted for as separate items of PPE Depreciation commences from the date when the asset 1s available for use

The useful ives for deprectation purposes for the pnncipal categones of assets are

* Short leasehold buildings Unexpired lease term
+ Plant and machinery 3to 8years
»  Fixtures and fitings Jto 7 years

Assets held under finances leases are treated as PPE and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or thetr useful economic hfe
The Group capitalises berrowing costs with respect to amounts incurred duning the construction of qualifying property, plant and equipment
(g} Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets (including distnbution aghts) to determine
whether there 1s any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss [f and where such indication exists, an impairment loss 1s
recognised 1n the iIncome statement for the amount by which an asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount Where an asset does not
generate cash flows that are independent of other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs

Recoverable amount 1s calculated as the igher of an asset's value in use and its fair value less costs to sell Value in use 1s based on estimated
future cash flows discounted to therr present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the nsks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted

Imparment losses recogrised in respect of cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwll allocated to those urnits,
and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the umit on a pro-rata basis An impairment loss s reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverabie amount Animpairment loss 1s reversed only to the extent that an asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised

(r} Programme rights and other inventories

Programme nghts in this context refers to programme nghts acquired for the pnmary purpose of broadcasting through the Group's Channels
business The camrying amount 1s stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and prowvision for impamrment The Group’s estimate of the benefits
received from these nghts 1s deterrmined to be most appropnately akgned with a straight-line amortisation profile for the majonty of the programme
inventory held The cost is recognised In the income statement on a straight-ine basis aver the shorter of the penod of the licence or three years (the
expected operating cycle for an item of this nature) In certain instances amortisation 1s recognised on a reducing balance basis, where this more
appropnately aligns the amertisation profile with the expected consumption of economic benefits

Other inventories compnsing books, DVDs paper stock, raw matenals and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

{(s) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habilities are recognised in the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual prowisions of
the instrument

Financial assets and liabilibes are inthally measured at far value less any directly attnbutable transaction costs, except for those financial assets
classified as at far value through profit or loss, which are inthally measured at fair value

Financial assets are derecogrised from the balance sheet when the Group's contractual nghts to the cash flows expire or the Group transfers
substantially all the nsks and rewards of the financial asset Financial labiities are derecegnised from the Group’s balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract 1s discharged, cancelled or expires

[ Classification and Measurement
Financial assets and liabihties are classified into the following categones specified by |AS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement

» Loans and receivables - trade receivables, loans and other receivables with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market These are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment !nterest income 1s recognised by
applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term recevables when the recogniton of interest would be immatenal

= Available for sale financial assets - listed and unlisted shares stated at fair value that are either traded in an active market or for which a farr
value can otherwise be rehably measured Gains and losses ansing from changes in far value are recogrused in other comprehensive income
with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on
menetary assets, which are recognised directly in the income statement

+ Held to matunty investments - the Group does not currently carry any financial instruments classified as held to maturity Such mstruments might
include bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and fixed matunty dates and would be measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less any impairment

+ Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - assets and habilihes which are heid for trading An asset or labiity 1s
classified as held for trading if (1) it has been acquired pnincipally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or (1) on infal
recogrution it 15 a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking, or {in) it 1s a denvative that 1s not designated and effective as a hedging instrument Financial assets and habilibes at FVTPL
are stated at fair value, wath any gains and losses ansing on remeasurement recognised in the incorme statement

= Other financial habiities - financial habilities, including trade payables and borrowings, which are not classified as financial labiities at FVTPL
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis

'} Effective interest method

The effective interest method 1 a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument or financia! hability and of allocating interest income
or expense over the relevant penod The effective interest rate Is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows through the expected hife
of the instrument to the net carrying amount on inttial recognition

[ Imparment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those held at FVTPL are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date Financial assets are
impaired where there 15 objective ewidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the inibal recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected

For certain categones of financial asset, such as trade recervables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in additton, assessed
for imparrment on a collective basis Objective evidence of imparment of 2 portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past expenence of
collecting payments or an increase in the number of detayed payments

The carrying amount of a financial asset I1s reduced by any impairment loss directly for all financial assets except trade recewvables, where the
carrying amount ts reduced through the use of an allowance account When a trade recewable 1s considered uncollectible, it 1s wntten off against the
allowance account Subsequent recovenes of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recogrised in profit or 1oss

v Denvative financral instruments

The Group enters into a vanety of denvative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange nsk, including foreign
exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps

Denvatives are mitally recognised at fair value at the date a denvative contract 1s entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their faw value at
each subsequent balance sheet date Changes in fair value are recogrused immediately in the income statement, except where a denvative 1s
designated in an effective hedging relationship, as descnbed below

A denvative with a positive fair value 1s recognised as a financial asset whereas a denvative with a negative fair value 1s recognised as a financial
liabiity Penvatives are presented as non-current assets or habilites if the date of maturity of the instrument 18 more than twelve months after the
balance sheet date Other denvatives are presented as current assets or current habilities
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1. Principal accounting pohicies {continued)

(s) Financial instruments (continued)
v Embedded Denvatives

Derivatives which are embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their nsks and
charactenstics are not closely related to those of the host contracts, and the host contracts are not carned at far value Embedded denvatives are
carmed on the balance sheet at far value from inception of the host contract Unrealised changes in fair value are recognised as gains or losses within
the iIncome statement durng the penod in which they anse

vi  Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain denvatives as cash flow hedges by documenting the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item
along with the nsk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions Where the hedge 15 deemed to have been
effective, the effective portion of any changes in the farr value the dervatives that are designated in the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive
income Any ineffective portion 1s recognised immediately in the income statement

Amounts previcusly recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the sncome statement in the penods in
which the hedged tems are recogrised in the income statement, in the same Iine of the Income statement as the recognised hedged itern However,
when the forecast transaction that 1s hedged results In the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial lability, the gams and losses
previously accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-
financial hability

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the Group de-designates the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated, or
exercised, or when the relattionship no longer qualifies for hedge accounting Any gain or loss recogmised in other comprehensive Income upon
discontinuation of hedge accounting i1s ether recognised In the income statement at the same time as the forecast transaction affects profit or loss, or
18 Tecognised in the income statement immediately if the forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to ocour

{t) Provisions

A prowision 1s recognised In the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or construchve obhigation ansing from past events and it 1s
prabable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation Prowisions, other than those for deferred tax, that are payable
over a number of years are discounted to net present value at the balance sheet date using a discount rate appropniate to the particular provision
concerned

{u) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease are such that the lessee assumes substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership All other leases are classified as operating leases

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised and depreciation 1s charged accordingly Such assets are mitally recognised at therr fair value or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease The corresponding liability to the lessor 1s recorded as a finance
lease obligation Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reductions of the lease obligation $0 as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaming balance of the hability

Lease income or expense ansing from operating leases 15 recorded In the income statement on a straight Iine basis over the term of the lease, with
any associated lease incentives being recorded on a straight line basis over the lease term as a reduction in the rental Income or expense
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1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

(v) Critical accounting estimates and key judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain catical accounting assumptions, and requires
management to exercise Its judgement and to make estimates in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies The areas involving a
tigher degree of jJudgement or complexty, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are

! Basis of consoldation

Judgement 1s required in determining whether certain entities 1n which the Group has an economic interest should be considered to be subsidianes or
joint ventures  In such circumstances, the Group has assessed its ability to control or influence those entiies Control has been assessed with
reference to the ability of the Group to direct, unilaterally, key policies of the entity Where such policies are reserved such that an economic partner
has the power to veto key strategic financial and operating decisions, the entity 1s considered to be a joint venture

[} Carrying value of goodwilf

The determination of whether goodwill 1Is imparred requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to anse from the cash-generating unit and a2
suitable discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the nsks speaific to the asset and the tme value of money, n order to calculate
present value Further information about assumptions used in determining the carrying value of goodwill can be found in note 12

m  Revenue recogrition

The timing of revenue recognition requires judgement, as does the amount to be recogrised This may involve estmating the farr value of
consideration before it 1s received In making these judgements, the Group considers the detailed cnteria for the recognition of revenue set out in IAS
18 Revenue and, in particular, whether the Group has transferred the significant nsks and rewards of the goods or services to the customer

v Distnbution nghts and programme nghts

The assessment of the appropriate profile over which to recogmise the amortisation of distnbution nghts and programme nghts involves a certain
degree of jJudgement Amortisation 1s charged to the income statement to match the average revenue profile of the programme genre over ts
estimated average marketable life

v Fair value of financial instruments

Certain financial instruments are carned on the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in farr value reflected in the income statement Fair values
are estimated by reference tn part 1o published pnce quotations and in part by using vatuation techniques Further information about fair value
measurements 1s provided n note 36

vi  Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities require management judgement in determimng the amounts to be recogrised In particular, judgement is used
when assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets should be recognised with consideration given to the timing and level of future taxable
income  Further information about unrecognised deferred tax assets 1s provided in note 10
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2 Segment information

An operating segment Is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may eam revenues and mcur expenses The
results of all operating segments are reviewed regularly by the BBC Worldwide Board (the "Board’) which has been identified as the Group’s chief
operating decision maker in accordance wath IFRS 8 Operating Segments

The Board considers the business pnmanly from a product and service ine perspective Management has determined the reportable segments based
upen reports reviewed by the Board All segments reported meet the quantitative thresholds required by IFRS 8 The reportable segments are

+  Channels Operates UK and intemational television channels broadcasting programmes made by both the BBC and other
mdependent providers

+ Content and Production Develops and sells programme formats and manages the Group's nghts acquisitions

+  Drgital Entertainment Qperates the BBC com website and develops interactive computer games Is alsc developing an international
BBC-branded wideo on demand service

+ Brands, Consumers & Provides central management of the Group’s international brands, including Lonely Planet, and also operates the

New Ventures Group's key branded websites and live events

= Sales & Distnbution Manages the sale and syndication of the Group's content across telewision, video on demand and intermational
bDvD

+  Consumer Products Creates and distnbutes consumer products, including DVDs, music and hooks

+  Magazines Publishes the Radio Times and other Specralist and Lifestyle magazines based upon BBC content

Sales between segments are carned out at arm’s length The revenue from external parties reported to the Board 1s measured in a manner consistent
with the income statement The Board also assesses the performance of the reportable segments based upon a measure of results consistent with
operating profit before specific tems, as defined in note 1 This measurement basis excludes the effect of specific tems as set out In note 4, which
are separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to reflect more accurately how the business 1s managed and measured on a day-to-day
basis Net financing costs are not allocated to segments as they are dnven by the central treasury function of the Group

Informahion regarding the assets and habilities of reportable segments i1s not reported to the Board

The segment information for the reportable segments provided to the Board for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 1s as follows
Where appropnate, comparative information has been re-presented to reflect changes in segment composition since the previous reporting date

Brands

Content & Dhgrtal Consumers & Saies & Consumar

Channels P i Neaw Vi Products Magarmes Total
2011 Em £m £m Em £m £m £m £m
Segment ravenue 3120 1028 271 861 260 6 236 6 1645 1,1897
Intersegmental trading - - - (0 1} {30 1} (18) - (32 Q)
Revenue including joint ventures 31zo0 1028 271 860 2205 234 8 1645 1,157 7
Share of revenue of joint ventures (117 0) {3 6) - (8 5) 6 0} (2 4) (13 1) (150 6)
Revenue from external customers 1950 99 2 27 1 775 2245 2324 1514 1,007 1
Revenue from discontinued operations - - - - - - {123 4) {123 4)
Tleportad rgvanueg 1950 99 2 271 775 2245 2324 280 8837
Segment result 40 1 79 {6 8) {10 3} 640 489 218 1654
Infersegmentat trading - - - - (52) - - (52)
Operating profit before specific itams 40 1 79 (6 8) {10 3) 588 489 216 160 2

Bratids,
Contant & Digital Consumers & Sales & Consumer

ct Producti E Nerw Products Magazines Total
2018 £m £m £&m Em im £m £m £m
Segment revenue 2626 94 2 145 828 24986 2331 1651 1,101 9
Intersegmental trading - - - (03) {26 4) {10} - (27 7)
Revenue including joint ventures 2626 94 2 145 825 2232 2321 1651 1,074 2
Share of revenue of joint ventures {105 0) {33) - 91) {19 8) (29 6} (19 1) (185 9)
Revenue from external customers 1576 909 145 734 203 4 2025 146 0 888 3
Revenue from discontinued operations - - - - - - (118 1) (118 1)
Reported revenue 157 6 909 145 734 203 4 2025 279 770 2
Segment result 392 176 {17 0} {(920) 579 430 198 1815
Intersegmental trading - - - - 63 - - (6 3)
Operating profit before specific items 392 176 {17 0) (9 0) 516 430 198 145 2

Included within the result of the Magazines reportable segment 1s £16 7m relating to discontinued operations (2010 £14 8m)
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2 Segment information (continued)

The Group’s revenue by destination was as follows

Gross Share of JV Qross Share of JV
Reported revenus Reported revenue
2011 201 2011 2010 2010 2010
United Kingdom 5148 1256 3892 487 4 136 3 3511
United States of Amenca 2731 85 264 6 2591 274 2317
Australia 850 89 76 1 750 88 66 2
Rest of World 284 8 76 277 2 2527 134 2393
1,157 7 150 6 1,007 1 1,074 2 1859 888 3
The Group’s non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets located in the UK are £166 3Im (2010 £167 5m) and
located outside of the UK are £115 9m {2010 £175 Sm)
Further analysis of the Group's revenues by product or service line 1s not provided as this information 1s not routinely reported to the Board
3 Total operating costs
Operating costs compnse the following categones of expense
Continuing Dscontinuad Continuing Discontmuad
oparations operations Total oparations OpaTEtIONS Total
2011 2011 011 2010 2010 2010
Em £m £m E._m Em im
Cost of sales 505 5 711 5766 436 4 876 504 0
Distribution cests 1114 251 136 5 98 4 24 9 1233
Administration costs 195 6 138 2094 168 3 15 1798
Total operating costs 8125 1100 922.5 703 2 104 0 807 2

4 Specific items

Impairment of goodwill

The Group has separately entfied amounts wnitten off acquired goodwill owing to their scale and one-off nature Further information about amounts

written off goodwall 1s included in note 12

Share of interest and tax of joint ventures and associates

The Group views its investments as bemng a fundamental part of its ongoing operations [FRS requires that the Group report its share of the results of
jont ventures and associates on an after-tax, after-interest basis The interest and tax charges borne by joint ventures and associates have been
added back as a specific item in order to present an operating profit measure which more appropnately represents the way in which the business 1s

reviewed and assessed internally

Other specific items

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
oparations oparations Total oparations operations Totay
2011 m11 m11 200 2010 2010
£n Em L0 £m fm £m
Share of change n farr value of denvatives of joint ventures - - - 10 - 10
(Impairment) / reversal of impairment of jont ventures - (2 0) (20) 20 - 20
Reorganisation costs 0 5) (13 (18 - - -
(0 5) {33) {38) 30 - 30

As descnbed above, IFRS requires the results of joint ventures and associates to be presented on a net basis, 1 e after tax and interest The Group
includes changes in the fair value of denvative financial instruments wathin ‘other gains and losses' below operating profit Fair value gains and losses
included wathin the results of joint ventures and associates are therefore regarded as a specific item in order to align the operating profits of equity-

accounted investees with those of the Group
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4. Specific items {continued)

In July 2009, the Group reversed imparment charges totalling £2 Om in respect of its joint venture, UK VOD LLP In the year to March 2011, the

Group has impaired its investment in Worldwide Media Limited, followang a revised assessment of recoverable amount Further information about

these joint ventures 1s provided in note 16

Reorganisation costs relate to other one-off costs including transaction fees and costs relating to the Group's search for a partner for its Magazines

business and costs relating to reorgarisation of the Group's Lonely Planet business

5. Profit before tax

Profit before tax 1s stated after charging/{crediting}

2011

2010

£m £m
Rentals on operating leases and simtlar arrangements 149 146
Sub-lease rentals received on operating leases (03} -
Net foreign exchange gains (3 5) (2 3)
Research and development costs 24 30
Depreciations on property, plant and equipment 90 102
Impairment of goodwall 338 175
Amortisation of intangible assets
Distnbutton nghts 740 725
Intemally generated software assets 80 68
Other intangible assets 42 29
Programme nghts and other inventones
Cost recognised as an expense 1152 107 8
Whnte downs recogrised as an expense 61 12
Employee costs (see note 7) 1950 1753
Impairment loss recognised on trade recevables 15 21
Reversal of impairment losses recogmised on trade recervables (see note 18) {1 3) (38)
Amortisation of distnbution nghts i1s recorded within cost of sales Amortisation of other intangible assets, including intemally generated software
assets, 1s recorded within administration costs
6 Audiors’ remuneration
7011 2070
£m £m
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company's annual accounts 02 02
Fegs payable to the Company's auditors and their associates for other services to the Group
The audit of the Company's subsidianes pursuant te legislation 04 04
Total audit fees 06 06
Tax services 03 01
Corporate finance services 05 03
Other services 03 -
Total non-audit fees 11 04
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7. Employee costs

The average number of employees dunng the year was as follows

2011

2010

Number Number
Channels 577 492
Content & Production 105 111
Digital Entertainment 92 92
Brands, Consumers & New Ventures 592 548
Sales & Distribution 390 393
Consumer Products 359 355
Magazines 574 807

2,689 2,598

Within the averages above, 211 (2010 204) part-ime employees have been included at their full-time equivalent of 141 (2010 134) In addition to the

above, the Group employed an average full-tme equivalent of 47 (2010 54) persons on a casual basis

The aggregate remuneration recognised in the income statement in respect of these employees, including casual staff, comprised

201

2010

£m £m_
Salares and wages 167 8 1502
Social secunty costs 105 98
Qther pension costs 167 153
1850 1753
In addition to the above, redundancy costs and compensation for loss of office payments totalling £2 3m (2010 £6 7m) were incurred in the year
The remuneration of the Directors during the year was as follows
2011 2010
£ 000 £ 000
Emoluments 1,181 2,784
Compensation for 10ss of office - 128
Long-term incentive schemes 194 363
1,375 3,275
The number of Directors to whom retirement benefits have accrued throughout the year under the following schemes is as follows
2011 2010
Number of Number of
Diractors Directors
Defined benefit schemes 3 10
Money purchase schemes - 2
Further details of Directors' remuneration are provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 33 to 39 Further information regarding the
compensation earned by key management can be found in note 37
The Group made no contnbutions (2010 £nil} to money purchase schemes for its Directors during the year
The remuneration of the highest paid Director during the year was as follows
2091 2010
£000 £000
Emoluments 726 575
Long-term incentive schemes 172 248
898 823

The emoluments above include £134,000 (2010 £nil) which vested under the Group's bonus matching scheme In addition to the emoluments above,
the highest paid director invested £138,000 (2010 £141,000) in the Group's matching scheme which may vest in March 2014 (2010 March 2013)

The accrued pension benefit as at 31 March 2011 of the highest pard Director under the Group's defined benefit scheme was £201,000 (2010

£183,000) per annum The Group contributed £l (2010 £nil) to money purchase schemes on behalf of the highest paid Director dunng the year
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8 Other gains and losses

2011 2010

£m £m

Change in fair value of dervative financial iInstruments 56 181
Change n fair value of put options over non-controlling interests {note 36) {4 0) 35
16 156

Changes in the fair values of denvative financial instruments used in managing foreign exchange nsk were previously presented as a specific item
within operating profit Likewise, changes in the fair values of denvatives used in managing interest rate nsk and changes in the fair value of put
options over non-controling interests were previously included within finance ncome or expense

The Directors consider it more appropriate to present these changes in fair value wathin other gains and losses outside operating profit Comparative
results have also been restated on the same basis

9 Net financing costs

Contnuing Discontinued Contnuing Discontinued
eperations operations Total operations operations Total
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
Eﬂ iLn Eﬁ £m £m £m
Other interest recervable 05 02 07 01 - 01
Finance income 05 02 07 01 - 01
Interest payable on loan from parent undertaking 33 - 33 60 - 60
Interest payable on bank loans 04 - 04 05 - 0s
Interest payable on finance leases 01 - 01 01 - 01
Interest payable on denvative financial instruments 18 - 18 20 - 20
Other interest payable 36 05 41 17 02 19
Finance expense 92 05 97 10 3 02 105
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10 Taxation

The tax charge for the year comprises

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Total OpBIItIonS oparations Total
2011 2011 201 2010 2010 2010
£m £m Em £m Em £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax 209 39 248 169 39 208
Foreign tax 111 - 111 133 - 133
Adjustments n respect of prior years {(19) - (19 (4 4) - {4 4)
301 39 340 258 39 297
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of iming differences (0 4) 03 01 44 - 44
Reduction in rate of UK corporation tax 02 - 02 - - -
Adjustments in respect of pnor years 01 - 01 01 - 01
{0 1) 03 02 45 - 45
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 300 42 342 303 39 342

Reconciliation of tax expense

The total tax charge for the year 1s lower {2010 higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28% (2010 28%) The differences are

explained as follows

Conttnuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Total operations operations Total
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
% £m ﬂ_n Em £m £
Profit on ordinary activties before tax 1880 132 2012 1119 145 126 4
Share of tax of joint ventures and asscciates 92 01 93 72 01 73
Group profit excluding tax 197 2 133 2105 1191 146 1337
Total tax at 28% (2010 28%) 562 37 589 333 41 374
Effects of
Disallowed expenditure 128 06 134 60 - 60
Tax exempt disposal of assets held for sale (27 7) - (27 7) - - -
Tax differental on wholly owned cverseas earnings 06 - 06 - 01 (0 1)
Difference in effective tax rate of joint ventures and associates (0 6) - (0 6) 25 - 25
Reduction in rate of UK corporation tax 02 - 02 - - -
Adjustments in respect of previous years {13 - “13) 43 - (4 3
Total tax charge for the year 382 43 435 375 40 M5
Share of tax of joint ventures and associates {92) o1 93 (72) Q1) 73
Tax expense In Income Statement 300 42 342 303 39 342

A tax charge of £nil (2010 £nil} 18 included in the Income Statement in respect of specific tems (see note 4)

Factors affecting future tax expense

Pnor to the balance sheet date, the UK Government announced a phased reduction in the main UK corporation tax rate from 28% to 24%, with the
first 1% reduction taking effect from 1 Apnl 2011 {(and substantively enacted on 20 July 2010) On 23 March 2011, the UK Government announced an
additional 1% reduction in the main UK corporation tax rate to 26% taking effect from 1 Apnl 2011 (and substantively enacted on 29 March 2011) A
further three reductions of 1% will follow annually, reducing the corporation tax rate to 23% from 1 Apnl 2014 The impact of the future rate reduchions
will be accounted for in future penods, to the extent that they are enacted at the balance sheet date, however 1t 1s estimated that this will not have a

matenal effect on the Group
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10. Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax

The followming are the major deferred tax liabihttes and assets recognised by the Group, and the movement thereon, dunng the current and pnor year

Fxed asset

temporary Fmancia!
differences. Provisions nstrumetis Other Total
£m Em Em £m Em
At 1 April 2009 92 127 91 58 184
Credited/(charged) to the mcome statement 38 (34) (5 3) 07 {4 2)
Charged to equity - - (0 3) - {03)
Acquisition of subsidianes, joint ventures and associates 03 23 - - 26
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses - (13) - {1 5) {2 8)
At 21 March 2010 51) 103 35 50 137
Creditedf(charged) to the mcome statement 42 (3 6} {17 09 (0 2)
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses {(39) (t 1) - {0 9) (5 9)
At 31 March 2011 (48 56 18 50 76

Other deferred tax balances consist pnmanly of deferred tax assets of £3 7m (2010 £3 3m) on prowvistons for unrealised profits

Deferred tax s recorded in the balance sheet as follows

2611 — 2010

£m £m
Deferred tax assets 229 163
Deferred tax Irabities (15 3) (2 6)
Net deferred tax asset 76 137

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits ts probable The Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets ansing on capital lesses totalling £22 9m (2010 £24 4m) and on
operating losses totalling £mil (2010 £nil) These assets have not been recognised on the basis that there s insufficient certainty that capital or
operating gains will arise against which the Group can utilise these losses

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earmings of subsidianes for which deferred
tax habiites have not been recognised was £ml (2010 £3 1m) No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group 1s
in a position to contrel the iming of the reversal of the temporary differences and those differences are not expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future

Temporary differences ansing i connection with the Group's interests in the undistnbuted retained earnings of associates and jomnt ventures are not
considered to be matenal in either year

11. Discontinued operations

On 1 October 2010, the Board resolved to dispose of the Group’s Magazines operations, subject to imrted tiles being retained on a contract
pubbshing basis Negotiations with interested parties have subsequently taken place and the Group was in exclusive discussions with a potential
partner at the date of approval of the financial statements These operations, which are expected to be sold within 12 months, have been classified as
a disposal group held for sale and presented separately in the balance sheet The operations are mcluded in the Magazines division in the segmental
analysis In note 2 The proceeds of the disposal are expected to substantally exceed the book value of the related net assets and accordingly no
impairment losses have been recogmsed on the classification of these operations as held for sale

The results of the discontinued operations have been included separately on the face of the consolidated income statement Dunng the year, the
discontinued operations contributed £20 9m (2010 £21 2m) to the group’s net operating cash flows, paid £3 5m (2010 Erul) n respect of investing
actvities and paid £0 2m (2010 £0 2m) in respect of financing actmities

Operations which form part of the Magazines division, and which are included within continuing eperations represent those parts of the busmess
which do not form part of the disposal group, including those Magazine titles which are being retained by the Group

Details of assets which are classified as held for sale are given in note 20
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12. Goodwill
“Z011 2010
£m £m
Cost
At beginning of the year 1203 870
Additions 01 253
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses 46 136
Transferred to non-current assets held for sale {51) (56)
1199 120 3
Accumulated impairment losses
At beginming of the year 175 -
Impairments 338 186
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses 11 -
Transferred to non-current assets held for sale - (11
502 175
Carrying amount 697 102 8
Gooadwill, allocated by cash generating unit (CGU), 1s analysed as follows
2011 2010
£m £m
Lonely Planet 345 642
DVD distnbution 253 253
Australian Channels 99 83
UK Magazines - 50
697 1028

The Group tests goodwil! for impairment in the accounting period in which a business combination takes place, thereafter annually, or more frequently
if there are indications that goodwll might be impaired

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are deterrined from value in use calculations The key assumptions used for these calculations are those
regarding discount rates and growth rates Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the
time value of money and the nsks specific to each CGU

Lonely Planet

The goodwill in this CGU arose as a result of the acquisition of Lonely Planet on 1 October 2007 Following the impairment review performed dunng
the year to 31 March 2011, the carrying value of this CGU has been written down to its recoverable amount, resulting in a charge to the income
statement of £33 8m

The Lonely Planet business I1s based in Australia, where most of its costs are incurred Accordingly, the CGU's cost base 1s primanly denominated in
Australian dollars However, the buginess operates internationally and eams revenues in a wide variety of jJunsdictions, with the majonty of its revenue
streams being eamed in sterling and in US dollars  The strength of the Australian dollar in recent years has led to challenging sales conditions for the
Lonely Planet business This has been compounded by declines sice 2008 in key travel gude markets suffening from the impact of the Global
Financial Cnisis Further adverse movements in currency parings dunng the course of the year have weakened the commercial environment in which
the business operates

The Group 15 now in the process of 1dentifying areas where efficiencies can be achieved and greater synergies made with its other operations
Included i the Group's plans are reductions in the local cost base - which will reduce the exposure of the business to Australian dollars - expangion of
the business into new geographical markets and exploitation of the Lonely Planet brand in generating new sources of revenue In accordance with IAS
36 Imparrment of Assets , some of these plans, which were approved by management subseguent to the balance sheet date, have not been reflected
in the forecast future cash flows used n determireng vaiue In use

Had foreign exchange rates at the date of the Group's impairment tests remained unchanged since the pnor year, the imparment recorded in respect
of the Lonely Planet business would have been reduced by £20 7m The remaining impairment of the business reflects the ongoing challenges facing
the industry As described above, management 1s currently In the process of implementing plans which will seek to address these ongoing challenges

The future cash flows used by management in deternrmning the value in use are based on the most recent financial budgets approved by management
and cover a penod of 10 years from the balance sheet date This penod reflects the transition of the business away from traditional pnnt towards
mobile and online content, supported by ongoing investment 1n a proprietary content management system Beyond this penod, forecast cash flows
have been extrapolated based on an estimated growth rate of 3% (2010 3%) This growth rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for
the markets in which the Lonely Planet business operates

The rate used to discount forecast cash flows 18 13 4% (2010 12 8%)
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12 Goodwill (continued)
DVD distribution business

The goodwill n this CGU arose as a result of the acquisition of 2 entertan on 6 August 2009 Pricr to this date, 2 entertain had operated as a joint
venture between BBC Worldwide and Woolworths Group ple ("Woolworths”) The Group gained control of the business on the above date following
the administration of Woolworths, at which point it began accounting for the business as a subisidiary The cash flow projections used in determining
value in use are based on the current business plan approved by management, which covers a five year penod after which cash flows have been
extrapolated using an expected growth rate of 2% (2010 1%)

A discount rate of 12 4% (2010 12 3%) has been apphied to the cash flows

Management are of the wiew that any reasonably possible change In key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount

Australian Channels business

The goodwll in this CGU arose as a result of the acquisition of UK TV on 1 July 2008 Cash flow projections used in the recoverable amount
calculation are based on financial budgets approved by management covering a penod of seven years (2010 eight years) and a discount rate of

13 8% (2010 13 7%) UK TV's cash flows beyond the forecast pernod have been extrapolated using an expected growth rate of 1% (2010 2%) The
terminal growth rate assumes contractual rates remaiming in place and a modest growth of subscnibers as per external sources Cash flow projections
are consistent with the business acquisition plans and those used in the previous year

The main assumption on which the forecast cash flows are based Is license fee rates In forming its assumptions about hcense fee rates, the Group
has used a combination of long term trends and recent contracted terms

Management believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the value m use of UK TV 1s based would not result in any
imparrment

UK Magazines business

On 1 October 2010, the board resolved te dispese of the Group’s Magazines operations (see note 11) Accordingly, assets associated with the
Magazines business, including goodwill, have been classified as held for sale at 31 March 2011 (see note 20}

13 Distribution nghts

2011 2010
£m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 246 8 2104
Additions 1010 917
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses 34) (38
Fully amortised nghts written off (57 3) (49 0)
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) (15} (2 5)
2856 246 8
Amortisation
At 1 April 140 6 1225
Charge for the year 740 725
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses (32) {3 1)
Fully amortised nghts wntten off (57 3) (49 0)
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) {0 6) {2 3)
153 5 140 6
Net book value 1321 106 2

Included within distnbution nghts 1s self-produced content totalling £11 6m (2010 £nil)
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14. Other intangible assets

Tarier
Masthead  Agr Softy Other Total
2011 £m £m £m £m Em
Cost
At 1 Apnl 307 85 293 48 733
Additions - 16 95 - 111
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses 21 06 13 03 43
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) - - (2 2) - 2 2)
28 107 379 51 865
Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 39 09 213 19 280
Charge for the year 15 05 94 08 122
Foreign exchange transtation gains and losses 04 - 09 02 15
Transfers to non-current assets hetd for sale (note 20) - - 07 - 07)
58 14 309 29 410
Net book value 270 93 70 22 455
LCamer
Masthead  Ag 5 Softy Other Total
2010 £m £m £Em £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 24 4 67 273 30 614
Additions - - 49 o8 57
Disposals - - {37} - 37
Foretgn exchange translation gains and losses 63 18 15 10 106
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) - - {0 7) - 07
307 85 293 48 733
Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 18 03 169 08 198
Charge for the year 14 N4 71 08 97
Disposals - - 27 - (27}
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses 07 02 06 03 18
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale {note 20) - - (0 6) - (0 6}
39 09 213 18 280
Neot book value 268 76 80 29 453

Other assets compnse advertising relationships, non-compete agreements and software assets under construction

Of total software additions recognised dunng the penod, £9 3m (2010 £4 7m) related to intemally developed software
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15. Property, plant and equipment

Freshold Short lexsshokd Ptant snd Fixtures Assats under
g Yy and Mmiings constwuction Total
2011 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 02 121 328 115 11 577
Additions - 19 71 21 03 114
Disposals - - @3 - - (0 3)
Foreign exchange translation gams and losses - (U] 04 04 - 07
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) - - (4 4) (0 4) - (4 8)
02 139 356 136 14 647
Depreciation
At 1 Apnl - 45 194 69 - 308
Charge for the year - 15 54 21 - 890
Disposals - - {0 3) - - (03)
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses - (0 1) 02 03 - 04
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) - - {(32) {0 4) - {3 6)
- 59 215 89 - 363
Net book value 02 80 141 47 14 284
Freshold  Short lamsshold Plant and Fixtures Assats under
building: bulldin ry and fitttngs construction Total
2010 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 02 111 342 103 06 56 4
Assets acquired in business combinations - - 07 - - Q7
Additions - 19 29 17 - 65
Disposals - (01) (73) (0 5) - {7 9)
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses - (0 1) 28 08 05 40
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) - (07) (0 5} (0 8) - {20)
02 121 328 115 11 877
Depreciation
At 1 Apnl - 39 18 6 50 - 275
Charge for the year - 12 69 21 - 102
Disposals - ©1) (72} (0 5) - {78
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses - {0 1) 15 10 - 24
Transfers to non-cuirent assets held for sale (note 20) - {0 4) (0 4) (07) - {15)
- 45 194 69 - 3038
Net book value 02 76 134 486 11 26 9

At 31 March 2011, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amecunting to £nil (2010

£nin)

Tangible fixed assets include the following assets held under finance leases

Plant snd F-bmlm Plant and Fixtures
machmery and fittinga Totat machinery arvd fietings Towal
11 21 zn 010 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m £m Em
Cost 19 - 19 19 - 19
Accumulated depreciation (10 - (10) (18 - (18
09 - 09 01 - 01

Assets held under finance lease and hire purchase arrangements are held in Lonely Planet All lease obhigations are denominated in Austrahan
dollars Interest rates are fixed at the contract date Al leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for

contingent rental payments
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16. Investments in joint ventures and associates

A st of the Group's significant investments In jeint ventures and associates, including the name country of iIncorporation and proportion of ownership
interest 15 giver in note e to the Company financial statements

The movement in joint ventures and associates dunng the year was as follows

Joint venturaes Associlates Total Joint ventures Associates Total
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 309 116 42 5 48 9 118 607
Additions 16 21 37 - o7 Q7
Deemed disposal of 2 entertain (see below) - - - (39 5) - (39 5)
Share of results 257 19 276 270 121 391
Adjustment to prowision for unrealised profits {0 4) 01 ©3 - 04 04
Dividends received* (37 5) 05) (38 0) 51) {58) (107)
Funding net of repayments {2 2) - (22) (13) - {13)
Transfers to other recetvables - - - (o 2rg] - 07
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses (0 3) o1 (0 4) (04) - 04
Investment (wniten offjiwmtten back (2 0) 0 1) 21 20 {0 B) 14
Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (note 20) (5 8) (0 3) {6 1) - 72) {72)
At 31 March 100 147 247 309 116 425

* Dividends received excludes £5 8m of dimdends received from Ammal Planet whilst classified as held for sale (see note 29}

Joint ventures and associates are recorded in the balance sheet as follows

Joint ventures Asscciates Total Joint ventures Associates Total
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Investments in joint ventures and associates 193 147 340 439 16 555
Provisions {note 21} {9 3) - {9 3) (13 0) - {13 0)
100 147 247 309 1186 425

Investments 1n joint ventures

Investments i jaint ventures in the current and previous years included the following matenal operations
UKTV

BBC Worldwide has a major partnership deal wath Virgmn Media Telewision Limited (VMTV), the content division of Virgin Media Limited, for the
production and marketing of subscnption channels in the UK The partnership operates under the name UKTV and 1s operated through a number of
discrete Jjoint venture entities, each of which has been accounted for separately

Certain joint ventures and associates with VMTV are loss making and have net habilities In these cases, the Group has no shareholder or other
obligation to fund losses incurred by these entities or to make good their net liabilites For these equity accounted investments the Group onty
accounts for its share of any operating profits or equity once an mndividual venture attains a positive equity position No share of losses 13 included in
the financial statements untl this point

The group headed by UK Geld Holdings Limited (UKGH) has been cumulatively profitable each year since its formation in 1997 but has net

llabiities The net habilies are not a result of trading losses but have ansen entirely from acquisition goodwill wntten off to reserves in 1997 under UK
GAAP Such business combinations pnor to 1 April 2007 were not restated by BBCW on transition to IFRS Equity accounting 1s applied to UKGH as
the Directors consider this to be consistent wath the Group's leng term, constructive commitment to this venture as a result of its programme content
and licensing contractual arrangements The Group's share of the net iabilities of UKGH are recorded wathin prowisions (see note 21)

2 entortain Limited

The Group gamned control of 2 entertain on 6 August 2009 following the insolvency of the Wootworths Group plc Subsequent to this date, the Group
accounts for the business as a subsidiary Upon acquisition of 2 entertain, the Group recorded a deemed disposal of its joint venture mvestment with
the carrying value at the date of acquisition forming part of the acquisition consideration

UKVODLLP

In the year ended 31 March 2008, an independent joint venture, UK VOD LLP, was created by BBC Worldwide, ITV and Channel 4 to develop a new
UK on-demand service known to the industry as Kangaroo On 4 February 2009, the Competition Commission reported that 1t believed the proposed
venture would create a lessening of competition in the emerging video on demand industry in the UK, and blocked the joint venture from continuing
The Group impaired its investment in UK VOD LLP in the year ended 31 March 2009 as a result of the Competition Commussion ruling In July 2009,
UK VOD LLP sold its assets to Arqiva, resulting in a gan to the Group of £2 Om
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16 Investments in joint ventures and associates (continued)

Worldwide Media Limited

In December 2004, BBC Worldwide completed the acquisition of a 50% equity interest in Worldwmide Media Limited, a magazine publishing joint
venture based in India Following a revised assessment of recoverable amount, the Group has written down its investment in Worldwide Media
Limited in the year to March 2011 The investment 1s classified as held for sale at the balance sheet date

A put option over the equity of Worldwide Media Limited 15 exercisable by the Group's joint venture partner If exercised, this option would require the
Group to increase its shareholding from 50% to 74%, through the purchase of ordinary shares held by the Group's joint venture partner The
consideration payable by the Group under this option 1s dependent on the profitability of the joint venture

Freehand International Pty Limited

A put option 1s held by the Group’s joint venture partners in Freehand Intemational Pty Limited which may requrre the Group to increase its
shareholding from 37 §% up to 100% between 2012 and 2013 The consideration payable by the Group under this option 15 determined with reference
to a multiple of earmings

Ragdoll Developments Limited

In Apni 2006, BBC Worldwmde entered into an agreement with Ragdoll Limited to form a joint venture The purpose of the joint venture 1s to exploit and
manage existing Children's intellectuat properties and to mnvest in the development of new intellectual property nghts

The following represents the Group’s aggregate share of joint ventures, including those that were held for sale dunng the year

2019 2010
£m £m
Non-current assets 191 217
Current assets 831 997
Current habilibes (57 1) (397}
Non-cumrent habihities (59 3) (80 4)
Sharcholders® equity (42) 13
Share of net habilities not recogrised 196 24 9
Group's share of net assets of joint ventures 154 26 2
Revenue 1591 1859
Expense (122 4) (152 0}
Taxation (9 6) {6 9)
Share of profit from joint ventures 271 270

Investments in associates

Investments tn associates include the Group's investments in Hardy Pictures Limited, Educational Publishers LLP, Woodlands Books Limited and
Audic London Limited Athough the Group holds only 15% of the voting power of these businesses, it has been conciuded that the Group exerts
significant influence over them, as it has Board representation and participates in policy-making decisions

Representing & 100% share of each associate

2011 2010
£m £m
Total assets 116 8 154 0
Total habilities (121 4) (619 2)
Not liabllities {4 6) (365 2}
Group's share of not liabilities 38 (19}
Revenue 968 186 9
Result for the year 32 142
Group's share of results of associates 19 121
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17 Programme rights and other inventories

2011 2010
£m £m
Programme nghts for broadcast 372 394
Raw matenals and consumables 56 14
Work in progress 93 75
Finished goods and goods for resale 233 24 3
754 726

Within firushed goods and goods for resale 1s inventory of £4 1m (2010 £4 9m), relating to Lonely Planet, which 1s expected to be sold more than 12
months after the balance sheet date in accordance wath the entity's normal operating cycle

18. Trade and other receivables

— 2011 2010
£m £m
Current
Trade recewables 189 3 1300
Prepayments and accrued income 48 4 391
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary undertakings 69 63
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (note 37) 323 270
Other receivables 89 17 3
2858 2197
Non-current
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (note 37) 25 §7
Other receivables - 10
25 67
288 3 226 4

The net carrying amount of trade and other recelvables I1s approximately equa! to their farr value

Included in the Group's trade and other receivables at 31 March 2011, are balances of £21 4m (2010 £16 2m)} which are past due at the reporting
date but not impaired because the Group expects to recover these balances in full and has historical analysis to support the recovery profile The
aged analysis of these balances 1s as follows

Z011 — 2010

£m £m
Up to 3 months 145 140
3 to 6 months 42 19
Over 6 months 27 03
214 16 2

In determiming the recoverability of a trade recevable the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade recevable from the date credit
was initially granted up to the reporting date Trade receivables are prowded for based on estmated irrecoverable amounts, determined by reference

to past default expenence of the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s financial situation The concentration of credit nsk 1s imited due to
the customer base being large and unrelated (see note 36}

There are no significant impairment provisions relating to an individual debtor Amounts charged to the impairment provision are wntten off when there
1S no expectation of recovery Subsequent recovenes of amounts previously wrnitten off are credited to the Income Statement The impairment
provision stands at £2 7m at 31 March 2011 (2010 £6 3m)
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 15 set out below

2011 3510
£m £m
Balance at the beginning of the penod 63 77
On acquisition of subsidiary - 11
Impairment losses recognised 15 21
Amounts written off as uncollectible (37) (0 8)
Impairment losses reversed (13) (38)
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses Q1) -
27 €3
18. Trade and other payables
2011 2610
£m £m
Current
Trade payables 378 66 6
Rights creditors 865 834
Accruals and deferred income 130 6 1202
Other payables including other tax and socral secuirty 551 58 6
Amounts owed to ulimate parent undertaking 354 256
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiary undertakimgs 19 33
Amounts owed to Joint ventures and associates (note 37) 161 23
3634 3600
Non-current
Accruals and deferred income 24 23
Other payables including other tax and social securnty 75 35
99 58
3733 3658
Rights creditors comprise royalty payments owing to contnbutors to telewision programmes, DVDs and other media Other payables include £7 5m
(2010 £37 8m) relating to put options over non-controlling interests (see note 36)
The carrying amount of trade and other payables is approximately equal to their fair value
20 Assets held for sale
The major classes of assets and habiliies compnsing the operations classified as held for sale are as follows In the current year, these relate to
Magazines operations (see note 11) In the pnor year, these related to the Audiobooks business and Amimal Planet investment (see note 29}
2011 2010
£ £m
Goodwll 51 45
Distnbution nghts 09 0z
Other intangible assets 15 01
Investments in joint ventures and associates 61 72
Property, plant and equipment 12 04
Prograrmme nghts and other inventores 14 24
Trade and other receivables 282 69
Cash and cash equivalents - 83
Total assets classlified as held for sale 44 4 300
Trade and other payables (36 5) (12 1)
Current tax habilities - o3
Total habilities associated with assets classified as held for sale (36 5) {12 4)
Net assets of disposal groups 79 176
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21 Provisions
Share of joint
Property venture
related llabilities Litigation Cther Total
£m £m £m Em £m
At 1 Apnl 2009 12 200 - 09 221
Additional prowision in the year 01 - - 08 10
Utiisation of provision - (7 0) - - (70)
On acquisition of subsidiary 06 - - - 06
Released to the income statement - - - (09) 09
At 31 March 2010 19 430 - 09 158
Additional provision 1n the year 01 - 48 27 76
Utilsation of provision (V)] 37 - - (3 8)
Released to the income statement (0 1) - - {09 {10}
At 31 March 2011 18 93 48 27 186
Other provisions pnmanly compnse reorganisation provisions
Prowisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows
2011 2010
£m £m
Current 72 g9
Non-current 114 149
1886 158

22. Interest bearing loans and borrowings

The Group's prnncipal sources of funding and the currencies in which funding 1s denominated are summansed as follows

Australian Australlan
Sterling dollars Total Sterling dollars Total
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2016
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Loans from related parties - 64 5 64 5 237 60 4 841
Bank loans 50 0 - 500 500 - 50 0
500 64 5 144 5 737 604 1341
Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Obligations under finance leases (see note 33) - 09 09 01 - ¢1
500 65 4 1154 738 60 4 134 2
Total borrowings
Amount due for settlement wathin 12 months 200 01 201 - - -
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 300 653 95 3 134 2 - 134 2
50 0 654 1154 1342 - 134 2

The Group has two principal loan facities

() A loan facility of £168 Om (2010 £168 Om) with BBC Commercial Holdings Limited (BBCCH) The loan 1s divided into two tranches a first
tranche of Au$100 0m which expires in June 2012 and attracts interest at the Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate plus a margin of
0 275%, and a second tranche amounting to the remainder of the available facility which 15 denominated in stering and expires in Apnl 2012
Interest on the second tranche attracts interest at LIBOR plus a vanable margin of between 0 275% and 0 325% £50 Om of the BBCCH loan
faciity 1s available only If an equivalent cash balance 18 maintained

) A £50 Om term loan with the European Investment Bank of which £20 0m expires in December 2011 and £30 Om expires in
May 2012 Interest on the loan is accrued based on LIBOR plus a margin of 0 09%

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group negotiated an extension 1o its loan facility with BBCCH (see note 39)
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23. Derivative financial instruments

Non-cumrent Current Non-current
assets Current assets Habilities liabilities Total

2011 £m £m £m £m £m
Derivatives that are designated in effective hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts 08 24 (10) (10) 12
Denvatives that are held for trading
Forward foreign currency contracts 01 11 (30) - {18)
Interest rate swaps - - 06) @1 37)
Interest rate caps - - 03 - 03)
Embedded denvatives 01 - (0 1) [CH)) 0 1)

02 11 (4 0) (32 (59)

10 35 (50) {4 2) an

Non-curment Current Non-currernt
assets Current assets liabllities lkabllities Total

2010 £m £m £m Em £m
Derivatives that are designated in effective hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts 02 09 - - 11
Dertvatives that are held for trading
Forward foreign currency contracts 01 16 (5 1) (24) 58)
Foreign currency optons - 01 - - 01
Interest rate swaps - - - @ 4 1)
Interest rate caps - - - (04) (04}
Embedded dervatives - - - (13 (13}

01 17 (51) (8 2) (41 5)

03 26 51 (8 2) (10 4)

Fair vaiue movements on denvative financial instruments that are held for trading are recorded through the income statement within other gains and

losses

The total notienal pnncipal amount of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2011 was £274 9m (2010 £223 1m) The

hedged forecast transacbons denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at vanous dates in the future

The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting for trades taken out in respect of its forecast foreign currency transactions Hedge accounting 1s only
apphed where approphate designation and documentation, and trades wath parties external to the Group exist Net gains and losses (after tax and non-
controlling interests) recogrised in the hedging reserve on forward foreign exchange contracts in cash flow hedge relationships at 31 March 2011

were £0 3m (2010 £0 5m) These amounts wll be recogrised n the income statement in the penod when the hedged forecast transaction affects the

income statement, at vanous dates over the next twelve months

The notronal principal amounts of the outstanding nterest rate swap contracts at 31 March 2011 were £144 5m (2010 £140 3m) All outstanding

interest rate swaps mature by Apnl 2014

The Group has reviewed contracts for embedded derivatives that are required to be separated from their host contracts Embedded denvatives are

recognised at their fair value with subsequent changes to farr value recorded in the income statement
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24, Called up share capital

2011 2010
£m £m
Authonised
1,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 10 10
Issued, alloted, called up and fully paid
250,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 02 02

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no nght to fixed income

25 Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve i1s used to record the effective portion of cumulative net changes in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to
hedged transactions that have not yet ocurred (net of tax}

268 Translation reserve
Since 1 April 2008, £3 6m of exchange losses on foreign currency borrowings have been offset in reserves against exchange gains on the related

investment In overseas subsidianes The net investment hedge was discontinued from September 2008 following the settlement of the associated
fareign currency borrowings

27. Retained earnings

At 31 March 2011, the cumulative goodwill written off to reserves on acquisitions pnor to 1 Apn! 1998 amounted to £14 2rm This amount 18 unchanged
on prior year and remained in equity upon transition to IFRS as permitted by IFRS1

28 Other reserves

Other reserves at 31 March 2010 compnsed the cost on inihal recognition of a put option over 25% of the 1ssued share capital of Lonely Planet The
put option was exercised by the non-controlling shareholders on 4 January 2041
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29. Disposals
BBC Audiobooks

©n 13 July 2010, the Group disposed of its interest in BBC Audicbooks Limited Consideration was receiwved in the form of cash and 15% of the
ordinary share capital of Audio London Limited The net assets of BBC Audiobooks Linited at the date of disposal and at 31 March 2010 were

13 July 31 March
2010 2010
£m £m
Distnbution nghts 02 02
Cther mntangible assets - 01
Property, plant and equtpment 05 04
Programme nghts and other inventones 23 24
Trade and other receiwvables 44 69
Cash and cash equivalents 21 83
Trade and other payables (36) (12 1)
Current tax habilitres - 03
Attnbutable goodwall 45 45
104 104
Transaction costs 03
Separation costs 18
Translatron reserve transferred to income statement 05
Gamn on disposal 20
Total consideration 140
Satisfied by
Cash and cash equivatents 116
Investment in associate 21
Deferred consideration 03
140
Net cash inflow arising on disposal
Consideration recewved in cash and cash equivalents 116
Less cash and cash equivalents disposed of (2 1}
85

Deferred consideration of up to £0 5m s based on the future profitabihty of BBC Audiobooks Limited and will be settled in cash by the purchaser over
the five year penod ending September 2015

Animal Planet Europe and People & Arts

On 12 November 2010, the Group disposed of its mterests in Animal Planet Europe and People & Arts The Group had classified these investments
as assets held for sale as at 31 March 2010 and has not therefore equity accounted for therm dunng the year to 31 March 2011 As a result of the
cessation of equity accounting, the Group's share of the results of these investments 1s included in the gain en disposal Similarly, dividends received
during the year have been included wathin the calculation of the gain on disposal as follows

12 November 31 March
2040 2010
£m £m
Investment in asscciate 72 T2
Dividends received whilst classified as held for sale (& 8)
14 72
Transaction costs 01
Gan on disposal 06 4
Total consideration 97 9
Satisfied by
Cash and cash equivalents 97 9
Net cash inflow arising on disposal 97 9
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30. Notes to the cash flow statement

Z011 2010
£m £m
Profit for the year 167 0 822
Adjustments for
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (27 6) (401)
Gain on disposal of joint venture (96 4) -
Gain on disposal of subsichary 20 -
Other gains and losses (16) (15 6)
Net finance costs 90 104
Tax charge for the year 342 342
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and eguipment 90 102
Impairrment of goodwall 338 175
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 862 822
Impairment of investments 21 11
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 68 09
Cash flows before movements in working capital 2205 191 2
(Increase)/decrease in trade and cther receivables (77 3) 208
Increase n pregramme nghts and other inventones (4 5) 67
Increase in trade and other payables 55 4 26
Cash generated from operations 1841 2079
Cash generated from operations includes cash flows ansing on discentinued operations (see note 11)
31. Commitments and contingent liabilities
2011 2010
£m £m
Capital commitments
Distnbution nghts 486 392
Intangible assets 09 08
495 400
Other financial commitments
Programme nghts for broadcast 81 105
Other commitments 419 342
500 a4 7
Total unrecognised commitments 99 5 847

The Group's share of commitments for programme acquisitions and broadcasting commitments n respect of its UKTV joint ventures amount to
£15 6m and £48 Om, respectively (2010 £10 3m and £40 1m, respectively)

The Group has a number of contingent habiities ansing from htigation as a result of actvittes undertaken In its ordinary course of business BBC
Worldwide makes specific provision for the best estimate of any damages and costs which might be awarded Prowision Is only made to the extent
that the Directors consider it probable that there will be an outflow of econermic benefits and the amount can be reliably estimated

The Group and some of its fellow BBC Commercial Holdings subsidianes have given guarantees n relation to the BBC Commercial Holdings Limited
revolving credit faciity agreement At 31 March 2011, total amounts drawn down by the BBC Commercial Holdings Group under this facility were
£190 1m (2010 £211 7m)

The Group occasionally enters into contracts with other equity shareholders of its joint ventures and associates to purchase additional equity In some
cases, these contracts place an obhgation on the Group to acquire further shares at the option of the counterparty to the contract The Group has not
recorded a liabthty 10 respect of these contracts as the amounts payable in the event of exercise are based on a proxy for the market value of those
shares Amounts payable under such contracts are not expected to be matenal to the Group as a whole Further information about outstanding put
options with joint ventures and associates is provided in note 16
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32. Operating lease arrangements

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future miimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases,

which fall due as follows

2011

2010

£m £m
Within one year 123 129
In the second to fifth years mclusive 359 348
After five years 258 157
740 634

The majonty of cperating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its properties The rent payable under leases 1s subject

to renegetiation at the vanous intervals specrfied in the leases

33 Obligations under finance leases

The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows

Minlmum lsase Praseri valus of

paywts feste payrents

2011 10 21 2010

Em £m £m £m

Amounts payable under finance leases

Within one year 01 - 01 -
In the second to fifth years inclusive 09 01 08 01
10 01 09 01

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations s approximately equal to thewr carrying amount
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34. Retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes The assets of these schemes are held separately from those of the Group In

independently administered funds Pension costs, representing contributions payable by the Group during the year, amounted to £3 5m (2010
£2 6m)

Many BBC Worldwide employees are members of the BBC Group's pension schemes These compnse the BBC Penston Scheme (a defined benefit
scheme which 1s now closed to new members), a small unfunded plan (the unfunded scheme, which is also closed to new members) and defined
contnbution schemes {Lifeplan and the Group Persenal Pension Scheme)

The BBC Pension Scheme provides benefits on a defined benefit basis funded from assets held in separate trustee-administered funds There are
four sections to the BBC Pension Scheme Old Benefits and New Benefits, which both provide benefits based on final salary (subject to diffenng
inflation caps), Career Average Benefits 2006 (CAB 2006) and Career Average Benefits 201t (CAB 2011} All sections are now closed to new
entrants, subject to potental transfers of participants between sections, as descnbed below

As a consequence of the leve! of net pension deficit reported 1n 2009/10 and the 2010 actuanal valuation changes have been made to future benefits
avallable to members of the Old Benefits, New Benefits and CAB 2006 sections of the scheme From 1 Apnl 2011, future increases in pensionable
salary will be hrmited to a maximum of 1% per annum This has resulted 1n a curtalment gain of £250 4m Members of these sections can choose to
opt out of their current section of memberstup and join CAB 2011 for future pension benefits with pension benefits earned to date being deferred in
the Scheme These deferred pension benefits would increase each year broadly in ine with inflahion

The pension scheme trustees manage the plan in the shott, medium and long term They make funding decisions based on valuations which take a
longer-term wview of the assets required to fund the scheme’s liabiliies

BBC Wortdwde, following the provisions within IAS 19 Employee Benefits for accounting in respect of group schemes, accounts for its participation in
the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme This 1s because there 15 no contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined
benefit cost to scheme parbopants The pension cost for this scheme therefore represents contnbutions payable by the Group to the scheme and the
costs amounted to £13 2m in the year (2010 £12 8m) No contnbutions were prepaid or acgrued at 31 March 2011 (2010 £mil)

The following habilities in respect of retirement benefits have been recorded in the financial statements of the BBC

2011 2010
£m £m_

BBC Pension Scheme 920 5 1,6409

Unfunded Scheme 63 62

926 8 1,647 1

The actuanal valuation for the BBC Penston Scheme was updated for IAS 19 purposes to 31 March 2011 by Towers Watson, consulting actuanes
Additional disclosure about the scheme and its financial position under 1AS 19 1s presented below

Scheme financial position

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m £m

Scheme assets 8,8358 8,154 8 6,454 0 8,042 0 8,117 9
Scheme liabilihes (87563} (9.7957) (6.5926) (7.5136) (7.7886)
Net deficit (9205) (1,6409) (138 6) 528 4 3293

Reconcihation of plan liabilities

The table below tlustrates the movement in plan liabiies dunng the year The most signficant vanables which affect this are the additional year of
pension benefits eamed (and employee centnbutions made), interest charged on existing habilities, any gains or lesses relating to participants leaving
the pension scheme, changes 1n assumptions made and benefits paid out during the year

2011 2010
£m £m
At 1 Apnl 9,7957 6,5926
Current service cost 1928 1282
Past service cost/(income) 193 (301 5)
Gains on curtallments {250 4) -
Interest on penston plan llabihties 5296 463 4
Expenence gamns arising on plan habilities {(717) (332)
Changes in assumptions underlying plan habilities (138 9) 3,266 1
Contnbutions by plan participants 71 72
Benefits pad {327 2) (327 1)
At 31 March 97563 9,7957
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34. Retirement benefits (continued)
Reconciliation of plan assots

The table below illustrates the movement on the plan assets dunng the year The most significant vanables which affect this are the additional year of
contnbutions made, changes in the value of the pension plan assets (including the investment retum) and benefits paid dunng the year

Contnbutions to the scheme are paid via a salary sacnfice arrangement and have therefore been treated as employer contnbutions

2011 2010

£m £m

At 1 Apni 8,154 8 6,454 0
Expected rate of return on plan assets 603 4 443 4
Agctuanal gains on plan assets 931 1,363 0
Contributions by employer 3046 214 3
Contnbutions by plan participants 71 72
Benefits paid (327 2) (327 1)
At 31 March 8,8358 8,154 8

The allocation of assets by the Trustees 1s governed by a need to manage nsk against the desire for high retumns and any hquidity needs A hugh
percentage of assets are held in equities which the Trustees expect will produce higher returns in the long term The target allocation, based on
market values, for equities 1s 50% (UK equities 25% and overseas equities 25%), bonds 30%, property 10% and alternatives 10% Alternatives
nclude pnvate equity, debt and currency

2011 2 2010 2010

i % £m %
Equities 44798 50 7% 457286 56 1%
Bonds 1,9384 21 9% 18254 22 4%
Property 1,0798 12 2% 7873 97%
Alternatives 1,324 4 15 0% 7190 8 8%
Cash 13 4 0 2% 2505 3 0%
At 31 March 8,8358 100 0% 8,154 8 100 0%

The actual retum on scheme assets (being realised gains from the receipt of Investment income such as dividends and rent, transactions where
assets are sold and unreahsed fair value changes) in the year to 31 March 2011 was £697 Om (2010 £1,806 0m)

Funding the Scheme

The 2010 actuanal valuation by Towers Watson of the pension scheme showed a funding shortfall of £1,131m Consequently a recovery plan has
been agreed between the BBC and the pension scheme Trustees whereby addiional contnibutions totalling £605m will be paid by the BBC over the
next 11 years The first such contribution was pard on 28 March 2011 It was also agreed that employer contributions would decrease from 17 9% to
15 2% from 1 Apni 2011 and then to 14 2% from 1 January 2012 Employee contnbutions for Old and New Benefit members rose from 6 8% to 7 5%
from 1 Apnl 2010 Employee contributions for CAB 2005 and CAB 2011 members are 4% and 6% respectively

The next formal actuanal valuation 1s expected to be performed as at 1 Apnl 2013

Projected
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

% % % % %

Employer 14 2/152 179 186 188/M194 188
Employee {Old and New Benefits} 75 75 68 60 60
Employee {CAB 2006} 40 40 40 40 40
Employee {CAB 2011)" 80 - - - -
Underlying cost of scheme to BBC as % of pensionable salanes™ 14 2/152 179 186 188194 188

*  The CAB 2011 secton started on 1 Aprif 2011
** Excludes the cost effectively pard for by the employee and the salary sacnfice element

On the basis assumed above, the BBC expects to make contnbuttons to the scheme totalling £152 6m in the year to 31 March 2012
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34 Retirement benefits {(continued)
Principal actuanal assumptions

The calculation of the scheme liabilities and pension charges, for IAS 19 purposes, requires & number of assumptions, both financial and
demographic, to be made

The prnncipal financial assumphions used by the actuaries, at the balance sheet date were

2011 2010
% %
Rate of increase n salanes 10 37
Rate of increase n pension payments
Old Benefits 37 37
New Benefits 35 35
CAB 2006 24 24
CAB 2011 27 nia
Inftation assumption - Retall Prices Index (RPI) 37 37
Inflation assumption - Consumer Prices Index {CP1)y* 29 n/a
Discount rate 55 55
Expected take up rate** 400 n/a

- The CPI rate 1s only reievant to the CAB 2011 secfion All other sections continue to use the RP! rate, adjusted for the change in statutory
revaluation This has been treated as a change in assumptions

**  Folfowing changes to the pension plans in the current financial year, if 1s anticipated that a proportion of members will transfer out of the current
sechons of the scheme nto either the CAB 2011 or defined contnbution plans

Due to the changes made to future increases in pensionable salary, members of the Old Benefits, New Benefits and CAB 2008 sections of the
scheme may opt out of their current section of membership and join CAB 2011

Scheme members may opt to make this change at any time between 1 Apnl 2011 to 31 December 2011 In calculating the present value of scheme
habiities as at 31 March 2011, the BBC has made an assumption as to the expected level of member changes dunng this ime window Based on the
best available information as at 31 March 2011, the BBC assumes that 40% of eligible members will leave their current sections A sensitivity analysis
surrounding this assumption 1s provided n the table above

The average life expectancy assumptions, for members after retirement at 60 years of age, are as follows

2011 2010
Yea_rs Years
Retinng today

Male 278 270
Female 284 297

Retinng 1n 20 years
'Male 302 290
Fernale 301 318

The longevity assumptions have been selected to reflect the charactenstics and expenence of the membership of the scheme This has been done by
adjusting standard mortality tables ('S1' senes of tables published by the CMI) which reflect recent research into mortality expenence in the UK, with a
long-term rate of improvement of 1 5% per annum for males and 1 0% per annum for females

The sensitivities to changes in the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme's liabiliies are set out below

Tmpact on Tmpact on

schema scheme

Nabllities liabllities

Movement Yo £m
Discount rate Decrease 0 1% 20% 194
Discount rate increase 0 1% 16% 157
Mortality rates Increase/decrease 1 year 30% 295
Proportion of members expected to transfer schemes Increase/decrease 10% 0 4% 47
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35 Capital management

The Group delivers long term value to its 100% shareholder, the BBC, through cash returned in the form of dwdends as a share of the Group's
profits, acquisitrton of BBC content or intellectual property, direct investment in BBC pregramming, production of criginal content and growth in the
capital value of the BBC's equity in the Group The BBC's expectations of the returns from BBC Worldwide include regular cash returns in the form of
dimdends, which are an essential part of the BBC's funding stream, and long term appreciatton in the market value of BBC Wordwde

The dividend policy of the Group 15 therefore set by the BBC to achieve the optimum balance between annual cash returns to the BBC and BBC
Worldwrde investing for growth in, e g programming, intellectual property or other assets to build valug over the long term

The BBC Trust’s pnnciples require stnct comphance with the four Commercial Critena fit with BBC'’s public purposes, brand reputation and brand
values, commercial efficiency, and fair trading policy The Group’s policy 1n making investment decisions 1s geverned by the BBC Trust's principles
and commercial efficiency of the investment The commercial efficiency of an investment 1s determined on a case-by-case basis, wath respect to
financial metrics such as net present value, internal rate of return, payback penod and profit margin The Group's diversified portfolio of businesses
means that generalisation of benchmarks i1s neither desirable, nor possible Therefore, the Group operates a framework for calculating investment
discount rates that are tallored to each investment This framework applies appropniate nsk premiums to the discount rate in order to ensure all nsks
relating to the investment are taken into account and that the required rate of return 1s commensurate with this level of nsk This n turn allows the
BBC and BBC Worldwide to achieve the optimal allocation of capital and balance its short term and long term return goals

36. Financial instruments and rnsk management

Financial risk management objectives

In the normal course of its activities, the Group 1s exposed to a vanety of financial nsks, including market nsk (ncluding currency nisk, interest rate nsk
and pnce nsk), credit nsk and hquidity nsk 8BC Worldwide takes a nsk averse approach to cash and treasury management activities and seeks to
rminimise the Group's exposure to volatility in the financial markets The Group uses denvative financial instruments to hedge certain nsk exposures in
accordance with its hedging policy

The Group's financral nsk management operations are managed internally by BBC Worldwide Group Treasury, with trade execution carned out by
BBC Group Treasury All treasury activities are governed within parameters defined formally in the policies agreed by the BBC Executive Board and
BBC Worldwide Board [n addition, treasury activities are routinely reported and are subject to review by management

The Group's financial instruments, other than those used for treasury nsk management purposes, principally compnise cash and cash equivalents, a
debt facility provided by its parent, external borrowings and various items such as trade receivables and payables that anse directly from ds
operations The Group finances its operations from these financial instruments The Group does not undertake speculative treasury transactions

Currency nsk

BBC Worldwide I1s exposed to foreign exchange nisk ansing from various currency exposures, pnncipally in relation to the US dollar, the Euro and the
Australian dollar The Group generates a surplus in most currencies in which it operates The Group’s share of ncome generated outside the UK was
55 5% 1n 2011 versus 54 6% in 2010

Foreign exchange transaction nsk anses from recognised assets and habiliies and forecast future commercial transactions that are denominated in a
currency thati1s not the transacting entity's functional currency Due to movements in exchange rates over time, the amount the Group expects to
receive or pay when it enters into a transaction may differ from the amount that it actually receves or pays when it settles the transaction A small
proportion of related operating expenses will also be denomunated 1n these foreign currencies providing some level of offset to these revenue
exposures

The Group has implemented a hedging policy to minimise volatility in its financial results The group's policy 18 to hedge the majonty of its forecast net
foreign currency trading covenng a penod of one year, and a proportion of forecast trading for a further year thereafter Forward currency contracts
allow the Group to settle transactions at known exchange rates, a therefore to reduce uncertainty ansing from currency nsk

The overall cost of these contracts in the income statement is therefore fixed, however where these contracts span financial years and hedge
accounting 1s not applied, the fair value of the forward currency contracts results 1n tiring gainsflosses in each financial year The gains/losses seen
are therefore a result of market conditions as oppesed to vanances in contract value

Some contracts may contain clauses whereby changes in currency rates outside an agreed range impact on the contract price, in the majonty of
cases the value of the individual contracts and other features within the contract hmit the currency ngk exposure to a level that 1s not significant to the
Group Such clauses have been separated from the host contracts and recorded as embedded denvatives The movement tn fair values in these
denvalives 15 recorded through the income statement Further details of the value of embedded denvatives i1s given in note 23
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36. Financial instruments and risk management {continued)

Currency nisk {continued)

Foreign exchange translation nsk anses from the translation of overseas subsidianes’ income statements and balance sheets into sterling This
translation currency nsk may be hedged by funding overseas investments with leans in the same functional currency as the overseas investment No
such net investment hedges were in place at 31 March 2011 or 31 March 2010

Since July 2010 the majonty of the forward foreign currency contracts entered into by the Group were designated as hedging instruments in effective
cash flow hedges Corresponding fair value movements have, accordingly, been recorded within other comprehensive income For forward fereign
currency contracts not designated as hedging instruments, movements in fair value are recorded directly in the income statement within ‘other gains
and losses'

The followang table shows the profit or loss and equity impact of a 10% adverse movement in currency rates on the Group's dervative financial
instruments

7611 2070

£m £m

Forward foreign currency contracts (194) (140}
Foreign currency options - 01

Embedded denvatives (10 {14

Total impact on denvatives (20 4) (153)

Impact on ncome statement (78 (151)

Impact on other comprehensive Income (12 6) (02)

Total impact on comprehensive Income (20 4) {153)

The same movement in currency rates would result in an income statement gain of £3 3m (2010 gain of £1 7m) in respect of the Group’s Interest
bearing loans and borrowings and intragroup monetary assets and habiliies not ehrminated on consohidation

Interast rate risk

The Group’s main exposure to interest rate fluctuations anses on external interest beanng habilities and loans from its parent undertakings BBC
Worldwide borrows at floating rates of interest creating an exposure to cashflow interest rate nsk BBC Worldwide then use interest rate swaps, caps
and collars to generate the desired interest profile and to manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations The Group uses interest rate
swaps to fix interest rates so that greater certainty about the level of future interest payments can be achieved Interest rate swaps, caps and collars
are taken out based on projected borrowing requirements, therefore differences will occur between the notional amount of swaps, caps and collars
and the actual borrowing requirements

If interest rates had been 1% higher and all other vanables were held constant, the Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 would increase by
£2 5m (2010 increase by £3 7m} The incremental increase in profit 15 pnmarily attnbutable to the effect that such a change in interest rates would
have on the farr value of interest rate swaps which fix all of the Group’s externa! floating rate interest

Other price nsk
Other price nsk ts any pnce change other than those arising from changes in currency or interest rates
Credit nsk

Credit nsk 1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument falls to meet its contractual obligations
Credit nsk anses from cash and cash equivalents, denvative financial instruments, available-for-sale financial assets and trade and other receivables
Group treasury policies require that cash and cash equivalents and denvative financial instruments are held primanly with banks of A+ rating or better

The Group's credit nsk management policy in refation to trade receivables involves regulardy assessing the financial rehability of custorers, taking into
account several factors such as therr financial position and histoncal performance Despite the existence of some key customers in major
geographies, there 1s no matenial concentration of credit nsk with respect to trade recevables as the Group has a large number of customers,
geographically dispersed Credit terms, where given, are generally for a 30-day period The carrying amount of financial assets included in the
financial statements represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit nsk in relation to these assets

The Group's other classes of financial assets do not contain impaired assets and are not past due
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36 Financial instruments and nsk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity nsk 1s the nsk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due BBC Worldwide 1s subject to cellings imposed
on its borrowings by BBC Group, which in turn 15 subject to Imits set by the Secretary of State in accordance with the Agreement between the BBC
and the Department for Culture Media and Sport At 31 March 2011 the net debt imit imposed by BBC Group on BBC Worldwide was £118 Om
{2010 £118 0m), with a gross debt imit of £168 Om subject to corresponding cash balances being held These mits are subject to review going
forward

BBC Worldwide’s loan with the European Investment Bank {EIB) 1s subject to debt covenants based on the Group’s eamings before interest, taxation,
depreciation and amortisation, and in addition excluding charges ansing from business disposals or restructuring (EBITDA) The covenants, which
have been met throughout the year are

- Net borrowings not to exceed three times EBITDA, and
- EBITDA to exceed three times net interest cost

The Group 1s also active in monitonng its debt covenants which have been met at 31 March 2011

In order to comply with these ceilings together with the terms of any individual debt instruments, BBC Wordwide manages its hiquidity through a
number of measures, including regular cash flow reporting, forecasting, hedging agamnst foreign exchange fluctuations and proactively managing
working capital

The table befow analyses the Group's financial labiities into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining penod to contractuzl matunty at the
balance sheet date The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and will therefore not reconcile to the amounts

disclosed in the balance sheet for borrowings, denvative financial instruments and trade and other payables

Due in Due atter
less than Due in Due in more than

1 year 1to 2 years 2to 3 years 3 years Total
2011 £m £m £m £m £m
Financial liabihties at fair value through profit and loss
Dernivative financial instruments 35 22 14 - 71
Embedded denvatives - - . - -
Other creditors - 75 - - 75
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Bank loans 204 300 - - 504
Loans owed to ntermediate parent undertaking 33 653 - - 686
Obligations under finance leases 01 09 - - 10
Trade and other payables (excluding accruals and deferred income) 2403 - - - 240 3

Due in Due after

less than Due In Due In more than

1 year 1to 2 years 2to 3 years 3 years Tota!
2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Financial liabiities at fair value through profit and loss
Denvative financial nstruments 50 35 o8 27 120
Embedded denvatives - - 02 11 13
Other creditors 406 - 35 - 44 1
Financlal labilities measured at amortised cost
Bank loans 03 203 300 - 5086
Loans owed to intermediate parent undertaking 93 328 64 0 26 1087
Obhigations under finance leases - 01 - - 01
Trade and other payables {excluding accruals and deferred income) 2453 - - - 2453

The Group's loan facility from its parent contains a provision for that facility to be cancelled in June 2012 in the event that BEBC Commercial Holdings
ts unable to successfully refinance its Revolving Credit Facility The refinancing of BBC Commercial Holdings 1s expected to be completed by the end
of 2011 The Directors do not foresee any difficulty in obtaimng such funding
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36 Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Fair value lierarchy and valuation techniques

The followang table prowvides an analysis of financial Instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recogmition at fair value, grouped into Levels
1to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value 1s observable

*  Level 1 fair value measurements are those denved from quoted market pnces (unadjusied) in active markets for identical assets and habilities,

*  level 2 farr value measurements are those denved from mputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are chservable for the asset
or hability, either directly {1 e as pnces) or indirectly | € derived from pnces), and

+ Level 3 far value measurements are those denved from valuation techmques that include inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on
cbservable market data (unobservable inputs)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 20t0
£m £m £m £ £m £m £m £m
Financial assets at fair value
Denvative financial mstruments - 44 - 44 - 29 - 29
Embedded denvatives - 01 - 01 - - - -
- 45 - 45 - 29 - 29
Financial liabilities at fair value
Denvative financial instruments - 90 - 90 - (12 0) - (12 0)
Embedded denvatives - 02 - 02) - 13 - a3
Other payables - - (7 5) (7 5) - - (41 3) (41 3)
- (9 2) (7 5) (16 7) - (13 3) 413 (54 6)

There were no transfers between levels dunng the year

The fair values of denvative financtal instruments are calculated using quoted prnices Where such pnces are not avallable, a discounted cash flow
analysss 1s performed using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional denvatives, and option pricing models for
optional denvatives Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves denved from quoted
interest rates matching the matunities of the contracts Interest rate swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and
discounted based on the applicable yield curves denved from quote interest rates

Level 3 financial habilities recorded at fair value and included within other payables relate to wntten put options i1ssued to non-controlling interests The
farr value of such instruments 1s calculated based on the stnke price of the options and management's best eshmate of the date at winch options may
be exercised Cptions outstanding at 31 March 2011 may be exercised at dates within the penod Apnl 2012 to Apnl 2014 (2010 January 2011 to Apnl
2014) Where the stnke pnce of an option 18 based on the fair value of the underlying business, this has been estimated based on forecasts of future
cash flows prepared by management A discount rate of 12 5% (2010 11%) was applied fo the forecast post-tax cashflows

The change n far value of Level 3 financial instruments 1s reconciled as follows

2011 2010

£m £m

Opening balance (413) (32 3)
Issues - (330}
Settlements 417 368
Unwinding of discount recorded within finance expense (2 8) (14)
Change n fair value recorded in other gains and losses (40) (3 5)
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses (11) (7 9)
Total ./mpact on comprehensive income (7 5) (31 3)

Put options over non-controling tnterest include a put option over 25% of the 1ssued share capital of Lonely Pianet This put option was renegotated
in the year to 31 March 2010, resulting in the cancellation and reissue of the eption with revised terms of exercise The revised option was exercised
by non-controlling interests on 4 January 2011 resulting in an increase in the Group's ownership interest in Lenely Planet from 75% to 100%, effective
14 February 2011

In accordance with |IAS 27 (2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements , the exercise of the Lonely Planet put option has been treated as
an equity transaction
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Trading transactions

The related party transactions of the Group have been presented in accordance wath IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures Related parties of BBC
Worldwide include its subsichary, associated and joint venture undertakings, its parent undertakings and fellow subsidiares, and key management
personnel of the Group and their close family members Transactions between the BBC and BBC Worldwide Group pension schemes are detalled in
note 34

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes, which are related parties, have been eiminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in
this note Amounts owed by and to the BBC, the intermedsate parent undertaking and fellow subsidiary undertakings wathin the BBC Group are
reported 1n notes 18 and 19 respectively

The following table dlustrates transactions with BBC Group entities dunng the year

2011 2610
£m £m
Investments in BBC programme nghts (74 4) {77 5)
Dividends paid (83 4) (32 1)
Interest costs (33) 60
Other income 121 129
Other expense (40 6) (46 8)

(189 6) (149 5)

Other income primanly relates to commussion charged on advertising Other expense includes such items as property recharges, pension charges,
and vanous other items under service level agreements

The value of transactions conducted with joint ventures and associates was as follows

Dividends Dlvidends

Incame p r fved | Exp ived

2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010

Name of related party Relatlenship £m £m £m £m £m £m
2 entertan Limited” Joint Venture - - . 101 (04 -
UK Channel Management Limited Jomt Venture 103 - 48 08 - 27
UK Gold Holdings Limited Joint Venture 386 - 128 336 - 24
JV Programmes LLC Joint Venture 20 (0 3) 142 1989 (0 2} -
Other joint ventures Joint Venture 41 72) 57 27 (36) -
Fronthne Limited Assocrate - (22) 02 - (2 1} 03
Other assoctates Associate 77 {5 2) 61 B5 {(13) 53
687 (14 9) 438 836 (7 6) 107

* 2 entertain Limited was accounted for as a joint venture up to August 2009 and as a subsidary since thatdate Transachons and balances
subsequent to acquisition have been excluded from the above amounts

The following amounts were outstanding at the balance sheet date

Recelvables Payables Net balance Receivables Payables Net balance

2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010

Name of retated party Relationship £m £m £m £Em Em £m
UK Channel Management Limited Joint Venture 41 (12 2) 81 24 - 24
UK Gold Holdings Limited Joint Venture 158 - 158 68 - 68
JV Programmes LLC Joint Venture 05 - 05 11 01 10
Other joint ventures Joint Venture 24 (31) @7 25 7 18
Frontline Limited Associate 58 (0 8) 51 69 {15) 54
Other associates Associate 88 - 88 130 - 130
375 (16 1) 214 27 (2 3} 04

At 31 March 2011, the Group also had an outstanding balance of £2 2m payable to a joint venture of the Group's ulimate parent in respect of group
relief This balance i1s included wathin other payables
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37. Related party transactions {continued)

Remuneration of key management personnel

The Group considers key management personnel as defined under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to be directors of the Group, together with the
BBC Worldwide Executive Committee Total emoluments for key management personnel were

2011 2010

£m £m
Short-term employee benefits 64 57
Post-employment benefits 05 14
Other long-term benefits 08 06
Termination benefits 02 -
79 77

The above figures for emotuments include the remuneration of Directors (note 7)

38. Parent undertaking and controlling party

The Group’s immediate parent 1s BBC Ventures Group Limited, which 1s in turn 100% owned by BBC Commercial Holdings Limited The ultimate
parent underiaking and controlling party is the British Broadcasting Corporation, which is incorporated in the United Kingdom by the Royal Charter
The largest group in which the results of BBC Worldwide are consolidated 1s that headed by the BBC The consolidated accounts of the BBC may be
obtained online at wwaw bbe co ukfannualreport

39. Events after the balance sheet date

Cn 3 May 2011, the Group renegotiated its loan facilities with its intermedsate parent company, BBC Commercial Holdings Limited The Group's
funding from BBC Commerctal Holdings Limited now consists of a £168 0m multicurrency loan facility which supersedes the faciities in place at the
balance sheet date The revised facility expires in September 2012, and 15 subject to BBC Commercial Holdings Limited renewing its own borrowing
facility, which s due to expire in June 2012

Gn 9 June 2011, a dividend of £34 5m in respect of 2010/11 was declared

There were no other events subsequent to the balance sheet date details of which are required to be included 1n the financial statements
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As at 31 March 2011

2011

2010

Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Distribution rights c 116 6 1004
Tangible fixed assets d 17 4 193
Investments e 158 8 197 7
2928 317 4
Current assets
Programme rights and other stock f 17 4 188
Debtors
- due within one year g 404 7 3649
- due after one year g 84 40
430.5 3877
Creditors amounts falling due within one year h (387 5) (369 8)
Net current assets 430 179
Total assets less current habilities 3358 3353
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year h 98 7) (142 7)
Provisions for llabilities and charges I {3 5) {2 5)
Net agsets 2336 1901
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital k 02 02
Profit and loss account | 2334 1899
Shareholders’ funds 2336 190 1

The financial statements of BBC Worldwide Limited, registered number 1420028, were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for 1ssue
on 10 Jupe 2011 They were signed on its behalf by

miith
Chief Executive Office

Philip Vincent
Chief Financial Officer
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a. Principal accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 They have been prepared in accordance
with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and law and are principally prepared under the historical cost convention Areas where an
alternative basis of accounting has been appled are identfied in the accounting policies below These policies have been applied consistently
throughout the year and the preceding year

Going concern
The financial statements are presented on a going concern basis and under the historical cost accounting convention
Investments

Fixed asset investments in subsidianes, joint ventures and associates are shown at cost less provision for imparment fnvestments are reviewed for
impairment if there are indicators that the carrying value may not be recoverable Only dividends receved and receivable are credited to the
Company's profit and loss account

Foreign currency
The Company’s presentational currency s sterhng Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at 2 monthly average exchange rate

Monetary assets and habilihes denominated in foreign currencies are translated inte sterling at the balance sheet date at the rate of exchange ruling
at that date Surpluses and deficits ansing from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities at these rates of exchange, together with exchange
differences ansing from trading, are included in the profit and loss account

Distnbution nghts

Distribution nghts represent nghts to programmes and assoctated intellectual property acquired with the pnmary intention of exploiting the nights
commercially as part of the Group’s long-term operations Distribution rights are imitially recognised at acquisition cost or production cost, when the
Group controls the respective assets and the nsks and rewards attached to them The camrying amount 1s stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and provision for impairment

Amortisation of distrtbution nghts 1s charged to the income statement to match the average revenue profile of the programme genre over its estimated
average marketable Iife The expected lives of distnbution nghts range from 1 to 10 years

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost after any provision for impairment, less accumulated depreciation

Expenditure on fixed assets 1s capritalised together with directly atinbutable costs incurred on capital projects Depreciation 1s charged so as to write
off the cost of assets to therr residual value, over their expected useful lives using the straight-lne methed Depreciation commences from the date an
asset 15 brought into serice

The useful lives for depreciation purposes for the principal categornes of assets are

* Short leasehold bulldings Unexpired lease term
+ Plant and machinery 3 to 8 years
+ Fixtures and fitings 3to 7 years

Leased assets
QOperating lease rentals payable are recogrised on a straight Iine basis over the term of the lease The Company has no finance leases
Impairment of fixed assets

The Company reviews the carrying amounts of its fixed assets in accordance with FRS 11 impamrment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment loss ts recognised in the profit and loss
account for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount

Stocks

Stocks comprising bocks, DVDs, paper, raw matenals, and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Programme
rights for broadcasting refer to the programme nghts acquired for the future broadcast on one of the Company’s television channels or for sale to third
party broadcasters The carrying amount is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation, and after wniting off the costs of programme nghts that are
considered rrecoverable

Financial instruments

The Company has chosen to adopt FRS 26 Financral Instruments Recognifion and Measurement Policies applied by the Company in respect of
financial mstruments are therefore consistent with those applied by the Group Further detalls about the Group's financial instrument policies and their
application 1s provided in the note 1 to the Group financial statements
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a. Principal accounting policies (continued)

Provistons

A provision 1s recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation ansing from past events and it 1s
probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation Provisions, other than deferred tax, that are payable over a
number of years are discounted to net present value at the balance sheet date using a discount rate appropriate to the particular provision concerned

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its group, the Company
considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such In this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a
contingent [lability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee

Pension costs

For defined contnbution schemes, the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs 1s the contributions payable in the
year Differences between contnbutions payable in the year and contributions actually pard are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the
balance sheet

The Company alse participates in the BBC Pension Scheme, a mult-employer defined benefit scheme As there 1s no contractual agreement or
stated policy for charging the net defined benefit cost to scheme participants, the Company has taken the exemption in FRS 17 Retirement benefits
to account for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme

Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid {or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s recogmsed mn respect of all timing differences that have oniginated but not reversed at the balance sheet date Timing differences arise
where transactions or events occurring prior to the balance sheet date result in an obligation to pay more tax, or a night to pay less tax, in a future
penod owing to differences between between the Company's taxable profits and its profit for the year as stated i its financial statements

Except where otherwise required by accounting standards, full provisicn without discounting 1s made for all tming differences that have ansen but not
reversed at the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that, on the basis of all avallable evidence, it 15 more likely than
not that they will be recovered

Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dividends unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recognised as a liability at that date to the extent that they are appropnately authonsed and are
no longer at the discretion of the Company Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria are disclosed in the notes to the Company financial
statements
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b Profit for the year

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account for the year The
Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 March 2011 of £126 9m (2010 £106 7m)

The auditors' remuneration for audit and other services i1s disclosed in note 6 of the consolidated financial statements

¢. Distribution rights

£m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2010 2079
Additions 925
Ehmination in respect of pregrammes fully amortised {66 4)
2340
Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 2010 1075
Charge for the year 763
Elmination in respect of programmes fully amortised {66 4)
117 4
Net book value at 31 March 2011 116 6
Net book value at 31 March 2010 100 4
d. Tangible fixed assets
Short
leasehold Plant & Fixtures & Assets under
buildings Machinery Fittings construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2010 72 340 52 - 46 4
Additions 01 65 01 03 70
73 405 53 03 534
Depreciation
At 1 Apnl 2010 15 231 25 - 271
Charge for the year 09 66 14 - 89
24 297 g - 360
Net book value at 31 March 2011 49 108 14 03 174
Net book value at 31 March 2010 57 109 27 - 193

The Company does not hold any assets under finance leases (2010 £nil)
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e. Fixed asset investments

2011 2010
£m £m

Subsidianes
Jont ventures
Associates

1312 1713
148 148
128 116

158 8 197 7

The Company has investments in the following subsidianes, jont ventures and associates which prncipally affected the profits or net assets of the
Group Toavold a statement of excessive length, details of investments which are net significant have been omitted

Country of P tion
or pnncipal business Ownership
Note address Principal activity interest
Subsidhary undertakings
BBC Worldwide Americas Inc + USA Holding company 100%
BBC Worldwide Australia Pty Limited + Australia Programme distnbutor 100%
BBC Worldwide Canada Limited + Canada Programme distributor 100%
BBC Worldwide France Sarl + France Programme distributor 100%
BBC Worldwide Germany GmbH + Gemany Programme distnibutor 100%
BBC Worldwide Japan KK + Japan Programme distributor 100%
BBC Worldwide Productions LLC USA Content producticn 100%
BBC Worldwide Reahty Productions LLC USA Content producticn 100%
BBC Worldwide Channels Australasia Pty Limited Austraha TV channel operator 100%
New Video Channel Amernca LLC USA TV channel operator 100%
UK Programme Distribution Limited + England & Wales Programme distnibutor 93%
BBC Magazmes Holdings Limited + England & Wales Holding company 100%
BBC Magazines Limited England & Wales Publishing cempany 100%
BBC Magazines Rights 3 Limited England & Wales Rights licensing 100%
Bristol Magazines Limited England & Wales Publishing company 100%
BBC Worldwide Australia Holdings Pty Limited + Australia Holding company 100%
Lonely Planet Publications Pty Limited Australia Publishing company 100%
Lonely Planet Pubiications Inc USA Publishing company 100%
Lonely Planet Publications Limited England & Wales Publtshing company 100%
2 entertain Limited + England & Wales Holding company 100%
2 entertan Video Limited England & Wales DVD/video publisher 100%
Demon Music Group Limited England & Wales CD/music publisher 100%
BBC com Limited + England & Wales Digital media provider 100%
Bedder 6 Limited + England & Wales Content creation 50%
Worldwide Channel Investments Limited + England & Wales Holding company 100%
Joint ventures
UK Channel Management Limited + England & Wales TV channel operator 50%
UK Gold Holdings Limited + England & Wales Holding company 50%
UK Gold Services Limited England & Wales TV channel cperator 50%
JV Programmes LLC USA Content creation 50%
Freehand International Pty Limited + Austraha Content creation 38%
Ragdoll Worldwide Limited + England & Wales Content creation 50%
BBC Haymarket Exhibitions Limited England & Wales Consumer exhibition organiser 50%
Dovetarl Services (UK) Holdings Limited + England & Wales Magazine subscnption fulfiller 50%
Park Publishing Partnership Austraha Magazine producer 50%
Sub-Zero Events Limited England & Wales Live stage-performance operator 25%
Worldwide Media Limited India Publishing company 50%

+ Held directly by BBC Worldwide Limited
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e. Fixed asset investments {(continued)

Country ol Incorporation

or principal business Ownership
Name Note address Principal activity interest
Associates
Baby Cow Productions Limited + England & Wales Content creation 25%
Big Talk Productions Limited + England & Wales Content creation 25%
Clerkenwell Films Limited + England & Wales Content creation 25%
GPMedia S A Argentina Content creation 35%
Left Bank Pictures Limited + England & Wales Content creation 25%
Sprout Pictures {TV} Limited + England & Wales Content creation 25%
Temple Street Productions Inc + Canada Content creation 25%
Tower Productions GmbH + Germany Content creation 49%
Children’s Character Books Limited + England & Wales Children’s book publisher 25%
Fronthine Lirmited + England & Wales Magazine distnbutor 23%
Ongin Publishing Limited England & Wales Magazine publisher 39%
AudioGo Limited* England & Wales Audiobook publisher 15%
Cover to Cover Casettes Limited England & Wales Audiobook publisher 15%
Educational Publishers LLP + England & Wales Educational product icensor 15%
Wocedlands Books Limited + England & Wales Book publisher 15%
+  Held directly by BBC Worldwide Limited
*  Formerly BBC Audiobooks Limited
Jount
Submidiaries ventures  Associates
Em £m £m
Cost
At t Apnil 2010 185 1 148 1186
Additions 415 - 14
Disposals {8 8) - -
2278 148 130
Provisions for impairment
At 1 April 2010 {238} - -
Written off (72 8) - (0 2)
(96 6) - {02
Net book value 1312 14 8 128

Dunng the year, new shares were issued to the Company by s subsidiary, BBC Worldwide Australia Holdings Pty Ltd (WAH) Proceeds from the
1ssue of these shares were used by WAH to fund its purchase of the remaining 25% of equity of Lonely Planet Publications Pty Ltd (LP) that it did not
already own This purchase resulted from the exercise of a put option previously 1ssued to the minonty LP shareholders

Following an assessment of its carrying value, the Company's investment in WAH has been written down by £72 8m to its recoverable amount The
recoverable amount i1s based on value in use calculations using forecast cash flows approved by management and translated into the Company's

functional currency using spot rates

Further information about key assumptions used in determining value 1n use are given In note 12 to the consclidated financial statements

In the year to 31 March 2011, the Company also disposed of its investment in BBC Audiobooks Limited Consideration receved on disposal included
15% of the ordinary share capital of Audic London Limited, which was consequently racognised as an associate during the year
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f. Programme rights and other stock

2011 2010
£m £m
Programme nghts for broadcasting 16 0 181
Raw matenals and consumables 01 01
Work in progress 04 01
Finished goods for resale 09 05
174 18 8
g Debtors
— 2011 2010
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Trade debtors 958 711
Prepayments and accrued mcome 126 83
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 2593 2419
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary undertakings 58 247
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates 220 16
Denvative financia! instruments 20 26
Corporation tax recoverable 22 -
Deferred tax 14 12
Qther debtors 36 35
4047 3649
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by associates and joint ventures 26 -
Denivative financial instruments 08 03
Deferred tax 50 37
B4 40
4131 368 9
h. Creditors
2011 2010
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Bank loans and overdraft 439 154
Trade creditors 350 395
Rights creditors 424 331
Accruals and deferred income 939 591
Amounts owed to ultimate parent undertaking 296 212
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 11561 1708
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiary undertakings 42 28
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates 24 c1
Corporation tax payable - 71
Denvative financial instruments 49 43
Other creditors including other taxes and social secunty 16 1 16 3
3875 3698
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Bank loans 300 500
Loan owed to intermediate parent undertaking 645 841
Denwvative financial instruments 42 86
987 1427
Total creditors 486 2 5125

Detalls of bank loans and loans owed to the Company's intermediate parent undertaking are given in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
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i. Provisions for liabilities and charges and contingent liabilities

Qther
Defarred tax  pr Total
£m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2010 08 17 25
Provided duning the year - 20 20
Released in the year - (10) (10
At 31 March 2011 08 27 35

Other provisions primarily relate to property dilapidations and reorganisation costs

The Company also has a number of contingent hiabilities anising from liigation as a result of activities undertaken in its ordinary course of business
BBC Worldwide makes specific provision for the best estimate of any damages and costs which might be awarded Prowvision 1s only made to the
extent that the Directors consider it probable that there will be an outflow of economic benefits and the amount can be reliably estimated

Further deferred contingent consideration may be payable in connection with acquisitions made by the Company No provision has been made where

the likelihood and magnitude of addiional payments cannot be assessed with reasonable ceftainty

The Company and some of its subsidianies operate a cash pooling arrangement All the cash balances within the pool belong to the legal entity to

which they refate, although the Company has access to all funds and each cash pool participant 1s jointly and severally liable for any overdraft

balance At 31 March 2011, tota! overdrafts under this arrangement were £105 2 million (2010 £61 7 million)

The Company and some of its fellow BBC Commercial Holdings subsidiaries have given guarantees in relation to the BBC Commercial Holdings
Limited revolving credit facility agreement At 31 March 2011, total amounts drawn down by the BBC Commercial Holdings Group under this facility

were £98 0 milion (2010 £211 7 mullion)

j- Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s provided as follows

Fixed assot Denvative
timing timing
differences differencas Other Tota!
£m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2010 05 28 oF:] 41
Charged/(credited) to profit and loss 34 (11} (0 8) 15
At 31 March 2011 38 17 - 56
k. Called up share capital
2011 2010
£m £m
Issued and fully paid
250,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each 02 02
The company has cne class of shares which carry no nght to fixed income
. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
Profit and
Share caplital loss account Total
£m £m £m
At 1 April 2009 02 1155 1157
Profit for the year - 1067 106 7
Dividends paid - (321) (32 1)
Exchange adjustment - 02 02
At 31 March 2010 02 1899 190 1
Profit for the year - 126 9 126 8
Dividends paid - (83 4) (83 4)
At 31 March 2011 02 2334 2336
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m. Financial commitments

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not provided are as follows

2011 2010
£m £m
Software 05 05
Distribution nghts 486 392
Development funding 41 1 0_
Total 532 407
Future mintmum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases, payable in the next year, are as follows
2011 2010
Land & Land &
buildings Other Total buildings Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Leases which expire
Within one year - 08 o8 01 18 19
Between two and five years 02 - 02 03 04 07
After more than five years 62 - 62 60 - 60
Total 64 08 72 64 22 86
The Company also has the following unprovided financial commitments .
2011 2010
£m £m
Programme rights for broadcast 81 105
Other commitments 14 2 28
Total 223 133

n Related party transactions

The Group consoldated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 contan related party disclosures Consequently, the Company has
taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures, not to disclose transactions with other members of the BBC Group

The value of transactions conducted with non wholly-owned subsidianes and with other related parties was as follows

Dindends Dividends
Income Expense received Income Expense receved
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
Name of related party Relationship £m £m £m £m £m £m
Bedder 6 Limted Subsidiary 63 - 30 46 - 08
UK Programme Distnbuticn Limited Subsidrary 46 3 - - 392 - 30
526 - 30 438 - 38
2 entertain Limited* Jomnt Venture - - - 101 {0 4) -
UK Channel Management Limited Joint Venture 103 - 48 108 - 27
UK Gold Holdings Limited Joint Venture 386 - 128 336 - 24
JV Programmes LLC Joint Venture 90 - - 199 - -
Other joint ventures Joint Venture 37 (37) 54 19 (08) - :
Associates Associate 47 (4 9) 04 48 (13) 06 |
66 3 (8 6) 234 811 {23) 57 '
118 9 {8 6) 264 1249 {2 3) 95

* 2 entertain Limited was accounted for as a joint venture up to August 2009 and as a subsidiary since that date Transactions and balances

subsequent to acquisition have not been disclosed
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n. Related party transactions (continued)

The following amounts were cutstanding with related parties at the balance sheet date

Receivables Payablas Net balance Recewvables Payzbles Neot balance

2011 2041 2011 2010 2010 2010
Narne of related party Relationship Em £m £m £m £m £m
Bedder 6 Limited Subsidiary - (13 9) {(139) - (8 6) 86)
UK Programme Distnbution Limited Subsidiary 115 - 115 - {0 1) 01
15 {13 9) 24 - 87) 87
UK Channel Management Limited Joint Venture 41 - 41 24 - 24
UK Gold Holdings Limited Jomnt Venture 144 - 14 4 68 - 68
Other joint ventures Joint Venture 22 (2 4) (02) 15 o1 14
Associates Associate 39 - 39 09 - 09
246 (24) 222 116 o1 15
381 (16 3) 198 16 {8 8) 28

At 31 March 2011, the Company also had an outstanding balance of £2 2m payable to a jont venture of the Company’s ultimate parent in respect of
group relief This balance s included within other payables

0. Post balance sheet events

On 3 May 2011, the Company renegotiated its loan facilities with its intermediate parent, BBC Commercial Holdings Limited The Company's funding
from BBC Commercial Holdings Limited now consists of a £168 Om multicurrency loan facility which supersedes the facilities in place at the balance
sheet date The revised facility expires in September 2012, and 15 subject to BBC Commercial Holdings Limited renewing its own borrowing facility,
which i1s due to expire in June 2012

On 9 June 2011, a dividend of £34 5m In respect of 2010/11 was declared

There were no other events subsequent to the balance sheet date details of which are required to be included in the financial staterments
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Global addresses

EUROPE

London (Global HQ)
BBC Woridwide Ltd
Medra Centre

201 Wood Lane
London

W12 7TQ

UK

Tel +44 20 8433 2000

2 entertain

33 Foley Street
London

WIW 7TL

UK

Tel +44 20 7612 3000
Fax +44 20 7612 3003

Cologne

BBC Worldwde Germany GmbH
Mediapark 5

50670 Kéin

Germany

Tel +49 221 454 5580

Fax +49 221 454 5581

Paris (Production)

BBC Worldwide France Sarl
6 rue Jules Siman

92100 Boulogne Billancourt
France

Tel +33 14122 94 00

Parls (Sales)

BBC Worldwide France Sarl

264 rye du Faubourg Saint-Honore
75008 Pans

France

Tel +#33 144 6584 00

Fax +33 144 95 84 09

AMERICAS

Miam

BBC Worldwide Americas
135 San Lorenzo Ave
Suite 770

Coral Gables

Flonda 33146

UsA

Tel +1 305 461 6999
Fax +1 305 441 0035

Mexico City

BBC Worldwide Mexico

Paseo de la Reforma 115

Piso 2 Colonia Lomas de Chapultepec
CP 11000

Mexico

Tel + 5255 52 01 9807

Fax +5255 52 02 3243

Canada

BBC Worldwide Canada Ltd
409 King Street West

5th Floor

Toronto

Ontano M5V 1K1

Canada

Tel +1 416 204 0500

ASIA PACIFIC

New York (HQ)

BBC Worldwide Amenicas
1120 Avenue of the Amenicas
New York

NY 10036

USA

Tel +1212 705 9300

Fax +1 212 888 0576

Los Angeles

BBC Worldwide Americas
10351 Santa Monica Blvd
Suite 250

Los Angeles

CA 90025

USA

Tel +1 310 405 8205

North Hollywood

BBC Worldwide Amencas
4144 Lankershum Bivd
Suite 200

Naorth Hollywood

CA 91602

USA

Tel +1 818 299 9660
Fax +1 818 299 9763

BBC Worldwide also has advertising sales staff based in Atlanta, Chicago, Dubai, New Orleans and San Francisco

Hong Kong

BBC Worldwide {Asia)
Rooms 2524-2536
Sun Hung Kai Centre
30 Harbour Road
Hong Kong

Tet +852 2827 2218
Fax +852 2511 2575

Mumbai

BBC Worldwide India Ltd
Landmark 2nd Floor
Juhu Tara Road

Juhu

Mumbai 400049

India

Tel +91 22 2660 6581
Fax +91 22 2260 4355

Bangalore

BBC Worldwide

415 Prestige Center Point
7 Edward Road
Bangalore 560052

India

Tel +91 80 2235 1070
Fax +9180 22351073

Delhi

BBC Worldwide

E-21, 2nd Floor, Hauz Khas Market
Delhi 110016

India

Tel + 11 4608 3800

Fax + 114608 389¢

Singapore

BBC Worldwide Channels Asia
700 Beach Road 08-08
Singapore 199598

T +65 6849 5511

Sydney

BBC Worldwide Austraka
Level 5, 6 Eden Park Drive
Macquarie Park

Sydney

NSW 2113

Austraha

Tel +61 2 9744 4500

Fax +612 9870 7317

Beiing

Worldwide Knowledge (Beying) Business
Consulting Co Ltd (Consumer Products
Office}

Untt 905, 9/F, Tower 3

China Overseas Plaza

8 Guanghua Dongh

Jianguomenwat Avenue

Chaoyang Distnict

Beiing

China 100020

Tel + 8610 5281 4080

Fax + 8610 5281 4077

Tokyo
BBC Worldwide Japan Ltd
TF Akasaka Dai-ichy Buillding
4-9-17 Akasaka

Minato-ku

Tokyo 107 0052

Japan

Tel +81 3 3746 4551

Fax +81 3 3746 4554

LONELY PLANET OFFICES

Melbourne (HQ)
Lonely Planet

90 Manbymong Street
Footscray

Melbourne

Victona 3011

Australia

Tel +61 3 8379 8000
Fax +61 3 8379 8079

London

Lonely Planet

2nd Floor

186 City Road

London

EC1V 2NT

UK

Tel +44 20 7106 2100
Fax +44 20 7106 2101

Oakland

Lonely Planet

150 Linden Street
Qaktand

CA 94607

USA

Tel +1 510 250 6400
Fax +1 510 893 8572




